Heights in families of abelian varieties and the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture

By ZIYANG GAO and PHILIPP HABEGGER

Abstract

On an abelian scheme over a smooth curve over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ a symmetric relatively ample line bundle defines a fiberwise Néron–Tate height. If the base curve is inside a projective space, we also have a height on its $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -points that serves as a measure of each fiber, an abelian variety. Silverman proved an asymptotic equality between these two heights on a curve in the abelian scheme. In this paper we prove an inequality between these heights on a subvariety of any dimension of the abelian scheme. As an application we prove the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture for the function field of a curve defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Using Moriwaki's height we sketch how to extend our result when the base field of the curve has characteristic 0.

Contents

1. Introduction	528
2. Notation	537
3. Proof of Proposition 1.3	540
4. The Betti map	544
5. Degenerate subvarieties	547
6. Construction of the auxiliary variety	562
7. Lattice points	572
8. Intersection numbers	576
9. Height inequality in the total space	582
10. Néron–Tate height and height on the base	587
11. Application to the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture	589
Appendix A. Passing from $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ to any field of characteristic 0	591
Appendix B. Proposition 1.3 for Higher Dimensional Base	595
Appendix C. Hyperbolic hypersurfaces of abelian varieties	597
References	600

Keywords: Geometric and Relative Bogomolov Conjecture, height inequality, ominimality, functional constancy, point counting

AMS Classification: Primary: 11G10, 11G50, 14G25, 14K15.

⁽c) 2019 Department of Mathematics, Princeton University.

1. Introduction

In 1998, Ullmo [49] and S. Zhang [65] proved the Bogomolov Conjecture over number fields. However, its analog over function fields, which came to be known as the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture, remains open in full generality.

The main goal of this paper is to prove a height inequality on a subvariety of an abelian scheme over a smooth curve over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, Theorem 1.4. It is then not hard to deduce the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture over the function field of a curve in the characteristic 0 case. See Section 11 and Appendix A. Our height inequality may be of independent interest and does not seem to follow from the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture. It can serve as a substitute in higher dimension of Silverman's Height Limit Theorem [46], used by Masser and Zannier [37] to prove a first case of the relative Manin–Mumford Conjecture for sections of the base curve; we refer to Pink's work [42] and Zannier's book [63] on such problems.

Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, K a field extension of k, and \overline{K} a fixed algebraic closure of K. Let A be an abelian variety over K. We let $A^{\overline{K}/k}$ denote the \overline{K}/k -trace of $A \otimes_K \overline{K}$; it is an abelian variety over k, and we have a trace map

$$\tau_{A,\overline{K}/k} \colon A^{\overline{K}/k} \otimes_k \overline{K} \to A \otimes_K \overline{K},$$

which is a closed immersion since $\operatorname{char}(k) = 0$. By abuse of notation we consider $A^{\overline{K}/k} \otimes_k \overline{K}$ as an abelian subvariety of $A \otimes_K \overline{K}$. We refer to Section 2 for references and more information on the trace.

Suppose now that K is the function field of a smooth projective curve over k. In particular, we have $\operatorname{trdeg}(K/k) = 1$.

Let L be a symmetric ample line bundle on A. We can attach to A, L, and K the Néron–Tate height $\hat{h}_{K,A,L} \colon A(\overline{K}) \to [0,\infty)$; see Section 2.1 for additional background on the Néron–Tate height. This height satisfies the following. For any $P \in A(\overline{K})$, we have

$$\hat{h}_{K,A,L}(P) = 0$$
 if and only if $P \in (A^{K/k} \otimes_k \overline{K})(\overline{K}) + A_{\text{tor}};$

here A_{tor} denotes the subgroup of points of finite order of $A(\overline{K})$.

A *coset* in an abelian variety is the translate of an abelian subvariety. We call it a *torsion coset* if it contains a point of finite order.

Our main result towards the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture is the following theorem. We first concentrate on the important case $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$.

THEOREM 1.1. We keep the notation from above and assume $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let X be an irreducible, closed subvariety of A defined over K such that $X \otimes_K \overline{K}$ is irreducible and not of the form $B + (Z \otimes_k \overline{K})$ for some closed irreducible subvariety Z of $A^{\overline{K}/k}$ and some torsion coset B in $A \otimes_K \overline{K}$. Then there exists a constant $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\{x \in X(\overline{K}) : \hat{h}_{K,A,L}(x) \le \varepsilon\}$$

is not Zariski dense in X.

In Appendix A we sketch a proof for when k is any algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 using Moriwaki's height.

Yamaki [59, Conj. 0.3] proposed a general conjecture over function fields, which we will call the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture; it allows $\operatorname{trdeg}(K/k)$ to be greater than 1 and k algebraically closed of arbitrary characteristic. The reference to geometry distinguishes Yamaki's Conjecture from the arithmetic counterpart over a number field.

The Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture was proven by Gubler [26] when A is totally degenerate at some place of K. He has no restriction on the characteristic of k and does not assume that K/k has transcendence degree 1. When X is a curve embedded in its Jacobian A and when $\operatorname{trdeg}(K/k) = 1$, Yamaki dealt with non-hyperelliptic curves of genus 3 in [57] and with hyperelliptic curves of any genus in [58]. Moreover, if $\operatorname{char}(k) = 0$, Faber [18] proved the conjecture for X of small genus (up to 4, effective) and Cinkir [13] covered the case of arbitrary genus. Prior to these work, Moriwaki also gave some partial results in [38]. Yamaki [62] reduced the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture to the case where A has good reduction everywhere and has trivial \overline{K}/k -trace. He also proved the cases (co)dimX = 1 [61] and dim $(A \otimes_K \overline{K}/(A^{\overline{K}/k} \otimes_k \overline{K})) \leq 5$ [60]. As in Gubler's setup, Yamaki works in arbitrary characteristic and has no restriction on K/k. These results involve techniques ranging from analytic tropical geometry [27] to Arakelov theory; the latter method overlaps with Ullmo and S. Zhang's original approach for number fields.

Our approach differs and is based on a height inequality on a model of A to be stated below in Theorem 1.4. (See Appendix A for a version involving the Moriwaki height.) In a recent collaboration with Cantat and Xie [11] we were able to resolve the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture completely in characteristic 0. While the methods in [11] were motivated by those presented here, they do not bypass through or recover a height inequality such as Theorem 1.4.

To prove Theorem 1.1 we must work in the relative setting. Let us setup the notation. Let S be a smooth irreducible curve over k, and let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ be an abelian scheme of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. Let A be the generic fiber of $\mathcal{A} \to S$; it is an abelian variety over k(S), the function field of S. We will prove the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture for A and K = k(S). Let us also fix an algebraic closure $\overline{k(S)}$ of k(S).

Definition 1.2. An irreducible closed subvariety Y of \mathcal{A} is called a generically special subvariety of \mathcal{A} , or just generically special, if it dominates S and if its geometric generic fiber $Y \times_S \operatorname{Spec} \overline{k(S)}$ is a finite union of $(Z \otimes_k \overline{k(S)}) + B$, where Z is a closed irreducible subvariety of $A^{\overline{k(S)}/k}$ and B is a torsion coset in $A \otimes_{k(S)} \overline{k(S)}$.

For any irreducible closed subvariety X of \mathcal{A} , we set

$$X^* = X \setminus \bigcup_{\substack{Y \subseteq X, \\ Y \text{ is a generically special} \\ \text{subvariety of } \mathcal{A}}} Y.$$

We start with the following proposition, which clarifies the structure of X^* . Its proof relies on a uniform version of Raynaud's [43] resolution of the Manin– Mumford Conjecture in characteristic 0 as well as the Lang–Néron Theorem, the generalization of the Mordell–Weil Theorem to finitely generated fields.

PROPOSITION 1.3. Let X and A be as above. There are at most finitely many generically special subvarieties of A that are contained in X, maximal with respect to the inclusion for this property. In particular, X^* is Zariski open in X and is empty if and only if X is generically special.

Let us now assume $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and turn to height functions. We write $h(\cdot)$ for the absolute logarithmic Weil height on projective space.

Let \overline{S} be a smooth projective curve over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ containing S as a Zariski open and dense subset. Let $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ be an ample line bundle on \overline{S} , and let $\mathcal{M} = \overline{\mathcal{M}}|_S$. The Height Machine [7, Ch. 2.4] attaches to $(\overline{S}, \overline{\mathcal{M}})$ a function $\overline{S}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to \mathbb{R}$ that is well defined up to addition of a bounded function. Let $h_{S,\mathcal{M}}$ be the restriction to $S(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ of a representative of this class of functions. As $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ is ample on \overline{S} , we may take such a representative that $h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(s) \geq 0$ for each $s \in S(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Let \mathcal{L} be a relatively ample and symmetric line bundle on \mathcal{A}/S defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Then for any $s \in S(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, the line bundle \mathcal{L}_s on the abelian variety $\mathcal{A}_s = \pi^{-1}(s)$ is symmetric; note that \mathcal{A}_s is defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Tate's Limit Process provides a fiberwise Néron–Tate height $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}_s,\mathcal{L}_s}: \mathcal{A}_s(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to [0,\infty)$. It is determined uniquely by the restriction of \mathcal{L} to \mathcal{A}_s ; there is no need to fix a representative here. Finally define $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}: \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to [0,\infty)$ to be the *total Néron–Tate height* given by $P \mapsto \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}_{\pi(P)},\mathcal{L}_{\pi(P)}}(P)$ for all $P \in \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

These two height functions are unrelated in the following sense. It is not difficult to construct an infinite sequence of points $P_1, P_2, \ldots \in \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ such that $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}(P_i)$ is constant and $h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(\pi(P_i))$ unbounded; just take P_i of finite order in $\mathcal{A}_{\pi(P_i)}$ and the sequence $\pi(P_i)$ of unbounded height.

The main technical result of this paper is a height inequality that relates these two heights on an irreducible subvariety X of \mathcal{A} . The discussion in the last paragraph suggests that we should at least remove all curves in X that dominate S and contain infinitely many points of finite order. This turns out to be insufficient, and we must also remove subvarieties that are contained in

530

constant abelian subschemes of \mathcal{A} . In fact, we must remove precisely generically the special subvarieties of \mathcal{A} from Definition 1.2 that are contained in X.

THEOREM 1.4. Let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$, \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{M} be as above with $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and dim S = 1. Let X be a closed irreducible subvariety of \mathcal{A} over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, and let X^* be as above Proposition 1.3. Then there exists c > 0 such that

(1.1)
$$h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(\pi(P)) \leq c \left(1 + \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}(P)\right) \quad \text{for all} \quad P \in X^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

Suppose X dominates S, so we think of X as a family of $(\dim X - 1)$ dimensional varieties. Then our height inequality (1.1) can be interpreted as a uniform version of the Bogomolov Conjecture along the 1-dimension base S if $h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(\pi(P)) \geq 2c$. Indeed, then $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}(P) \geq \frac{1}{2c}h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(\pi(P))$. From this point of view it would be interesting to have an extension of Theorem 1.4 to dim S > 1. For the main obstacle to pass from dim S = 1 to the general case, we refer to Section 1.1, Part 1 and above.

Theorem 1.4 was proven by the second-named author [28] when \mathcal{A} is a fibered power of a non-isotrivial 1-parameter family of elliptic curves. This theorem had applications towards special points problems [28, Ths. 1.1 and 1.2] and towards some cases of the relative Manin–Mumford Conjecture [29].

After this work was submitted, Ben Yaacov and Hrushovski informed the authors of their similar height inequality for a 1-parameter family of genus $g \ge 2$ curves in an unpublished note [4] by reducing it to Cinkir's result [13].

In this paper we treat arbitrary abelian schemes over algebraic curves, possibly with non-trivial isotrivial part, and hope to extend the aforementioned applications in future work.

Before proceeding, we point out that we shall prove Theorem 1.4 for a particular relatively ample line bundle \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{A}/S that is fiberwise symmetric and a particular ample line bundle \mathcal{M} on \overline{S} . Then Theorem 1.4 holds for arbitrary such \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{M} by formal properties of the Height Machine. Moreover we will prove the following slightly stronger form of Theorem 1.4.

We may attach a third height function on \mathcal{A} in the following way. Let $\mathcal{L}' = \mathcal{L} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{M}$. By [44, Th. XI 1.4] and [22, Cor. 5.3.3 and Prop. 4.1.4], our abelian scheme admits a closed immersion $\iota : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}^M_{\mathbb{Q}} \times S$ over S arising from $(\mathcal{L}')^{\otimes n}$ for some $n \gg 1$. As we will see in Section 2.2 the existence of a closed immersion is more straight-forward if we allow ourselves to remove finitely many points from S, a procedure that is harmless in view of our application. Define the *naive height* of P to be $h_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}'}(P) = \frac{1}{n}h(P') + h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(\pi(P))$, where $\iota(P) = (P', \pi(P)) \in \mathbb{P}^M_{\mathbb{Q}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \times S(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

THEOREM 1.4'. Let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ and ι be as above with $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and dim S = 1. Let X be a closed irreducible subvariety of \mathcal{A} over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, and let X^* be as above **Proposition 1.3.** Then there exists c > 0 such that

 $h_{S,\mathcal{M}}(\pi(P)) \le h_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}'}(P) \le c \left(1 + \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}(P)\right) \quad for \ all \quad P \in X^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$

1.1. Outline of proof of Theorems 1.1 and 1.4 and organization of the paper. We give an overview of the proof of Theorem 1.4 in three parts.

Consider an abelian scheme $\pi \colon \mathcal{A} \to S$ over a smooth algebraic curve S of relative dimension $g \geq 1$.

The Ax–Schanuel Theorem [3] is a function theoretic version of the famous and open Schanuel Conjecture in transcendence theory. Stated for algebraic groups, the case of an abelian variety deals with algebraic independence of functions defined using the uniformizing map. It has seen many applications to problems in Diophantine geometry [63].

For our purpose we need an Ax–Schanuel property for families of abelian varieties, which is not yet available. However, the assumption dim S = 1 simplifies the situation: Instead of the full power of functional transcendence, we only need to study a functional constancy property. The first part of the proof deals with this functional constancy property where the so-called Betti map plays the role of the uniformizing map. We briefly explain this map and refer to Section 4 for more details.

Part 1: The Betti map and a functional constancy property. Any point of $S(\mathbb{C})$ has a complex neighborhood that we can biholomorphically identify with the open unit disc $\Delta \subseteq \mathbb{C}$. The fiber of $\mathcal{A} \to S$ above a point $s \in \Delta$ is biholomorphic to a complex torus $\mathbb{C}^g/\Omega(s)\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ where the columns of $\Omega(s) \in$ $\operatorname{Mat}_{g,2g}(\mathbb{C})$ are a period lattice basis. Of course $\Omega(s)$ is not unique. The choice of a period lattice basis $\Omega(s)$ enables us to identify \mathcal{A}_s with \mathbb{T}^{2g} as real Lie groups, with \mathbb{T} the unit circle in \mathbb{C} . As Δ is simply connected, we can arrange that the period map $s \mapsto \Omega(s)$ is holomorphic on Δ . In turn we can identify $\mathcal{A}_{\Delta} = \pi^{-1}(\Delta)$ with the constant family $\Delta \times \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ as families over Δ . This can be done in a way that we get group isomorphisms $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ fiberwise. Note that the complex structure is lost and that the isomorphism in play is only real analytic.

The *Betti map* $b: \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ is the composite of the isomorphism $\mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \cong \Delta \times \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ with the projection to \mathbb{T}^{2g} . It depends on several choices, but two different Betti maps on \mathcal{A}_{Δ} differ at most by composing with a continuous automorphism of \mathbb{T}^{2g} .

Let X be an irreducible closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} that dominates S. In Section 5 we study the restriction of b to X^{an} ; the superscript ^{an} denotes complex analytification. We say that X is *degenerate* if the restriction of $b: \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ to $X^{\mathrm{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}$ has positive dimensional fibers on a non-empty, open subset X^{an} ; being open refers to the complex topology. The main result of Section 5, Theorem 5.1, states that a degenerate subvariety is generically

532

special. This will allow us to explain the analytic notion of degeneracy in purely algebraic terms.

Let us give some ideas of what goes into the proof of Theorem 5.1. In general, the period mapping $s \mapsto \Omega(s)$ cannot extend to the full base due to monodromy. This obstruction is a powerful tool in our context. Indeed, fix a base point $s \in S^{\operatorname{an}}$. Monodromy induces a representation on the fundamental group $\pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s) \to \operatorname{Aut}(H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}, \mathbb{Z}))$. Moreover, by transporting along the fibers of the Betti map above a loop in S^{an} we obtain a representation $\pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s) \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}})$ whose target is the group of real analytic automorphisms of \mathcal{A}_s . This new representation induces the representation on homology. Moreover, we can identify $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}})$ with $\operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$ because \mathcal{A}_s and \mathbb{T}^{2g} are isomorphic in the real analytic category. So the canonical mapping $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}) \to \operatorname{Aut}(H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}},\mathbb{Z}))$ is an isomorphism of groups.

Now suppose that X is degenerate. The assumption dim S = 1 forces that $X^{\mathrm{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} = b^{-1}(b(X^{\mathrm{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}))$.¹ In other words, the fibers $X_s = \pi|_X^{-1}(s)$ do not depend on $s \in \Delta$ for the identification $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} = \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. So the action of $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$ on $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$ leaves X_s invariant. Thus it suffices to understand subsets of \mathcal{A}_s that are invariant under the action of a subgroup of $\mathrm{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$. We use Deligne's Theorem of the Fixed Part [16] and the Tits Alternative [48] to extract information from this subgroup. Indeed, under a natural hypothesis on \mathcal{A} , the image of the representation in $\mathrm{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$ contains a free subgroup on two generators. In particular, the image is a group of exponential growth. We then use a variant of the Pila–Wilkie Counting Theorem [40], due to Pila and the second-named author, and Ax's Theorem [3] for a constant abelian variety. From this we will be able to conclude that X is generically special if it is degenerate.

Let us step back and put some of these ideas into a historic perspective. In the special case where \mathcal{A} is the fibered power of the Legendre family of elliptic curves, the second-named author [28] used local monodromy to investigate degenerate subvarieties. In the current work local monodromy is insufficient as S could be complete to begin with. So we need global information. Zannier introduced the point counting strategy and together with Pila gave a new proof of the Manin–Mumford Conjecture [41] using the Pila–Wilkie Theorem [40]. Masser and Zannier [37] showed the usefulness of the Betti coordinates for problems in Diophantine geometry by solving a first case of the relative Manin– Mumford Conjecture. Ullmo and Yafaev [50] exploited exponential growth in groups in combination with the Pila–Wilkie Theorem to prove their hyperbolic Ax–Lindemann Theorem for projective Shimura varieties. A recent result of

¹This is no longer true if dim S > 1, making the remaining argument in this part fail for dim S > 1.

André, Corvaja, and Zannier [1] also deals with the rank of the Betti map on the moduli space of principally polarized abelian varieties of a given dimension. More recently, Cantat, Xie, and the authors [11] gave a different approach to the functional constancy problem that does not rely on the Pila–Wilkie Theorem but rather on results from dynamical systems.

Part 2: Eliminating the Néron-Tate height. The second part of the proof deals with reducing the height inequality in Theorem 1.4 to one that only involves Weil heights; we refer to Section 2.1 for nomenclature on heights.

We will embed S into \mathbb{P}^m and \mathcal{A} into $\mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ such that $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to S$ is compatible with the projection $\mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m \to \mathbb{P}^m$ and other technical conditions are fulfilled. Let h(P,Q) = h(P) + h(Q) for $P \in \mathbb{P}^M(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}), Q \in \mathbb{P}^m(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, where h denotes the absolute logarithmic Weil height on projective space. For an integer N, let [N] denote the multiplication-by-N morphism $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$.

Let $N \ge 1$ be a sufficiently large integer (which we assume to be a power of 2 for convenience). If X is not generically special, we show in Proposition 9.1 that

(1.2)
$$N^{2}h(P) \le c_{1}h([N](P)) + c_{2}(N)$$

for all $P \in U(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ where U is Zariski open and dense in X and where $c_1 > 0$ and $c_2(N)$ are both independent of P. Note that U and $c_2(N)$ may depend on N.

One is tempted to divide (1.2) by N^2 and take the limit $N \to \infty$ as in Tate's Limit Process. However, this is not possible a priori, as U and $c_2(N)$ could both depend on N. So we mimic Masser's strategy of "killing Zimmer constants" explained in [63, App. C]. This step is carried out in Section 10 where we terminate Tate's Limit Process after finitely many steps when N is large enough in terms of c_1 ; for this it is crucial that c_1 is independent of N.

Part 3: Counting lattice points and an inequality for the Weil height. At this stage we have reduced proving Theorem 1.4 to (1.2) if X is not generically special. Recall that from Part 1 of the proof that we know that X is not degenerate. Therefore, the restricted Betti map $b|_{X^{an}} : X^{an} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ has discrete fibers. The image of this restriction has the same real dimension as X^{an} . (The dimension is well defined as the image is subanalytic.)

Part 3a: The hypersurface case. To warm up let us assume for the moment that X is a hypersurface in \mathcal{A} , so dim X = g. In this case the image $b(X^{an} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta})$ contains a non-empty, open subset of \mathbb{T}^{2g} . By a simple Geometry of Numbers argument in the covering $\mathbb{R}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, the image contains $\gg N^{2g}$ points of order dividing N; the implicit constant is independent of N. As the Betti map is a group isomorphism on each fiber of \mathcal{A} , we find that X contains $\gg N^{2g}$ points of order dividing N. Obtaining (1.2) requires an auxiliary rational map $\varphi \colon \mathcal{A} \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^g$. Suppose for simplicity that we can choose φ such that $\varphi^{-1}([1 : 0 : \cdots : 0])$ is the image of the zero section $S \to \mathcal{A}$. Then the composition $\varphi \circ [N]$ restricts to a rational map $X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^g$ that maps the $\gg N^{2g}$ torsion points constructed above to $[1 : 0 : \cdots : 0]$.

If we are lucky and all these torsion points are isolated in the fiber of $\varphi \circ [N]$, then deg($\varphi \circ [N]$) $\gg N^{2g}$. A height-theoretic lemma [28], restated here as Lemma 9.4, implies (1.2) for N a power of 2. The factor N^2 on the left in (1.2) equals $N^{2 \dim X}/N^{2(\dim X-1)}$ and has the following interpretation. The numerator comes from the degree lower bound as dim X = g. The denominator is a consequence of the following fact. Given a suitable embedding of an abelian variety into some projective space, the duplication morphism can be described by a collection of homogeneous polynomials of degree $2^2 = 4$. So [N] can be described by homogeneous polynomials of degree $\leq N^2$.

If we are less lucky and some torsion point is not isolated in $\varphi \circ [N]$, then an irreducible component of ker $[N] \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is contained in X. This situation is quite harmless, as roughly speaking, it cannot happen too often for a variety that is not generically special.

The restriction dim X = g is more serious, however. The second-named author was able to reduce [28] to the hypersurface case inside a fibered power of the Legendre family of elliptic curves. This is not possible for general \mathcal{A} , so we must proceed differently.

Part 3b: The general case. For general X, we will still construct a suitable $\varphi : X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}$ as above and apply Lemma 9.4. As a stepping stone we first construct in Section 6 an auxiliary subvariety Z of \mathcal{A} in sufficiently general position such that

(1.3)
$$\dim X + \dim Z = \dim \mathcal{A} = g + 1.$$

The rational map φ is constructed using Z in Section 9, and one should think of Z as an irreducible component of $\varphi|_X^{-1}([1:0:\cdots:0])$. Being in general position and (1.3) mean that $\varphi|_X$ has finite generic fiber on its domain.

Now we want $\varphi \circ [N]: X \to \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}$ to have degree $\gg N^{2 \dim X}$, and for this it suffices to find $\gg N^{2 \dim X}$ isolated points in the preimage of $[1:0:\cdots:0]$. As $\varphi(Z) = [1:0:\cdots:0]$, we need to find $\gg N^{2 \dim X}$ isolated points in $X \cap [N]^{-1}(Z)$. (Additional verifications must be made to ensure that isolated intersection points lead to isolated fibers.)

We ultimately construct these points using the Geometry of Numbers. More precisely, we need a volume estimate and Blichfeldt's Theorem. Since X is not degenerate, we have a point around which the local behavior of X is similar to the local behavior of its image in \mathbb{T}^{2g} under the Betti map. This allows us to linearize the problem as follows. In order to count the number of such $X \cap [N]^{-1}(Z)$, we can instead count points $x \in \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, coming from points of $X(\mathbb{C})$ under the Betti map, such that Nx = z lies in the image of $Z(\mathbb{C})$. If we let x, z range over the image under the Betti map of small enough open subsets of $X(\mathbb{C})$ and $Z(\mathbb{C})$, then Nx - z ranges over an open subset of \mathbb{T}^{2g} . This conclusion makes crucial use of the fact that X is not degenerate and that Z is in general position. Lifting via the natural map $\mathbb{R}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ we are led to the counting lattices points. Indeed, we must construct elements of $N\tilde{x} - \tilde{z} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$, where \tilde{x}, \tilde{z} are lifts of points x, z as before. We denote the set of all possible $N\tilde{x} - \tilde{z}$ by U_N . A careful volume estimate done in Section 7 leads to $\operatorname{vol}(U_N) \gg N^{2 \dim X}$. So we expect to find this many lattice points. But there is no reason to believe that U_N is convex, and it is not hard to imagine open subsets of \mathbb{R}^{2g} of arbitrary large volume that meet \mathbb{Z}^{2g} in the empty set. To solve this problem we apply Blichfeldt's Theorem, which claims that some translate $\gamma + U_N$ of U_N contains at least $\operatorname{vol}(U_N)$ lattice points in \mathbb{Z}^{2g} .

This approach ultimately constructs enough points to prove a suitable lower bound for the degree of $\varphi \circ [N]$ and to complete the proof. However, additional difficulties arise. For example, we must deal with non-zero γ and making sure that the points constructed are isolated in $X \cap [N]^{-1}(Z)$. These technicalities are addressed in Section 8.

The remaining results. In Section 3 we prove Proposition 1.3. This section is mainly self-contained, and the main tool is a uniform version of the Manin–Mumford Conjecture in characteristic 0.

The proof of Theorem 1.1 in Section 11 follows the blueprint laid out in [28]. We need to combine our height bound, Theorem 1.4, with Silverman's Height Limit Theorem [46] used in his specialization result.

In Appendix A we sketch how to adapt our height inequality, Theorem 1.4, to more general fields in characteristic 0. This shows how to deduce Theorem 1.1 for any algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Appendix B contains some comments on the situation when dim S > 1. Finally, in Appendix C we give a self-contained and quantitative version of Brotbek's Hyperbolicity Theorem [9] in the case of an abelian variety (which is much simpler than the general case).

Acknowledgements. Both authors would like to thank the organizers of the conference "On Lang and Vojta's conjectures" in Luminy 2014, where our collaboration began. They would like to thank Bas Edixhoven for providing the current proof of Proposition 6.7. They would like to thank Shouwu Zhang for providing the proof using the essential minimum at the end of Appendix A. The authors also thank Gabriel Dill and Walter Gubler for useful remarks. ZG would like to thank the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science at the University of Basel for the invitation, and for the stimulating atmosphere and SNF grant number 165525 for financial support.

2. Notation

Let $\mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$ denote the set of positive integers. Let $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ be the algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q} in \mathbb{C} .

If X is a variety defined over \mathbb{C} , then we write X^{an} for $X(\mathbb{C})$ with its structure as a complex analytic space. We refer to Grauert and Remmert's book [21] for the theory of complex analytic spaces.

Given an abelian scheme \mathcal{A} over any base scheme and an integer N, we let [N] denote the multiplication-by-N morphism $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$. The kernel of [N] is $\mathcal{A}[N]$, and it is a group scheme over the base of \mathcal{A} . An endomorphism of \mathcal{A} is a morphism $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ that takes the zero section to itself.

If A is an abelian variety over field K and if $\overline{K} \supseteq K$ is a given algebraic closure of K, then A_{tor} denotes the group of points of finite order of $A(\overline{K})$.

Suppose k is a subfield of K whose algebraic closure in K equals k and char(k) = 0. We write $A^{K/k}$ for the K/k-trace of A and let $\tau_{A,K/k} : A^{K/k} \otimes_k K \to A$ denote the associated trace map. We refer to [14, §6] for general facts and the universal property. Note that our notation $A^{K/k}$ is denoted by $\operatorname{Tr}_{K/k}(A)$ in loc. cit. By [14, Th. 6.2 and below], $\tau_{A,K/k}$ is a closed immersion since char(k) = 0. We sometimes consider $A^{K/k} \otimes_k K$ as an abelian subvariety of A.

By abuse of notation we sometimes abbreviate $(A \otimes_K \overline{K})^{\overline{K}/k}$ by $A^{\overline{K}/k}$ and, in this notation, consider $A^{\overline{K}/k} \otimes_k \overline{K}$ as an abelian subvariety of $A \otimes_k \overline{K}$.

2.1. Heights. A place of a number field K is an absolute value $|\cdot|_v : K \to [0, \infty)$ whose restriction to \mathbb{Q} is either the standard absolute value or a *p*-adic absolute value for some prime p with $|p| = p^{-1}$. We set $d_v = [K_v : \mathbb{R}]$ in the former and $d_v = [K_v : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ in the latter case. The absolute, logarithmic, projective Weil height, or just height, of a point $P = [p_0 : \ldots : p_n] \in \mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{Q}}(K)$ with $p_0, \ldots, p_n \in K$ is

$$h(P) = \frac{1}{[K:\mathbb{Q}]} \sum_{v} d_v \log \max\{|p_0|_v, \dots, |p_n|_v\},$$

where the sum runs over all places v of K. The value h(P) is independent of the choice of projective coordinates by the product formula. For this and other basic facts, we refer to [7, Ch. 1]. Moreover, the height does not change when replacing K by another number field that contains the p_0, \ldots, p_n . Therefore, $h(\cdot)$ is well defined on $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{Q}}(\overline{K})$ where \overline{K} is an algebraic closure of K.

In this paper we also require heights in a function field K. With our results in mind, we restrict to the case where K = k(S) and S is a smooth projective irreducible curve over an algebraically closed field k. Let \overline{K} be an algebraic closure of K. In this case, we can construct a height $h_K : \mathbb{P}^n_K(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ as follows. The points S(k) correspond to the set of places $|\cdot|_v$ of K. They extend in the usual manner to finite extensions of K. If $P = [p_0 : \cdots : p_n] \in \mathbb{P}^n_K(\overline{K})$ with $p_0, \ldots, p_n \in K'$, where K' is a finite extension of K, then we set

$$h_K(P) = \frac{1}{[K':K]} \sum_v d_v \log \max\{|p_0|_v, \dots, |p_n|_v\},\$$

where d_v are again local degrees such that the product formula holds. We refer to [7, §1.3. and 1.4.6] for more details or [14, §8] on generalized global fields. In the function field case we keep K in the subscript of h_K to emphasize that K is our base field. Indeed, in the function field setting one must keep track of the base field "at the bottom" that plays the role of \mathbb{Q} in the number field setting.

Now let K be either a number field or a function field as above. Suppose that A is an abelian variety defined over K that is embedding in some projective space \mathbb{P}_K^M with a symmetric line bundle. Tate's Limit Process induces the *Néron-Tate* or *canonical height* on $A(\overline{K})$. If K is a number field, we write

(2.1)
$$\hat{h}_A(P) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{h([2^N](P))}{4^N}$$

for the Néron–Tate height on $A(\overline{K})$; we refer to [7, Ch. 9.2] for details. The Néron–Tate height depends also on the choice of the symmetric, ample line bundle, but we do not mention it in \hat{h}_A .

The construction in the function field is the same. For the same reason as above, we retain the symbol K and write $\hat{h}_{A,K}$ for the Néron–Tate height on $A(\overline{K})$.

2.2. Embedding our abelian scheme. In this paper we are often in the following situation. Let k be an algebraically closed subfield of \mathbb{C} . Let S be a smooth irreducible algebraic curve over k, and let \mathcal{A} be an abelian scheme of relative dimension $g \geq 1$ over S with structural morphism $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$.

Let us now see how to embed \mathcal{A} into $\mathbb{P}_{S}^{M} = \mathbb{P}_{k}^{M} \times S$ for some M > 0after possibly removing finitely many points from S. Note that removing finitely many points is harmless in the context of our problems. Indeed, our Theorem 1.4 is not weakened by this action, and so we do it at leisure.

The generic fiber A of $\mathcal{A} \to S$ is an abelian variety defined over the function field of S. Let L be a symmetric ample line bundle on A. Then $L^{\otimes 3}$ is very ample. Replace L by $L^{\otimes 3g}$. A basis of $H^0(A, L)$ gives a projectively normal closed immersion $A \to \mathbb{P}^M_{k(S)}$ for some M > 0.

We take the scheme theoretic image \mathcal{A}' of $A \to \mathbb{P}^M_{k(S)} \to \mathbb{P}^M_S$, hence \mathcal{A}' is the Zariski closure of the image of A in \mathbb{P}^M_S with the reduced induced structure. After removing finitely many points of S we obtain an abelian scheme $\mathcal{A}' \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M_S$ such that the morphism from A to the generic fiber of $\mathcal{A}' \to S$ is an isomorphism. An abelian scheme over S is the Néron model of its generic fiber, so the Néron mapping property holds. Therefore the canonical morphism $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}'$ is an isomorphism, and we have thus constructed a closed immersion

$$\iota_S\colon \mathcal{A}\to \mathbb{P}^M_S=\mathbb{P}^M_k\times S.$$

Note that L is the generic fiber of the relatively very ample line bundle $\mathcal{L} = \iota_S^* \mathcal{O}_S(1)$ on \mathcal{A}/S . Moreover for any $s \in S(k)$, we have that \mathcal{L}_s is the g-th tensor-power of a very ample line bundle on \mathcal{A}_s .

We may furthermore find an immersion (which need not be open or closed) of S into some \mathbb{P}_k^m . Composing yields the desired immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m$. By abuse of notation we consider $A \subseteq \mathbb{P}_{k(S)}^M$ and $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m$ from now on. Let us recapitulate.

(A1) We have an immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m$ such that the diagram involving $\pi \colon \mathcal{A} \to S$ and the projection $\mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m \to \mathbb{P}_k^m$ commutes. Moreover, for all $s \in S(k)$, the closed immersion $\mathcal{A}_s \to \mathbb{P}_k^M$ is induced by a symmetric very ample line bundle.

Of course this immersion depends on the choice of the immersions of A and of S.

The image of A in $\mathbb{P}^{M}_{k(S)}$ is projectively normal, and $[2]^{*}L$ is isomorphic to $L^{\otimes 4}$. Therefore, [2] is represented globally by M + 1 homogeneous polynomials of degree 4 on the image of A. Here the base field is the function field k(S). But we can extend it to the model after possibly removing finitely many points of S. So we may assume the following:

(A2) The morphism [2] is represented globally on $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m$ by M + 1 bi-homogeneous polynomials, homogeneous of degree 4 in the projective coordinates of \mathbb{P}_k^M and homogeneous of a certain degree in the projective coordinates of \mathbb{P}_k^m .

Finally, we explain why we took the additional factor g in the exponent 3g of $L^{\otimes 3g}$. By Proposition C.1 we have the additional and useful property.

(A3) For given $s \in S(k)$ and $P \in \mathcal{A}_s$, any generic hyperplane section of \mathcal{A}_s passing through P does not contain a positive dimensional coset in \mathcal{A}_s .

At the cost of possibly increasing the factor g we could also refer to Brotbek's deep result [9] for more general projective varieties.

An immersion $\iota: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m$ for which (A1), (A2), and (A3) above are satisfied will be called *admissible*.

The construction above adapts easily to show the following fact. Let A be an abelian variety defined over k(S). After possibly shrinking S we can realize A as the generic fiber of an abelian scheme $\mathcal{A} \to S$ with an admissible immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}_k^M \times \mathbb{P}_k^m$.

If $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, we have two height functions on $\mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Say $P \in \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. We write $P = (P', \pi(P))$ with $P' \in \mathbb{P}^M_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ and $\pi(P) \in \mathbb{P}^m_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Then

(2.2)
$$h(P) = h(P') + h(\pi(P))$$

defines our first height $\mathcal{A}(\mathbb{Q}) \to [0,\infty)$, which we call the *naive height* on \mathcal{A} (relative to the immersion $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \times \mathbb{P}^m_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$).

The second height is the fiberwise Néron-Tate or canonical height

(2.3)
$$\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(P) = \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}_{\pi}(P)}(P);$$

cf. (2.1). We obtain a function $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to [0, \infty)$. It is quadratic on each fiber as the line bundle on the generic fiber A is symmetric, and this extends along the fibers of $\mathcal{A} \to S$.

In the end we explain these height functions in terms of Height Machine. Let $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$, resp. \overline{S} , be the Zariski closure of the image of the immersion $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{M}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \times \mathbb{P}^{m}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$, resp. $S \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{m}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$. If we let $\mathcal{L}' = \mathcal{O}(1,1)|_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}}$ and $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{O}(1)|_{\overline{S}}$, then $h(\cdot)$ represents the class of functions $h_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}'}$ defined up to O(1) and $h \circ \pi$ represents $h_{S,\mathcal{M}} \circ \pi$. Furthermore, the fiberwise Néron–Tate height $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the map $P \mapsto \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}_{\pi}(P),\mathcal{L}_{\pi}(P)}(P)$, where $\mathcal{L} = \iota_{S}^{*}\mathcal{O}_{S}(1)$ as above.

3. Proof of Proposition 1.3

The goal of this section is to prove Proposition 1.3. In fact, we will prove a statement of independent interest that implies Proposition 1.3.

Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Let S be a smooth irreducible curve over k, and fix an algebraic closure \overline{K} of the function field K = k(S). Let A be an abelian variety over \overline{K} .

Furthermore, let V_0 be an irreducible variety defined over k and $V = V_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}$. We consider $V_0(k)$ as a subset of $V(\overline{K})$.

The next proposition characterizes subvarieties $V \times A$ that contain a Zariski dense set of points in $\Sigma = V_0(k) \times A_{\text{tor}} \subseteq V(\overline{K}) \times A(\overline{K})$. See Yamaki's [62, Prop. 4.6] for a related statement.

PROPOSITION 3.1. Suppose $A^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$, and let Y be an irreducible closed subvariety of $V \times A$.

- (i) If $Y(\overline{K}) \cap \Sigma$ is Zariski dense in Y, then $Y = (W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (P+B)$ with $W_0 \subseteq V_0$ an irreducible closed subvariety, $P \in A_{\text{tor}}$, and B an abelian subvariety of A.
- (ii) There are at most finitely many subvarieties of the form $(W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (P+B)$ (with W_0, P , and B as in (i)) that are contained in Y, maximal with respect to the inclusion for this property.

Part (i) implies (ii) for the following reason. If W_0, P , and B are as in the conclusion of (i), then it suffices to observe that $((W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (P+B))(\overline{K}) \cap \Sigma$ is Zariski dense in $(W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (P+B)$.

The assumption $\dim S = 1$ is used only at one place in the proof. In Appendix B, we will explain how to remove it.

3.1. Proposition 2.1 implies Proposition 1.3. Now we go back to the setting of Proposition 1.3: S is a smooth irreducible curve over k, and $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ is an abelian scheme of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. Let A denote the geometric generic fiber of π ; it is an abelian variety over \overline{K} .

By [14, Th. 6.4 and below] there is a unique abelian subvariety $A' \subseteq A$ such that $(A/A')^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$ and such that we may identify A' with $A^{\overline{K}/k} \otimes_k \overline{K}$. We fix an abelian subvariety $A'' \subseteq A$ with A' + A'' = A and such that $A' \cap A''$ is finite. Then the addition morphism restricts to an isogeny $\psi \colon A' \times A'' \to A$ and $(A'')^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$.

Let W_0 be an irreducible closed subvariety of $A^{\overline{K}/k}$, B an abelian subvariety of A'', and $P \in A''(\overline{K})$. We can map $\psi((W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (P+B)) \subseteq A$ to the generic fiber of \mathcal{A} ; its Zariski closure is a generically special subvariety of \mathcal{A} . Conversely, any generically special subvariety of \mathcal{A} arises this way.

Let $\mathcal{X} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ be an irreducible closed subvariety that dominates S and $X \subseteq A$ its geometric generic fiber. We apply Proposition 3.1 where $A^{\overline{K}/k}, A''$ play the role of V_0, A respectively. There are at most finitely many subvarieties of A of the form $(W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (P+B)$ that are contained in $\psi^{-1}(X)$, maximal for this property. This shows that there are at most finitely many generically special subvarieties of \mathcal{A} that are contained in \mathcal{X} , maximal for this property. \Box

3.2. *Proof of Proposition* 2.1. Now we prove Proposition 3.1. To do this we require a uniform version of the Manin–Mumford Conjecture in characteristic 0.

THEOREM 3.2 (Raynaud, Hindry, Hrushovski, Scanlon). Let \overline{K} be as above, let A be an abelian variety, and let V be an irreducible, quasi-projective variety, both defined over \overline{K} . Suppose Y is an irreducible closed subvariety of $V \times A$. For $v \in V(\overline{K})$, we let Y_v denote the projection of $V \cap (\{v\} \times A)$ to A. Then there exists a finite set M of abelian subvarieties of A and $D \in \mathbb{Z}$ with the following property. For all $v \in V(\overline{K})$, the Zariski closure of $Y_v(\overline{K}) \cap A_{tor}$ in Y_v is a union of at most D translates of members of M by points of finite order in A_{tor} .

Proof. Raynaud proved the Manin–Mumford Conjecture in characteristic zero. Automatical uniformity then follows from Scanlon's [45, Th. 2.4]; see also work of Hrushovski [34] and Hindry's [32, Th. 1] for $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Indeed, the number of irreducible components is uniformly bounded in an algebraic family.

Moreover, it is well known that if an irreducible component of a fiber of an algebraic family is a coset in A, then only finitely many possible underlying abelian subvarieties arise as one varies over the fibers.

Proof of Proposition 3.1. We have already seen that it suffices to prove (i). We keep the notation Y_v for fibers of Y above $v \in V(\overline{K})$ introduced in Theorem 3.2. Let M and D be as in this theorem.

For all $v \in V(\overline{K})$, we have

$$\overline{Y_v(\overline{K}) \cap A_{\text{tor}}} = \bigcup_i (P_{v,i} + B_{v,i}),$$

where $P_{v,i} \in A_{\text{tor}}, B_{v,i} \in M$, and the union has at most D members. Note that for $v \in V(\overline{K})$, any torsion coset contained in Y_v is contained in some $P_{v,i} + B_{v,i}$. Moreover,

(3.1)
$$Y(\overline{K}) \cap \Sigma = \bigcup_{v \in V_0(k)} \bigcup_i \{v\} \times \left(P_{v,i} + (B_{v,i})_{\mathrm{tor}}\right).$$

We decompose $Y(\overline{K}) \cap \Sigma$ into a finite union of

$$\Sigma_B = \bigcup_{v \in V_0(k)} \bigcup_{\substack{i \\ B_{v,i} = B}} \{v\} \times (P_{v,i} + B_{\text{tor}})$$

by collecting entries on the right of (3.1) that come from $B \in M$. The set Σ_B must be Zariski dense in Y for some $B \in M$. There is possibly more than one such B, so we choose one that is maximal with respect to inclusion.

We fix a finite field extension F/K with $F \subseteq \overline{K}$, such that Y, A, and B are stable under the action of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/F)$. For this proof we consider these three varieties and V as over F. Note that $A^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$ remains valid.

Now suppose $v \in V_0(k)$, and let $P_{v,i}$ be as in the definition of Σ_B , hence $B_{v,i} = B$ and $P_{v,i} + B \subseteq Y$. For all $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/F)$, we have $\sigma(P_{v,i}) + B = \sigma(P_{v,i}+B) \subseteq \sigma(Y_v) = Y_v$, by our choice of F and since σ acts trivially on $V_0(k)$. So the torsion coset $\sigma(P_{v,i}) + B$ is contained in $P_{v,j} + B'$ for some $B' \in M$ and some j. This implies $B \subseteq B'$. If $B \subsetneq B'$, then by maximality of B the Zariski closure $\overline{\Sigma_{B'}}$ is not all of Y. After replacing F by a finite extension of itself we may assume $\sigma(\overline{\Sigma_{B'}}) = \overline{\Sigma_{B'}}$ for all $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/F)$. In particular, $\{v\} \times (P_{v,i} + B) \subseteq \overline{\Sigma_{B'}}$. We remove such torsion cosets from the union defining Σ_B to obtain a set $\Sigma' \subseteq Y(\overline{K}) \cap \Sigma$ that remains Zariski dense in Y.

If $P_{v,i} + B$ is in the union defining Σ' , then B = B' and $\sigma(P_{v,i} + B) = P_{v,j} + B$ for some j and there are at most D possibilities for $\sigma(P_{v,i} + B)$ with $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/F)$.

542

Let $\varphi: A \to A/B$ be the canonical map, then $\sigma(\varphi(P_{v,i})) = \varphi(\sigma(P_{v,i})) = \varphi(P_{v,i})$. We have proven that the Galois orbit of $\varphi(P_{v,i})$ has at most D elements. In particular, $[F(\varphi(P_{v,i})):F] \leq D$; recall that D is independent of v and i.

CLAIM. Without loss of generality we may assume that the torsion points $P_{v,i}$ contributing to Σ' have uniformly bounded order.

Indeed, we may replace each $P_{v,i}$ by an element of $P_{v,i} + B_{tor}$. So by a standard argument involving a complement of B in A it is enough to show the following statement: The order of any point in

(3.2)
$$\{P \in (A/B)_{tor} : [F(P) : F] \le D\}$$

is bounded in terms of A/B and D only.

This is the only place in the proof of Proposition 3.1 where we use the hypothesis dim S = 1. In Appendix B we will explain how to remove this hypothesis.

Let \overline{S}' be an irreducible smooth projective curve with $k(\overline{S}') = F$ and P as in (3.2). The inclusion $F \subseteq F(P)$ corresponds to a finite covering $\overline{S}'' \to \overline{S}'$ of degree [F(P):F], where \overline{S}'' is another smooth projective curve with function field F(P). Then A/B has good reduction above $S'(k) \setminus Z$ for some finite subset Z of S'(k), where we have identified $\overline{S'}(k)$ with the set of places of F. Note that S' and Z are independent of P. All residue characteristics are zero, so by general reduction theory of abelian varieties we find that F(P)/F is unramified above the places in $S'(k) \setminus Z$. In other words, the finite morphism $\overline{S}'' \to \overline{S}'$ is unramified above $S' \setminus Z$. So we get a finite étale covering of $S \setminus Z$ of degree [F(P):F].

Let L be the compositum in \overline{K} of all extensions of F of degree at most D that are unramified above $S' \setminus Z$. Then L/F a finite field extension by [53, Cor. 7.11] if $k \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ and for general k of characteristic 0 since the étale fundamental group of $S' \setminus Z$ is topologically finitely generated by [25, Exposé XIII Cor. 2.12]. In particular, $P \in (A/B)(L)$ for all P in (3.2).

Now $(A/B)^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$ since the same holds for A. The extension L/k is finitely generated, so the Lang–Néron Theorem (cf. [35, Th. 1] or [14, Th. 7.1]) implies that (A/B)(L) is a finitely generated group. Thus [N](P) = 0 for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ that is independent of P. Our claim follows.

Define a morphism $\psi: V \times A \to V \times (A/B)$ by $\psi(v,t) = (v, [N] \circ \varphi(P))$. By choice of N we have $\psi(\Sigma') \subseteq V \times \{0\}$, so $\Sigma' \subseteq V \times (\Theta + B)$, where $\Theta \subseteq A_{\text{tor}}$ is finite. We pass to the Zariski closure and find $Y \subseteq V \times (P + B)$ for some $P \in A_{\text{tor}}$ as Y is irreducible.

Let $p: V \times A \to V$ be the first projection; it is proper, and p(Y) is Zariski closed in V. A fiber of $p|_Y$ containing a point of Σ' contains a subvariety of

dimension dim B. We use that Σ' is Zariski dense in Y one last time together with the Fiber Dimension Theorem [31, Exer. II.3.22] to conclude dim $B \leq$ dim $Y - \dim p(Y)$. As $Y \subseteq p(Y) \times (P + B)$, we conclude

(3.3)
$$Y = p(Y) \times (P+B).$$

Finally, $p(\Sigma')$ is Zariski dense in $p(Y) \subseteq V$. But $p(\Sigma')$ consists of elements in $V_0(k)$, with k the base field of V_0 . We conclude that $p(Y) = W_0 \otimes_k K$ for some irreducible subvariety $W_0 \subseteq V_0$. We conclude the proposition from (3.3).

4. The Betti map

In this section we describe the construction of the Betti map.

Let S be a smooth, irreducible, algebraic curve over \mathbb{C} and suppose $\pi \colon \mathcal{A} \to S$ is an abelian scheme of relative dimension g. We construct

PROPOSITION 4.1. Let \mathcal{A} and S be as above. For all $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$, there exists an open neighborhood Δ of s in S^{an} and a real analytic mapping $b: \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, called Betti map, with the following properties:

- (i) for each $s \in \Delta$, the restriction $b|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}} \colon \mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ is a group isomorphism;
- (ii) for each $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, the preimage $b^{-1}(\xi)$ is a complex analytic subset of $\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{an}}_{\Lambda}$;
- (iii) the product $(b, \pi|_{\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}}) \colon \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g} \times \Delta$ is real bianalytic.

Remark 4.2. We remark that b from the proposition above is not unique as we can compose it with a continuous group endomorphism of \mathbb{T}^{2g} . However, if $b, b' \colon \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ both satisfy the conclusion of the proposition and if Δ is path-connected, then using homotopy and (iii) we find $b' = \alpha \circ b$ for some $\alpha \in \operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$.

Before giving the concrete construction, let us explain the idea. Assume $S = \mathbb{A}_g$ is the moduli space of principally polarized abelian varieties with level-3-structure, and $\mathcal{A} = \mathfrak{A}_g$ is the universal abelian variety. The universal covering $\mathfrak{H}_g^+ \to \mathbb{A}_g$, where \mathfrak{H}_g^+ is the Siegel upper half space, gives a polarized family of abelian varieties $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{H}_g^+} \to \mathfrak{H}_g^+$,

For the universal covering $u: \mathbb{C}^g \times \mathfrak{H}_g^+ \to \mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{H}_g^+}$ and for each $\tau \in \mathfrak{H}_g^+$, the kernel of $u|_{\mathbb{C}^g \times \{\tau\}}$ is $\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g$. Thus the map $\mathbb{C}^g \times \mathfrak{H}_g^+ \to \mathbb{R}^g \times \mathbb{R}^g \times \mathfrak{H}_g^+ \to \mathbb{R}^{2g}$, where the first map is the inverse of $(a, b, \tau) \mapsto (a + \tau b, \tau)$ and the second map is the natural projection, descends to a map $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{H}_g^+} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. Now for each $s \in S(\mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{A}_g(\mathbb{C})$, there exists an open neighborhood Δ of s in $\mathbb{A}_g^{\mathrm{an}}$ such that $\mathcal{A}_{\Delta} = (\mathfrak{A}_g)|_{\Delta}$ can be identified with $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{H}_g^+}|_{\Delta'}$ for some open subset of \mathfrak{H}_g^+ . The composite $b: \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \cong \mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{H}_g^+}|_{\Delta'} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ is clearly real analytic and satisfies the three properties listed in Proposition 4.1. Thus b is the desired Betti map in this case. Note that for a fixed (small enough) Δ , there are infinitely choices of Δ' ; but for Δ small enough, if Δ'_1 and Δ'_2 are two such choices, then $\Delta'_2 = \alpha \cdot \Delta'_1$ for some $\alpha \in \mathrm{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$.

Now let us give the concrete construction. Let $s_0 \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$. By Ehresmann's Theorem [51, Th. 9.3], there is an open neighborhood Δ of s_0 in S^{an} such that $\mathcal{A}_{\Delta} = \pi^{-1}(\Delta)$ and $\mathcal{A}_{s_0} \times \Delta$ are diffeomorphic as families over Δ . The map f in

$$(4.1) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}_{s_0} \times \Delta \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \\ \downarrow \\ \downarrow \\ \Delta \end{cases}$$

is a diffeomorphism, the diagonal arrow is the natural projection, and the vertical arrow is the restriction of the structural morphism. After translating we may assume that (0, s) maps to the unit element in \mathcal{A}_s for all $s \in \Delta$. We may assume that Δ is simply connected. Fiberwise we obtain a diffeomorphism $f_s : \mathcal{A}_{s_0} \to \mathcal{A}_s$.

As \mathcal{A}^{an} is a complex analytic space, we may assume that the fibers of f^{-1} in (4.1) are complex analytic; see [51, Prop. 9.5].

We fix a basis $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_{2g}$ of the \mathbb{Z} -module $H_1(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$. Each γ_i is represented by a loop $\widetilde{\gamma_i}: [0,1] \to \mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}$ based at the origin of $\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}$.

For all $s \in \Delta$, we have a map $H^1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{R}) \to H^1(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{R})$ resp. $H^1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{C})$ induced by f_s ; it is an isomorphism of \mathbb{R} - resp. \mathbb{C} -vector spaces. We denote the latter by f_s^* and note that $f_s^*(\overline{v}) = \overline{f_s^*(v)}$ where complex conjugation $\overline{\cdot}$ is induced by the real structure.

The Hodge decomposition yields

$$H^1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{C}) = H^0(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}},\Omega^1) \oplus \overline{H^0(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}},\Omega^1)},$$

where $H^0(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \Omega^1)$ is the *g*-dimensional vector space of global holomorphic 1-forms on $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$. As *s* varies over Δ , we obtain a collection

$$f_s^* H^0(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \Omega^1)$$

of subspaces of $H^1(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{C})$. As f_s^* commutes with complex conjugation, we have

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{A}_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{C})=f_{s}^{*}H^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{s}^{\mathrm{an}},\Omega^{1})\oplus\overline{f_{s}^{*}(H^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{s}^{\mathrm{an}},\Omega^{1}))}.$$

For $s \in \Delta$, the image $f_s^* H^0(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \Omega^1)$ corresponds to a point in the Grassmannian variety of g-dimensional subspaces of $H^1(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{C})$. As a particular case of Griffith's Theorem, this association is a holomorphic function. We draw the following conclusion from Griffith's result.

Fix a basis $\omega_1^0, \ldots, \omega_g^0$ of $H^0(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{an}, \Omega^1)$; then $\omega_1^0, \ldots, \omega_g^0, \overline{\omega_1^0}, \ldots, \overline{\omega_g^0}$ is a basis $H^1(\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{an}, \mathbb{C})$. There exist holomorphic functions

$$a_{ij}: \Delta \to \mathbb{C} \quad \text{and} \quad b_{ij}: \Delta \to \mathbb{C} \quad (1 \le i, j \le g)$$

such that

$$f_s^*\omega_i(s) = \sum_{j=1}^g \left(a_{ij}(s)\omega_j^0 + b_{ij}(s)\overline{\omega_j^0} \right)$$

for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, g\}$ and all $s \in \Delta$, where $\omega_1(s), \ldots, \omega_g(s)$ is a basis of $H^0(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \Omega^1)$ with $\omega_i(s_0) = \omega_i^0$ for all i.

For $s \in \Delta$, we define the period matrix

$$\Omega(s) = \left(\int_{f_{s*}\widetilde{\gamma_j}} \omega_i(s) \right)_{\substack{1 \le i \le g \\ 1 \le j \le 2g}} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{g,2g}(\mathbb{C})$$

for all $s \in \Delta$; the integral is taken over the loop in $\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{an}$ fixed above. Note that

$$\int_{f_{s*}\widetilde{\gamma_j}}\omega_i(s) = \int_{\widetilde{\gamma_j}} f_s^*\omega_i(s) = \sum_{j=1}^g \left(a_{ij}(s)\int_{\widetilde{\gamma_j}}\omega_j^0 + b_{ij}(s)\int_{\widetilde{\gamma_j}}\overline{\omega_j^0}\right)$$

by a change of variables. So $\Omega(s)$ is holomorphic in s. In this notation and with $A(s) = (a_{ij}(s)) \in \operatorname{Mat}_g(\mathbb{C})$ and $B(s) = (b_{ij}(s)) \in \operatorname{Mat}_g(\mathbb{C})$, we can abbreviate the above by

(4.2)
$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \Omega(s)\\\overline{\Omega(s)}\end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} A(s) & B(s)\\\overline{B(s)} & \overline{A(s)}\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \Omega(0)\\\overline{\Omega(0)}\end{array}\right);$$

here $\Omega(0) = \Omega(s_0)$. So the first matrix on the right of (4.2) is invertible.

Let $P \in \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{an}}$ where $s = \pi(P) \in \Delta$, and suppose γ_P is a path in $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$ connecting 0 and P. Let $Q \in \mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}$ with $f_s(Q) = P$ and γ_Q the path in $\mathcal{A}_{s_0}^{\mathrm{an}}$ such that $f_{s*}\gamma_Q = \gamma_P$. We define (4.3)

$$\mathcal{L}(P) = \begin{pmatrix} \int_{\gamma_P} \omega_1(s) \\ \vdots \\ \int_{\gamma_P} \omega_g(s) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \int_{\gamma_Q} f_s^* \omega_1(s) \\ \vdots \\ \int_{\gamma_Q} f_s^* \omega_g(s) \end{pmatrix} = (A(s)B(s)) \left(\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{L}^*(Q) \\ \mathcal{L}^*(Q) \end{array} \right),$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}^*(Q) = \begin{pmatrix} \int_{\gamma_Q} \omega_1^0(s) \\ \vdots \\ \int_{\gamma_Q} \omega_g^0(s) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Replacing γ_P by another path connecting 0 and P in $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$ will translate the value of $\mathcal{L}(P)$ by a period in $\Omega(s)\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$. By passing to the quotient we obtain the Albanese map $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{C}^g/\Omega(s)\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$. It is a group isomomorphism.

Further, we set

$$\tilde{b}(P) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \Omega(s) \\ \overline{\Omega(s)} \end{array}\right)^{-1} \left(\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{L}(P) \\ \overline{\mathcal{L}(P)} \end{array}\right)$$

and observe $\tilde{b}(P) \in \mathbb{R}^{2g}$ as these are the coordinates of $\mathcal{L}(P)$ in terms of the period lattice basis $\Omega(s)$.

By replacing γ_P by another path connecting 0 and P, we find that $\tilde{b}(P)$ is translated by a vector in \mathbb{Z}^{2g} . Therefore, \tilde{b} induces a real analytic map $b: \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, where \mathbb{T} is the circle group, which we identify with \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} . We will prove that b satisfies the three properties listed in Proposition 4.1.

On a given fiber, i.e., for fixed s, the map b restricts to a group isomorphism $\mathcal{A}_s \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ as we have seen above. So part (i) of Proposition 4.1 holds.

Let us investigate such a fiber. For this we recall (4.3). By the period transformation formula (4.2), we see

$$\tilde{b}(P) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \Omega(0) \\ \overline{\Omega(0)} \end{array}\right)^{-1} \left(\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{L}^*(Q) \\ \mathcal{L}^*(Q) \end{array}\right).$$

Fixing the value of \tilde{b} amounts to fixing the value of $\mathcal{L}^*(Q)$. As \mathcal{L}^* induces the Albanese map on $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$, fixing b amounts to fixing Q. Recall that Q maps to P under the trivialization (4.1). Therefore, a fiber of b equals a fiber of the trivialization. As these fibers are complex analytic, we obtain part (ii) of Proposition 4.1.

Finally, the association

$$(\xi + \mathbb{Z}^{2g}, s) \mapsto \left(\left(\begin{array}{c} \Omega(0) \\ \overline{\Omega(0)} \end{array} \right) (\xi + \mathbb{Z}^{2g}), s \right) \mapsto (Q, s) \mapsto f_s(Q) \in \mathcal{A}_\Delta$$

induces the inverse of the product $\mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g} \times \Delta$. This is part (iii) of Proposition 4.1.

5. Degenerate subvarieties

Let S be a smooth irreducible algebraic curve over \mathbb{C} , and let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ be an abelian scheme of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. We define and characterize the degenerate subvarieties of \mathcal{A} in this section. Let Y be an irreducible closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} that dominates S.

Let $s_0 \in S(\mathbb{C})$, and let $\Delta \subseteq S^{\mathrm{an}}$ be an open neighborhood of s_0 in S^{an} with the Betti map $b: \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} = \pi^{-1}(\Delta) \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ as in Proposition 4.1 with $\mathbb{T} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ the circle group. We say that a point $P \in Y^{\mathrm{sm,an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}$ is degenerate for Yif it is not isolated in $b|_{Y^{\mathrm{sm,an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}}^{-1}(b(P))$. We say that Y is degenerate if there is a non-empty and open subset of $Y^{\mathrm{sm,an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}$ consisting of points that are degenerate for Y.

For technical purposes, our notation of degeneracy formally depends on the choice of Δ . But this dependency is harmless as we will see.

Recall that generically special subvarieties of \mathcal{A} were introduced in Definition 1.2. A generically special subvariety is degenerate. In this section we prove the converse.

THEOREM 5.1. An irreducible closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} that is degenerate is a generically special subvariety of \mathcal{A} .

This proposition, which has a definite Ax–Schanuel flavor, is proved using a variant of the Pila–Wilkie Counting Theorem for definable sets in an o-minimal structure. Abundantly many rational points arise from the exponential growth of a certain monodromy group.

5.1. Invariant subsets of the torus. We write $|\cdot|_2$ for the ℓ^2 -norm on \mathbb{R}^n . For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we consider the real *n*-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^n equipped with the standard topology. We will use the continuous left-action of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z})$ on \mathbb{T}^n and use the additive notation for \mathbb{T}^n . Suppose X is a closed subset of \mathbb{T}^n such that

$$\gamma(X) = X$$

for all γ in a subgroup Γ of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z})$. What can we say about X?

To rule out subgroups that are too small we ask that Γ contains a (nonabelian) free subgroup on two generators. Moreover, we will assume that X is sufficiently "tame" as a set.

To formulate the last property precisely, let exp: $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ denote the exponential map $(t_1, \ldots, t_n) \mapsto (e^{2\pi i t_1}, \ldots, e^{2\pi i t_n})$. Let $X \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ be a subset and

$$\mathcal{X} = \exp|_{[0,1]^n}^{-1}(X).$$

We will work in a fixed o-minimal structure and call X definable if \mathcal{X} is a definable subset of \mathbb{R}^n in the given o-minimal structure. We refer to van den Dries' book [17] for the theory of o-minimal structures. We will work with \mathbb{R}_{an} , the o-minimal structure generated by restricting real analytic functions on \mathbb{R}^n to $[-1,1]^n$.

We say that $X \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ is of Ax-type if it satisfies the following property. For any continuous, semi-algebraic map $y \colon [0,1] \to \mathcal{X}$ that is real-analytic on (0,1), there is a closed subgroup $G \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ such that $\exp \circ y([0,1]) \subseteq y(0) + G \subseteq X$.

The main example comes from a g-dimensional abelian variety A defined over \mathbb{C} . Indeed, then there is a real bianalytic map $A^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. Moreover, the image of $X(\mathbb{C})$ is definable and of Ax-type for any Zariski closed subset of A; for the latter claim, we refer to Ax's Theorem [2].

548

LEMMA 5.2. Let $X \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ be a closed definable set of Ax-type. Let Γ be a free subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z})$ on two generators such that $\gamma(X) = X$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Then one of the following properties holds true:

- (1) The set X is contained in a finite union of closed and proper subgroups of \mathbb{T}^n .
- (2) There are a non-empty, open subset U of X and a closed, connected, infinite subgroup $G \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ with $U + G \subseteq X$.

Proof. By assumption, Γ is generated by elements γ_1, γ_2 that do not satisfy any non-trivial relation. Any element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is uniquely represented by a reduced word in $\gamma_1^{\pm 1}, \gamma_2^{\pm 1}$ whose length is $l(\gamma)$. For all real $t \ge 1$, we have

$$\#\{\gamma \in \Gamma : l(\gamma) \le t\} \ge 2^t$$

We define $c_1 = \max\{2, |\gamma_1|_2, |\gamma_1|_2\} \ge 2$ and observe $|\gamma|_2 \le c_1^{l(\gamma)}$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. The height H(b) of any integral vector $b = (b_1, \ldots, b_m) \in \mathbb{Z}^m$ is $\max\{1, |b_1|, \ldots, |b_m|\}$. So

$$H(\gamma) \le c_1^{l(\gamma)}$$

Let $T \ge c_1$, and let $t = (\log T)/(\log c_1) \ge 1$. There are at least $2^t =$ $T^{(\log 2)/\log c_1} \text{ elements } \gamma \in \Gamma \text{ with } H(\gamma) \leq T.$ Let $x \in \mathcal{X} = \exp|_{[0,1]^n}^{-1}(X)$. For all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, there is $a = a_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ such that

 $y_{\gamma} = \gamma x - a_{\gamma} \in \mathcal{X}$. Then $(x, \gamma, a_{\gamma}, y_{\gamma})$ lies in the definable set

 $\mathcal{Z} = \left\{ (x, \gamma, a, y) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{X} : \gamma x - a = y \right\}.$

We view it as a family of definable sets parametrized by $x \in \mathcal{X}$ with fibers $\mathcal{X}_x \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n^2 + n + n}$. Moreover,

(5.1)
$$H(a_{\gamma}) \leq \max\{1, |a_{\gamma}|_{2}\} = \max\{1, |\gamma x - y_{\gamma}|_{2}\} \\ \leq \max\{1, |\gamma|_{2}|x|_{2} + |y_{\gamma}|_{2}\} \leq \sqrt{n}(|\gamma|_{2} + 1) \leq 2n^{2}H(\gamma).$$

Let c_2 be the constant from the semi-rational variant of the Pila–Wilkie Theorem [30, Cor. 7.2] applied to the family \mathcal{Z} and $\varepsilon = (\log 2)/(2\log c_1)$. Here the coordinates assigned to (γ, a) are treated as rational and the coordinates assigned to y are not. We fix T large enough in terms of c_1 and c_2 ; more precisely, we will assume that $T \ge c_1$ and

(5.2)
$$T^{(\log 2)/\log c_1} > c_2 (2n^2 T)^{(\log 2)/(2\log c_1)}$$

We keep x fixed and vary γ . Let us first see how to reduce to the case that many different y_{γ} must arise this way if $H(\gamma) \leq T$. Indeed, suppose $\gamma' \in \Gamma$ satisfies $H(\gamma') \leq T$. Then $y'_{\gamma'} = \gamma' x - a'_{\gamma'} \in \mathcal{X}$ for some $a' \in \mathbb{Z}$. If $y_{\gamma} = y'_{\gamma'}$, then $\gamma x - a_{\gamma} = \gamma' x - a'_{\gamma'}$, so $\gamma x - \gamma' x \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. Then $\exp(x)$ lies in the closed subgroup of \mathbb{T}^n defined by the kernel of $\gamma^{-1}\gamma' - 1 \neq 0$, i.e., the largest subgroup of \mathbb{T}^n stabilized by $\gamma^{-1}\gamma'$. So it lies in a finite union $G_1 \cup \cdots \cup G_N$ of closed proper subgroups of \mathbb{T}^n , each defined as the subgroup stabilized by some $\gamma^{-1}\gamma'$ as above. Here N is bounded only in terms of T and thus only in terms of c_1, c_2 , and n. It is independent of x.

If $X \subseteq G_1 \cup \cdots \cup G_N$, then we are in case (1). Otherwise, $V = X \setminus (G_1 \cup \cdots \cup G_N)$ lies open in X and is non-empty.

Now suppose $x \in \mathcal{X}$ with $\exp(x) \in V$ and $\gamma \in G$ with $H(\gamma) \leq T$. Recall that $y_{\gamma} = \gamma x - a_{\gamma} \in \mathcal{X}$. By our choice of V and the arguments above the number of y_{γ} that arise is the number of elements in Γ of height at most T. This number is at least $T^{(\log 2)/\log c_1}$. Note that the height of (γ, a_{γ}) equals $\max\{H(\gamma), H(a_{\gamma})\}$ and this is at most $2n^2T$ by (5.1).

By (5.2) we have enough y_{γ} to apply the counting result [30, Cor. 7.2]. We thus obtain continuous, definable maps $\gamma \colon [0,1] \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{R}), a \colon [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}^n$, and $y \colon [0,1] \to \mathcal{X}$ such that γ and a are semi-algebraic, y is non-constant, and

$$\gamma(s)x - a(s) = y(s)$$

for all $s \in [0, 1]$. So $s \mapsto y(s)$ is semi-algebraic too and $\exp \circ y([0, 1]) \subseteq X$. After rescaling [0, 1] we may assume that y is real-analytic on (0, 1). By looking at the proof of [30, Cor. 7.2(iii)], we may arrange $\gamma(0) \in \Gamma$ and $a(0) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. Recall that X is of Ax-type. So there is a closed subgroup $G'_x \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ with $\exp \circ y([0, 1]) \subseteq \exp(y(0)) + G'_x \subseteq X$. We may assume that G'_x is connected. Observe that G'_x is infinite as $\exp \circ y$ is continuous and non-constant. We find $\exp(x) + G_x \subseteq \gamma(0)^{-1}(X) = X$, where $G_x = \gamma(0)^{-1}G'_x$.

We have proved that for any $x \in \mathcal{X}$ with $\exp(x) \in V$, we have

$$\exp(x) + G_x \subseteq X$$

for some connected, closed, infinite subgroup $G_x \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$.

For any connected closed subgroup $G \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$, we define

$$E(G) = \{z \in V : z + G \subseteq X\} = V \cap \bigcap_{g \in G} (X - g).$$

Then E(G) is closed in V. Our conclusion from above can be restated as

$$V = \bigcup_{x \in \exp|_{\mathcal{X}}^{-1}(V)} E(G_x).$$

By Kronecker's Theorem, \mathbb{T}^n has countably many closed subgroups. So this union contains at most countably many different members. Now V, being non-empty, Hausdorff, and locally compact satisfies the hypothesis of Baire's Theorem. Hence there exists a connected, closed, infinite subgroup $G \subseteq \mathbb{T}^n$ such that $V \setminus E(G)$ is not dense in V. So E(G) contains a non-empty and open subset of X, as claimed in (2).

Now suppose that A is an abelian variety of dimension $g \geq 1$ defined over \mathbb{C} . We attach to A the associated complex manifold A^{an} whose underlying set of points is $A(\mathbb{C})$. There is a real bi-analytic map $b: A^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ that is a group isomorphism. We will not need to vary A in a family here as in Proposition 4.1.

Suppose a group Γ acts faithfully and continuously on A^{an} ; we do not ask for elements of Γ to act by holomorphic maps. Any continuous group automorphism of \mathbb{T}^{2g} can be identified with an element of $\mathrm{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$. So using b we may consider Γ as a subgroup of $\mathrm{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$.

We say that the action of Γ is of *monodromy-type* if $\gamma(B(\mathbb{C})) = B(\mathbb{C})$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and all abelian subvarieties $B \subseteq A$. Later we will study the action of the fundamental group of an abelian scheme on a fixed fiber in sufficiently general position. This action will leave the abelian subvarieties of the said fiber invariant and is thus of monodromy-type.

PROPOSITION 5.3. Let A, g, b, and $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$ be above so, in particular, Γ acts continuously on A^{an} and is of monodromy-type. We assume in addition that Γ contains a free subgroup on two generators and that there are no Γ invariant elements in $\mathbb{Z}^{2g} \setminus \{0\}$. Let Z be an irreducible closed subvariety of A with $\gamma(Z(\mathbb{C})) = Z(\mathbb{C})$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Then one of the following properties holds:

- (1) the subvariety Z is contained in a proper torsion coset in A;
- (2) there exists an abelian subvariety $B \subseteq A$ with dim $B \ge 1$ and Z + B = Z.

Proof. We write X for the image of $Z(\mathbb{C})$ under the real analytic isomorphism $b: A^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. Then X is closed and definable in the sense as introduced before Lemma 5.2. By Ax's Theorem [2], the set X is of Ax-type. We apply Lemma 5.2 to a free subgroup of Γ on two generators.

If we are in case (1) of Lemma 5.2, then X is contained in a finite union of proper closed subgroups $G_1, \ldots, G_N \subsetneq \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. By the Baire Category Theorem we may assume that $X \cap G_1$ has non-empty interior in X.

The analytification Z^{an} is an irreducible complex analytic space, and $Z^{\text{sm,an}}$ is arc-wise connected by [21, Ths. 9.1.2 and 9.3.2]. Moreover, $Z^{\text{sm,an}}$ is an open and dense subset of Z^{an} .

Let $P, Q \in Z^{\text{sm,an}}$, and suppose b(P) lies in the interior of $X \cap G_1$. We can connect P and Q via an arc $[0,1] \to Z^{\text{sm,an}}$ whose restriction to (0,1) is piecewise real analytic on finitely many pieces. A neighborhood of b(P) in X lies in G_1 , and G_1 is defined globally by relations in integer coefficients. By analytic continuation we find that $b(Q) \in G_1$. In particular, $b(Z^{\text{sm,an}}) \subseteq G_1$ and thus $b(Z^{\text{an}}) \subseteq G_1$. So Z^{an} is contained in the proper subgroup $b^{-1}(G_1) \subsetneq A^{\text{an}}$.

The sum of sufficiently many copies of Z - Z is an abelian subvariety B of A. We have $B \neq A$ because $B(\mathbb{C})$ lies in $b^{-1}(G_1)$. So $Z \subseteq P + B$ for some $P \in A(\mathbb{C})$. Moreover, any coset in A containing Z must contain P + B.

Let B' be the complementary abelian subvariety of B in A with respect to a fixed polarization; see [5, §5.3]. So B + B' = A and $B \cap B'$ is finite. By the former property we may assume $P \in B'(\mathbb{C})$. By hypothesis we have $Z(\mathbb{C}) = \gamma(Z(\mathbb{C})) \subseteq \gamma(P) + \gamma(B(\mathbb{C})) = \gamma(P) + B(\mathbb{C})$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Thus $\gamma(P) - P \in B(\mathbb{C})$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. As B' is invariant under γ , we find $\gamma(P) - P \in (B \cap B')(\mathbb{C})$. So $\gamma(Q) - Q = 0$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, where $Q = [\#B \cap B'](P)$.

The point $b(Q) \in \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ is the image of some $t \in \mathbb{R}^{2g}$ under the canonical map $\mathbb{R}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. Our action of Γ on A^{an} was defined using b, and Γ acts on \mathbb{T}^{2g} via a matrix in $\mathrm{Mat}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$. We find that $\gamma(t) - t \in \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$ with the standard action of $\mathrm{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$ on \mathbb{R}^{2g} .

Thus $t \in \mathbb{R}^{2g}$ is the solution of a system of inhomogeneous linear equations, parametrized by Γ , with integral coefficients and integral solution vector. The corresponding homogeneous equation has only the trivial solution as there are no non-trivial Γ -invariant vectors in \mathbb{Z}^{2g} . So t was the unique solution, and we conclude $t \in \mathbb{Q}^{2g}$. Therefore Q and thus P have finite order. So P + B is a torsion coset in A and we are in case (1) of the current proposition.

Now suppose we are in case (2) of Lemma 5.2, and suppose U and G are as given therein. Then $\bigcap_{P \in b^{-1}(G)} (Z - P)$ is Zariski closed in Z since $0 \in G$. By Lemma 5.2 its complex points contain $b^{-1}(U)$, which is Zariski dense in Z. So Z - P = Z for all $P \in b^{-1}(G)$. This equality continues to hold for \mathbb{C} -points in the Zariski closure B of $b^{-1}(G)$ in A. As G is a connected subgroup of A^{an} , we find that B is an abelian subvariety of A. Moreover, dim $B \ge 1$ since G is infinite. So we are in case (2) of the proposition.

5.2. Degeneracy and global information. Let \mathcal{A} be an abelian scheme over S of relative dimension $g \geq 1$, and let S be an irreducible and smooth curve over \mathbb{C} .

Recall that Betti maps were introduced in Section 4. Around each point of S^{an} we fix an open neighborhood in S^{an} and a Betti map as in Proposition 4.1. This yields an open cover of S^{an} , which we now refine for our application later on. After shrinking each member, we may assume that each member is bounded and diffeomorphic to an open subset of \mathbb{R}^2 . As S^{an} is paracompact, we may refine this cover to obtain an open cover of S^{an} that is locally finite. Each member of this cover is relatively compact. We may refine the cover again and assume that a finite intersection of members is empty or contractible; see Weil's treatment [55, §1]. A non-empty open subset of S^{an} is naturally a Riemann surface; if it is contractible, then it is homeomorphic to the open unit disc. Therefore, a finite intersection of members of our cover is empty or homeomorphic to the open unit disc.

Let $s \in S^{an}$ be a base point. We describe the monodromy representation of $\pi_1(S^{an}, s)$ using the Betti map.

Let $\gamma: [0,1] \to S^{\text{an}}$ be a loop around s. We can find a Betti map in a neighborhood around each point of $\gamma([0,1])$. As this image is compact, we find

 $0 = a_0 < a_1 < \cdots < a_n = 1$ such that $\gamma([a_{i-1}, a_i]) \subseteq \Delta_i$, where Δ_i is a member of the cover above and b_i is its associated Betti map.

We can glue the Betti maps as follows. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$, we have $s_i = \gamma(a_i) \in \Delta_i \cap \Delta_{i+1}$. So $b_i|_{\mathcal{A}_{s_i}^{an}} \circ (b_{i+1}|_{\mathcal{A}_{s_i}^{an}})^{-1}$ is a continuous group isomorphism $M: \mathbb{T}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, thus represented by a matrix in $\operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$. On replacing b_{i+1} by $M \circ b_{i+1}$, we may arrange that b_i and b_{i+1} coincide on $\mathcal{A}_{s_i}^{an}$.

Now $\gamma(0) = \gamma(1) = s$. Both b_1 and b_n define homeomorphisms $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. By composing we obtain a homeomorphism $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$ that is a group isomomorphism. This homeomorphism induces an automorphism of the \mathbb{Z} -module $H^1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{Z})$ that depends on the loop γ . Another loop that is homotopic to γ relative $\{0,1\}$ will lead to the same automorphism of $H^1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{Z})$. The induced mapping $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}},s) \to \mathrm{Aut}(H^1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{Z}))$ is the monodromy representation from [52, §3.1.2]. We denote its dual by

(5.3)
$$\rho \colon \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s) \to \mathrm{Aut}(H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})).$$

PROPOSITION 5.4. In the notation above there is a group homomorphism

(5.4)
$$\tilde{\rho} = \tilde{\rho}_{\mathcal{A}} \colon \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$$

 $\to \{homeomorphisms \ \mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}} \ that \ are \ group \ homomorphisms\} \}$

that satisfies

(5.5)
$$\widetilde{\rho}(h)_* = \rho(h) \quad \text{for all} \quad h \in \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$$

with the following properties:

- (i) There exists a path-connected open neighborhood Δ ⊆ S^{an} of s and b a Betti map on A_Δ as in Proposition 4.1. Let Y ⊆ A be an irreducible closed subvariety such that P ∈ Y^{an} with π(P) = s is not isolated in the fiber of b|_{Y^{an}∩A_Δ}. Then ρ̃(h)(P) ∈ Y^{an} for all h ∈ π₁(S^{an}, s). Moreover, if P has finite order N in A_s(C), then dim_P Y ∩ A[N] ≥ 1.
- (ii) Let \mathcal{B} be a further abelian scheme over S and $\alpha \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a morphism of abelian schemes over S. Then for all $h \in \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$,

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{\mathcal{B}}(h)(\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_{s}^{\mathrm{an}}}) = (\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_{s}^{\mathrm{an}}})\widetilde{\rho}_{\mathcal{A}}(h).$$

Although the Betti map b in Proposition 4.1 is not uniquely determined, Remark 4.2 implies that the non-isolation condition in the hypothesis above is independent of any choice of b.

Before we come to the proof we will patch together the Betti maps and extract global information.

Suppose $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$, and set $\Delta = \Delta_i \cap \Delta_{i+1} \ni \gamma(a_i)$. We consider the two real bi-analytic maps

$$b_i^*|_{\mathcal{A}_\Delta}$$
 and $b_{i+1}^*|_{\mathcal{A}_\Delta} \colon \mathcal{A}_\Delta \to \mathbb{T}^{2g} \times \Delta$,

where the star signifies passing to the product as in Proposition 4.1(iii). By composing we obtain

(5.6)
$$b_{i+1}^*|_{\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}} \circ (b_i^*|_{\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}})^{-1} \colon \mathbb{T}^{2g} \times \Delta \to \mathbb{T}^{2g} \times \Delta,$$

which is, over each fiber of Δ , a continuous group isomorphism $\mathbb{T}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. By construction it is the identity over $\gamma(a_i) \in \Delta$. Each continuous group isomorphism of \mathbb{T}^{2g} is represented by a matrix in $\operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$. By homotopy, (5.6) is the identity above all points in the path component of Δ containing $\gamma(a_i)$. But Δ is path connected by construction, and therefore $b_i|_{\mathcal{A}_\Delta} = b_{i+1}|_{\mathcal{A}_\Delta}$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$.

Proof of Proposition 5.4. Let s, Y, and P be as in the hypothesis. We abbreviate $Y_{\Delta_1} = Y^{\mathrm{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_1}$; it is a complex analytic space.

We will transport P in \mathcal{A}^{an} above along a loop γ in S^{an} based at s and keep the Betti coordinates fixed. After completing the loop we will have returned to the fiber \mathcal{A}_s . But P will have transformed according to the monodromy representation (5.3). The degeneracy condition imposed on P implies that this new point lies again in Y. This is guaranteed by the fact that the Betti fibers are complex analytic; see (ii) of Proposition 4.1 and our hypothesis dim S = 1.

Let us check the details. We set $P_0 = P$ and $\xi = b_1(P_0)$ and define

$$Z_1 = b_1^{-1}(\xi).$$

So Z_1 is a complex analytic subset of the complex analytic space \mathcal{A}_{Δ_1} by (ii) of Proposition 4.1. Therefore, $Z_1 \cap Y_{\Delta_1}$ is complex analytic in Y_{Δ_1} . As P_0 is not isolated in $Z_1 \cap Y_{\Delta_1}$, we find $\dim_{P_0} Z_1 \cap Y_{\Delta_1} \ge 1$; see [21, Ch. 5] for the dimension theory of complex analytic spaces.

If $P = P_0$ happens to be a point of finite order N in $\mathcal{A}_{\pi(P)}(\mathbb{C})$, then all points of Z_1 have order N in their respective fibers as β is fiberwise a group isomorphism. From the degeneracy of P we conclude $\dim_P Y \cap \mathcal{A}[N] \ge 1$, and this yields the second claim of (i).

The natural projection $Z_1 \mapsto \Delta_1$ is holomorphic and a homeomorphism. So $\dim_Q Z_1 \leq \dim_{\pi(Q)} \Delta_1 = 1$ for all $Q \in Z_1$. So we conclude $\dim_{P_0} Z_1 \cap Y_{\Delta_1} = \dim_{P_0} Z_1 = 1$ and $\dim Z_1 = 1$. The singular points of Z_1 are isolated in Z_1 ; see [21, Ch. 6, §2.2]. Since Z_1 is homeomorphic to Δ_1 and the latter is homeomorphic to the open unit disc, we conclude that the smooth locus of Z_1 is path connected. Therefore, we can apply the Identity Lemma [21, Ch. 9, §1.1] to conclude that $Z_1 \cap Y_{\Delta_1} = Z_1$, and hence

$$Z_1 \subseteq Y_{\Delta_1}.$$

In particular, the point $P_1 = b_1^{-1}(\xi, \gamma(a_1)) \in Z_1$ also lies in Y_{Δ_1} .

Observe that we used the fact that S^{an} is a curve in a crucial way. Indeed, for higher dimensional S, we cannot exclude dim $Z_1 \cap Y_{\Delta_1} < \dim Z_1$ in the paragraph above. This makes applying the Identity Lemma impossible. We have reached $\gamma(a_1)$ and will continue on the circuit along γ . However, by construction, b_1^* and b_2^* agree on $\mathcal{A}_{s_1}^{\mathrm{an}}$ where $s_1 = \gamma(a_1)$. They also agree on $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$ for all *s* sufficiently close to s_1 . Let t_1, t_2, \ldots be a sequence of elements in $[0, a_1]$ with limit a_1 . Then $b_1^{*-1}(\xi, \gamma(t_k))$ converges to P_1 as $k \to \infty$. For *k* sufficiently large, we have $\gamma(t_k) \in \Delta_2$ and therefore $b_1^{*-1}(\xi, \gamma(t_k)) = b_2^{*-1}(\xi, \gamma(t_k))$. So $P_1 \in \pi_1^{-1}(\Delta_1 \cap \Delta_2)$ is not isolated in the fiber of $b_2 : \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_2} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ restricted to Y_{Δ_2} above ξ .

Now we repeat the process and transport P_1 along $\gamma([a_1, a_2])$ to obtain $P_2 \in Y_{\Delta_2}$ with $\pi(P_2) = \gamma(a_2)$ that is not isolated in $b_3|_{Y_{\Delta_3}}$. Eventually, we will have returned to the fiber \mathcal{A}_s . The final point lies in Y_s^{an} , and it is obtained from $P_0 \in Y^{\mathrm{an}}$ by a continuous group automorphism of $\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}$ that depends on the homotopy class of γ relative to $\{0, 1\}$. More precisely, by construction the final point is $\tilde{\rho}([\gamma])(P_0)$, where

$$\widetilde{\rho}$$
: $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$

 \rightarrow {homeomorphisms $\mathcal{A}_s^{an} \rightarrow \mathcal{A}_s^{an}$ that are group homomorphisms}

is a group homomorphism that is compatible with the monodromy representation (5.3); indeed,

$$\widetilde{\rho}(h)_* = \rho(h) \quad \text{for all} \quad h \in \pi_1(S^{\text{an}}, s),$$

and part (i) follows.

The proof of (ii) relies on (5.5) and some basic functoriality. Let $s \in S^{\operatorname{an}}$. A homomorphism $\alpha : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ of abelian schemes over S induces a group homomorphism $(\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}})_* : H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(\mathcal{B}_s^{\operatorname{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$. Moreover, this group homomorphism is equivariant with respect to the action of $\pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s)$ on both homology groups. By abuse of notation let $\tilde{\rho}$ denote the continuous action of $\pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s)$ on \mathcal{A}_s and \mathcal{B}_s , and let ρ be the induced action on homology. We find

$$\left(\widetilde{\rho}(h)\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}}\right)_* = \rho(h)(\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}})_* = (\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}})_*\rho(h) = (\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}}\widetilde{\rho}(h))_*$$

for all $h \in \pi_1(S^{\text{an}}, s)$; the first and third equality follow from (5.5), and the second one follows since the monodromy action commutes with homomorphisms of abelian varieties. Both self-maps $\tilde{\rho}(h)\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{an}}}$ and $\alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{an}}}\tilde{\rho}(h)$ are continuous group endomorphisms of $\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{an}}$, which is homeomorphic to \mathbb{T}^{2g} . As their induced maps on homology coincide, they must coincide as well.

5.3. Monodromy on abelian schemes. Let S be an irreducible and smooth curve over \mathbb{C} , and let \mathcal{A} be an abelian scheme over S of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. We write $\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}$ for an algebraic closure of the function field $\mathbb{C}(S)$ of S.

For a base point $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$, the monodromy representation is (5.3). Let G_s denote the Zariski closure of $\Gamma_s = \rho(\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s))$ in $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Q}}H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Q})$, and let G_s^0 be its connected component containing the unit element. Deligne proved in [16, Cor. 4.2.9] that G_s^0 is a semisimple algebraic group.

The next lemma uses a theorem of Tits connected to his famous "alternative."

LEMMA 5.5. In the notation above suppose that G_s^0 is not trivial. Then any finite index subgroup of Γ_s has a free subgroup on two generators.

Proof. Let Γ' be a finite index subgroup of Γ_s . As G_s^0 is of finite index in G_s , we see that $\Gamma' \cap G_s^0(\mathbb{Q})$ lies Zariski dense in G_s^0 . Our lemma follows from [48, Th. 3] applied to G_s^0 and $\Gamma' \cap G_s^0(\mathbb{Q})$.

Certainly, G_s and G_s^0 etc. depend on s. However, their isomorphism classes do not, and the index $[G_s : G_s^0]$ is independent of $s \in S^{an}$; see the comments before Zarhin's [64, Th. 3.3].

LEMMA 5.6. Let A be the generic fiber of $\mathcal{A} \to S$. It is an abelian variety over $\mathbb{C}(S)$. If $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$ and $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ has a non-zero element that is invariant under the monodromy action (5.3), then the $\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}$ -trace of A is non-zero.

Proof. We write $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})^{\rho}$ for the elements in $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ that are invariant under (5.3). A conclusion of Deligne's Theorem of the Fixed Part (see [16, Cor. 4.1.2]) implies that the weight -1 Hodge structure on $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ restricts to a Hodge structure on $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})^{\rho}$.

It is well known that Hodge substructures of $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ come from abelian subvarieties of \mathcal{A}_s . Hence $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})^{\rho}$ gives rise to an abelian subvariety $B \subseteq \mathcal{A}_s$ of dimension $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Rank} H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})^{\rho}$. As $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})^{\rho} \neq 0$ by hypothesis, we have dim $B \geq 1$.

Then $\mathcal{B} = B \times_{\text{Spec}(\mathbb{C})} S$ is a constant abelian scheme over S. The monodromy representation $\pi_1(S^{\text{an}}, s) \to \text{Aut}(H_1(\mathcal{B}_s^{\text{an}}, \mathbb{Z}))$ is certainly trivial. The inclusion $\mathcal{B}_s \to \mathcal{A}_s$ induces a homomorphism $H_1(\mathcal{B}_s^{\text{an}}, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\text{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ and the restriction of ρ from (5.3) to the image of this homomorphism is trivial. A theorem of Grothendieck [23] implies that any element in

 $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{B}_s, \mathcal{A}_s) \cap \operatorname{Hom}(H_1(\mathcal{B}_s^{\operatorname{an}}, \mathbb{Z}), H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}, \mathbb{Z}))$

is induced by the restriction of a morphism $\varphi : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ over S to \mathcal{B}_s such that $\varphi \circ 0_{\mathcal{B}} = 0_{\mathcal{A}}$, where $0_{\mathcal{A}} : S \to \mathcal{A}$ and $0_{\mathcal{B}} : S \to \mathcal{B}$ are the zero sections. See also [16, 4.1.3.2].

The restriction of φ to the generic fiber of \mathcal{B} is a homomorphism $B \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}(S) \to \mathcal{A} \times_S \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}(S) = A$ of abelian varieties over $\mathbb{C}(S)$. If the $\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}$ -trace of A is trivial, then the said homomorphism is trivial. In this case, the morphism φ and the zero section both extend $B \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}(S) \to A$ to a morphism $\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$. As the generic fiber lies Zariski dense in \mathcal{A} , we find that φ is the zero section. But then B must be trivial, and this is a contradiction.

For us, an abelian subscheme of \mathcal{A} is the image of an endomorphism of \mathcal{A} . We call $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$ extendable for \mathcal{A} if any abelian subvariety $B_s \in \mathcal{A}_s$ extends

556

to an abelian subscheme \mathcal{B} of \mathcal{A} ; i.e., there exists an abelian subscheme \mathcal{B} of \mathcal{A} such that $\mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{A}_s = B_s$.

For readers who are familiar with Hodge theory, extendable points of S are closely related to Hodge generic points. We shall not go into details, but we state the following corollary of a result of Deligne for our purpose.

LEMMA 5.7. In the notation above, suppose $G_s^0 = G_s$ for some $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$. There is an at most countable infinite subset of $S(\mathbb{C})$ whose complement consists only of extendable points of \mathcal{A} .

Proof. We refer to [64, Cor. 3.5 and the preceding comments] for this result. In fact in the reference, it is pointed out that the extendable points are precisely the Hodge generic points under this mild assumption $(G_s^0 = G_s \text{ for some } s \in S(\mathbb{C})).$

More precisely, [64, Cor. 3.5 and the preceding comments] says that any $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$ outside an at most countably infinite set Σ satisfies the following property: For any $\alpha_s \in \text{End}(\mathcal{A}_s)$, there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n\alpha_s$ is the restriction of an endomorphism of \mathcal{A} . Now for any $s \in S(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \Sigma$, any abelian subvariety B_s of \mathcal{A}_s is the image of some $\alpha_s \in \text{End}(\mathcal{A}_s)$. There exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n\alpha_s$ is the restriction of an element $\alpha \in \text{End}(\mathcal{A})$. And then we can take \mathcal{B} to be the image of α .

Let Y be an irreducible closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} that dominates S. Then Y is flat over S by [31, Prop. III.9.7]. We write Y_s for the fiber of $Y \to S$ above s with the reduced induced structure. By [31, Cor. III.9.6], we see that Y_s is equidimensional of dimension dim Y - 1.

We say that Y is virtually monodromy invariant above $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$ if there exists an irreducible component Z of Y_s and a subgroup $G \subseteq \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$ of finite index such that

$$\widetilde{\rho}(\gamma)(Z(\mathbb{C})) = Z(\mathbb{C}) \text{ for all } \gamma \in G$$

for the representation $\tilde{\rho}$ defined in Proposition 5.4.

LEMMA 5.8. In the notation above we suppose Y is an irreducible closed subvariety of A that dominates S. We assume that there is an uncountable set $M \subseteq S(\mathbb{C})$ satisfying all of the following properties:

- (i) for all irreducible S' that are finite and étale over S, the generic fiber of A×_S S' → S' has trivial C(S')/C-trace;
- (ii) all elements in M are extendable for A (see Lemma 5.7 and above for definition);
- (iii) and the variety Y is virtually monodromy invariant above all elements in M.

Then there exist an abelian scheme C over S and a homomorphism $\mathcal{A} \to C$ of abelian schemes over S whose kernel contains Y and has dimension dim Y.

Proof. Our proof is by induction on

 $\dim \mathcal{A}$.

The small possible value is 2 as we require $g \ge 1$. We call this the minimal case, and we treat it directly below.

Let $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$ be arbitrary for the moment. If G_s^0 , defined near the beginning of this subsection, is trivial, then the image of $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$ under (5.3) is finite. By the Riemann Existence Theorem there is an irreducible curve S' that is finite and étale over S such that the monodromy representation of the fundamental group of S' at some base point $s' \in S'(\mathbb{C})$ on $H_1((\mathcal{A} \times_S S')_{s'}^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ is trivial. Recall that $g \geq 1$. By Lemma 5.6, the generic fiber of $\mathcal{A} \times_S S' \to S'$ has non-zero $\mathbb{C}(S')/\mathbb{C}$ -trace, contradicting our hypothesis. Therefore, dim $G_s^0 \geq 1$.

Let $s \in M$ with M as in the hypothesis. A finite index subgroup of $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$ acts on $Z_s(\mathbb{C})$ via (5.4), where Z_s is an irreducible component of Y_s . We write Γ'_s for the image of this finite index subgroup under the monodromy representation (5.3). Then Γ'_s has a free subgroup on two generators by Lemma 5.5. We invoke Lemma 5.6 by using hypothesis (i) and passing to a covering of S, and we find that no non-zero element of $H_1(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Z})$ is invariant under the action of Γ'_s .

We aim to apply Proposition 5.3. But first let us verify that Γ'_s is of monodromy type with respect to corresponding Betti map. Indeed, an abelian subvariety B of \mathcal{A}_s extends to an abelian subscheme \mathcal{B} of \mathcal{A} by hypothesis (ii). Then $\tilde{\rho}_{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma)(B^{\mathrm{an}}) = \tilde{\rho}_{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma)(\iota(B^{\mathrm{an}})) = \iota(\tilde{\rho}_{\mathcal{B}}(\gamma)(B^{\mathrm{an}})) = B^{\mathrm{an}}$ by Proposition 5.4(ii) for all $\gamma \in \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$, where $\iota : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ is the inclusion.

By Proposition 5.3. we are in one of two cases for any given $s \in M$. Let $M_{1,2}$ be the set of $s \in M$ such that we are in case 1, 2, respectively. As $M = M_1 \cup M_2$, one among M_1, M_2 is uncountable.

Case 1: The set M_1 is uncountable. For all $s \in M_1$, the subvariety Z_s is contained in the translate of a proper abelian subvariety B_s of \mathcal{A}_s by a point P_s of finite order $N_s \in \mathbb{N}$. As M_1 is uncountable and \mathbb{N} is countable, we may replace M_1 by an uncountable subset and assume that there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $[N]P_s = 0$ for all $s \in M_1$.

Let us treat the minimal case dim $\mathcal{A} = 2$ now. Then $B_s = \{0\}$ and thus $Z_s = \{P_s\}$ for all $s \in M_1$. But then Y contains an infinite, and hence Zariski dense, set of points lying in ker($[N]: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$). This completes the proof in the minimal case as we can take $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{A}$ and $[N]: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$.

We now treat the non-minimal case dim $\mathcal{A} \geq 3$. By condition (ii) there exists an abelian subscheme $\mathcal{B}(s)$ of \mathcal{A} such that $\mathcal{B}(s) \cap \mathcal{A}_s = B_s$ for any $s \in M_1$. But M_1 is uncountable and \mathcal{A} has only countably many abelian subschemes, so we may replace M_1 by an uncountable subset and assume that there exists an abelian subscheme \mathcal{B} of \mathcal{A} with $\mathcal{B}(s) = \mathcal{B}$, i.e., $\mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{A}_s = B_s$, for all $s \in M_1$.

558

We have $[N]Z_s \subseteq \mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{A}_s$ for all $s \in M_1$. But $\bigcup_{s \in M_1} [N]Z_s$ is Zariski dense in [N]Y by dimension reasons, so $[N]Y \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ by taking the Zariski closures on both sides.

Clearly \mathcal{B} satisfies the analog trace condition (i) of the current lemma by basic properties of the trace. Any $s \in M_1$ is extendable for \mathcal{B} because it is extendable for \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} is an abelian subscheme of \mathcal{A} . Finally [N]Y, as a subvariety of \mathcal{B} , is virtually monodromy invariant at each $s \in M_1$. To see this it suffices to prove that [N]Y is virtually monodromy invariant as a subvariety of \mathcal{A} by Proposition 5.4(ii). But then it suffices to show that $[N]Z_s$ is an irreducible component of $[N]Y_s$. This is true because $[N]Z_s$ is Zariski closed (as [N] is proper) and dim $[N]Y_s = \dim[N]Y - 1 = \dim Y - 1 = \dim Z_s = \dim[N]Z_s$.

We observe that $\dim \mathcal{B} = \dim B_s + 1 \leq (\dim \mathcal{A}_s - 1) + 1 = \dim \mathcal{A} - 1$. By induction there is an abelian scheme \mathcal{C} over S and a homomorphism $\psi \colon \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ of abelian schemes over S whose kernel contains [N]Y and $\dim \ker \psi = \dim[N]Y$ $= \dim Y$. Then $(\ker \psi)^\circ$, the identity component [8, §6.4] of ker ψ , has dimension dim Y and is an abelian subscheme of \mathcal{B} and hence of \mathcal{A} . There exists an integer $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $[m] \ker \psi \subseteq (\ker \psi)^\circ$. In particular, $[mN]Y \subseteq (\ker \psi)^\circ$. Note that dim $(\ker \psi)^\circ = \dim \ker \psi = \dim Y$.

Now it suffices to take $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{C}$ to be the composition $\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{[mN]} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}/(\ker \psi)^{\circ}$.

Case 2: The set M_2 is uncountable. For all $s \in M_2$, there exists an abelian subvariety $B_s \subseteq \mathcal{A}_s$ with dim $B_s \ge 1$ and $Z_s + B_s = Z_s$. Note that dim $Y \ge 2$ since dim $Z_s \ge 1$, so we are not in the minimal case.

By condition (ii) there exists an abelian subscheme $\mathcal{B}(s)$ of \mathcal{A} such that $\mathcal{B}(s) \cap \mathcal{A}_s = B_s$ for any $s \in M_2$. Since M_2 is uncountable and \mathcal{A} has only countably many abelian subschemes, we may replace M_2 by an uncountable subset and assume that there exists an abelian subscheme \mathcal{B} of \mathcal{A} with $\mathcal{B}(s) = \mathcal{B}$, i.e., $\mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{A}_s = B_s$, for all $s \in M_2$.

We shall work with the abelian scheme \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B} over S. Let $\varphi: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B}$ be the natural quotient. Then any fiber of φ has dimension $\dim_S \mathcal{B} = \dim \mathcal{B} - 1$. The condition $Z_s + B_s = Z_s$ implies that the fibers of $\varphi|_{Z_s}$ have dimension $\dim B_s = \dim \mathcal{B} - 1$ for all $s \in M_2$. Since $\bigcup_{s \in M_2} Z_s$ is Zariski dense in Y by dimension reasons, we see that a general fiber of $\varphi|_Y$ has dimension $\dim \mathcal{B} - 1$. Thus by Fiber Dimension Theorem we have

$$\dim Y = \dim \mathcal{B} - 1 + \dim \varphi(Y).$$

Clearly \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B} satisfies the analog trace condition (i) of the current lemma by basic properties of the trace. Any $s \in M_2$ is extendable for \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B} because any abelian subvariety of $(\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B})_s$ is the quotient of an abelian subvariety of \mathcal{A}_s and s is extendable for \mathcal{A} . Finally $\varphi(Y)$ is virtually monodromy invariant above all points in M_2 by Proposition 5.4(ii).

Now since $\dim(\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B}) = \dim \mathcal{A} - \dim B_s \leq \dim \mathcal{A} - 1$, there exist by induction an abelian scheme \mathcal{C} over S and a homomorphism $\psi \colon \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ whose kernel has dimension $\varphi(Y)$ and contains $\varphi(Y)$. Then $Y \subseteq \ker(\psi \circ \varphi)$ since $\varphi(Y) \subseteq \ker(\psi)$. But

$$\dim \ker(\psi \circ \varphi) = \dim_S \mathcal{B} + \dim \ker(\psi) = \dim \mathcal{B} - 1 + \dim \varphi(Y) = \dim Y.$$

So $\psi \circ \varphi \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{C}$ is what we desire.

5.4. End of the proof of Theorem 4.1. Now we are ready to prove Theorem 5.1. Let Y be an irreducible closed subvariety that is degenerate. We want to prove that Y is generically special.

Note that being generically special is a property on the geometric generic fiber. Moreover, it is enough to show that one irreducible component on the geometric generic fiber of Y has the property stated in Definition 1.2. We will remove finitely many points from S and replace S by a finite and étale covering S', which we assume to be irreducible throughout this proof. Observe that the base change Y' of Y may no longer be irreducible. But it is étale over Y and thus reduced. In particular, Y' is flat over Y and thus over S. It follows that Y' is equidimensional of dimension dim Y by [31, Cor. III.9.6]. Note that if U is an open subset of Y^{an} consisting of degenerate points for Y, then its preimage will be open in Y'^{an} and consist of degenerate points.

So to ease notation, we will write S' = S below and take Y to be an irreducible component of Y'.

Let A be the generic fiber of \mathcal{A} . After possibly removing finitely many points from S and replacing them by a finite étale covering, we may assume that $A^{\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}/\mathbb{C}} = A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}}$. We also assume that all abelian subvarieties of $A \otimes_{\mathbb{C}(S)}$ $\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}$ are defined over $\mathbb{C}(S)$. By passing to a further finite étale covering we may assume that \mathcal{A} satisfies the hypothesis of Lemma 5.7. Let $\Sigma \subseteq S(\mathbb{C})$ be a countable subset such that any element in $S(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \Sigma$ is extendable for \mathcal{A} .

Let U be a non-empty, open subset of $Y^{\mathrm{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}$ consisting of degenerate points for Y; here is Δ as above Theorem 5.1.

If $s \in S^{\operatorname{an}}$, then $\pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s)$ acts on $\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}$ via (5.4). We have proven in Proposition 5.4 that $\tilde{\rho}(\gamma)(P) \in Y^{\operatorname{an}}$ for all $P \in U$ and all $\gamma \in \pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s)$. This property continues to hold with U replaced by the union $\bigcup_{\gamma} \tilde{\rho}(\gamma)(U)$ over $\pi_1(S^{\operatorname{an}}, s)$. Note that U is open and invariant under the action of the fundamental group.

Let Z be an irreducible component of Y_s with $Z^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U \neq \emptyset$. The representation $\tilde{\rho}$ maps $Z^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U$ into Y_s^{an} . As everything is real analytic, we see that for each $\gamma \in \pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$, there is an irreducible component Z' of Y_s such that $\tilde{\rho}(\gamma)(Z^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U) \subseteq Z'^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U$. Because all irreducible components of Y_s have dimension equal to dim Y-1, by the Invariance of Domain Theorem we conclude that Z' is uniquely determined by $\tilde{\rho}(\gamma)(Z^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U) \subseteq Z'^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U$ among all irreducible components of Y_s . We conclude that $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$ acts on the finite set of irreducible components of Y_s that meet U. Therefore, $\tilde{\rho}(\gamma)(Z^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U) \subseteq Z^{\mathrm{an}} \cap U$ for all γ in a finite index subgroup of $\pi_1(S^{\mathrm{an}}, s)$.

The smooth locus of Z^{an} is path-connected, lies dense in Z^{an} , and contains a point of $Z^{\operatorname{an}} \cap U$. By fixing piece-wise real analytic paths we find that $\tilde{\rho}(\gamma)(Z^{\operatorname{an}}) \subseteq Z^{\operatorname{an}}$ for all γ in the finite index subgroup mentioned before.

The arguments above show that Y is virtually monodromy invariant above s. Clearly, $U \setminus \Sigma$ is an uncountable set as U is open in S^{an} and non-empty.

Let us suppose $A^{\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}/\mathbb{C}} = 0$ for the moment. We can apply Lemma 5.8 to Y, \mathcal{A} , and M equal to the set of s obtained from $U \setminus \Sigma$ and conclude that Y is an irreducible component of a subgroup scheme of \mathcal{A} that is generically special. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.1 in the current case.

Let us turn to the general case. Recall that $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ is an abelian scheme with generic fiber A whose $\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}$ -trace is $A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}}$. We take A_0 to be $A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}(S) \subseteq A$. So the $\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}$ -trace of A/A_0 vanishes; cf. [14, Th. 6.4 and the following comment]. Moreover, $(A/A_0)^{\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}/\mathbb{C}} = 0$ as $A^{\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}/\mathbb{C}} = A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}}$.

By [8, Prop. 3, §7.5], the Néron model \mathcal{B} of A/A_0 is an abelian scheme over S and sits in the short exact sequence of abelian schemes over S

$$0 \to A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}} \times S \to \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathcal{B} \to 0.$$

In A we fix an abelian subvariety C that meets A_0 in a finite set and with $A_0 + C = A$. Let C be the Néron model of C. It is an abelian scheme over S, and we may assume $C \subseteq A$. The restriction $\varphi|_{\mathcal{C}} \colon C \to \mathcal{B}$ is dominant and proper, hence surjective. It is fiberwise an isogeny of abelian varieties. We conclude $(A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}} \times S) + C = \mathcal{B}$.

As Y is degenerate, there exists an open and non-empty U subset of Y^{an} of degenerate points. By shrinking U, we may assume that $\varphi|_Y : Y \to \varphi(Y)$ is smooth at all points of U. So $\varphi(U)$ is open in $\varphi(Y)^{\mathrm{an}}$. This set consists of degenerate points for $\varphi(Y)$. By the previous case $(A^{\overline{\mathbb{C}(S)}/\mathbb{C}} = 0)$, the set of $P \in U$ such that $\varphi(P)$ has finite order in the corresponding fiber of \mathcal{B} lies Zariski dense in Y.

We consider such a P, suppose $\varphi(P)$ has order N, and write P = Q + Rwith $Q \in (A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}} \times S)(\mathbb{C})$ and $R \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{C})$, where Q, R lie in the same fiber above S as P. So $0 = [N](\varphi(P)) = \varphi([N](R))$. As $R \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{C})$, it must have finite order N'. Moreover, $R \in Y - \sigma_Q$, where σ_Q is the image of a constant section $S \to A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}} \times S$ with value Q. The Betti map is constant on sufficiently small open subsets of σ_Q as $A^{\mathbb{C}(S)/\mathbb{C}} \times S$ is a constant abelian scheme. Therefore, R is a degenerate point of $Y - \sigma_Q$.

Recall that the order of a point is constant on a fiber of the Betti map. By the second claim in Proposition 5.4(i), there exists an irreducible component $C \subseteq C[N']$ containing R with $C \subseteq Y - \sigma_Q$.

We conclude that P is a point of $\sigma_Q + C$, a generically special subvariety of \mathcal{A} . As this holds for a Zariski dense set of P in Y, we conclude from Proposition 1.3 that Y is generically special.

6. Construction of the auxiliary variety

In this section we work in the category of schemes over an algebraically closed subfield F of \mathbb{C} . We abbreviate \mathbb{P}_F^m by \mathbb{P}^m throughout this section. Suppose S is a smooth irreducible algebraic curve. Let \mathcal{A} be an abelian scheme of relative dimension $g \geq 1$ over S with structural morphism $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$. For a closed subvariety $X \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ and $s \in S(F)$, we write $X_s = \pi^{-1}(s)$.

We assume that \mathcal{A} comes equipped with an admissible immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ as in Section 2.2; i.e., it satisfies conditions (A1), (A2), and (A3) in Section 2.2. In particular, each fiber \mathcal{A}_s of π with $s \in S(F)$ is an abelian variety in \mathbb{P}^M . On this projective space we let deg(\cdot) denote the degree of an algebraic set.

In this section X will denote an irreducible, closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} that dominates S and with $X \neq \mathcal{A}$. Hence $\pi|_X \colon X \to S$ is surjective as $\pi|_X$ is proper. We write dim $X = \dim \mathcal{A} - n = g + 1 - n$, where $n \geq 1$ is the codimension of X in \mathcal{A} .

Let $\Delta \subseteq S^{\operatorname{an}}$ be a non-empty open subset with Betti map $b: \pi^{-1}(\Delta) = \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$; see Proposition 4.1. We recall that \mathbb{T} denotes the circle group. It is convenient to write $X_{\Delta} = X^{\operatorname{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}$.

The following convention will be used in this section. If P is a point on a real (resp. complex) analytic manifold Y, then $T_P(Y)$ denotes the tangent space of Y at P. This is an \mathbb{R} - resp. \mathbb{C} -vector space, depending on whether Y is a real or complex analytic manifold. If Z is another real (resp. complex) analytic manifold and $f: Y \to Z$ is a real (resp. complex) analytic mapping, then $T_P(f)$ denotes the differential $T_P(Y) \to T_{f(P)}(Z)$. It is \mathbb{R} - (resp. \mathbb{C})-linear. Let $\operatorname{im}(T_P(f))$ denote the image of $T_P(f)$ in $T_{f(P)}(Z)$.

Recall that $X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}$ is the complex analytic space attached to the smooth locus X^{sm} of X. If $P \in \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \cap \mathcal{A}(F)$, then $b|_{X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta}} \colon X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ is a real analytic map. The condition in the proposition below concerns the image of its differential.
PROPOSITION 6.1. We keep the notation from above and assume that X is not generically special. Suppose $P \in \mathcal{A}_{\Delta} \cap \mathcal{A}(F)$ with $\pi(P) = s$ such that P is a smooth point of X_s and of X with

(6.1)
$$\dim \operatorname{im}(T_P(b|_{X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}})) = 2 \dim X.$$

Then there exists a closed irreducible subvariety $Z \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ over F with the following properties:

- (i) We have $\dim Z = n$ and Z dominates S.
- (ii) We have that P is a smooth point of Z_s and of Z.
- (iii) The fiber Z_s does not contain any positive dimensional coset in \mathcal{A}_s .
- (iv) There exists $D \ge 1$ such that $\deg Z_t \le D$ for all $t \in S(\mathbb{C})$.
- (v) We have $\operatorname{im}(T_P(b|_{X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}})) \cap \operatorname{im}(T_P(b|_{(Z_s)^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}})) = 0$ in $T_{b(P)}(\mathbb{T}^{2g})$.

Moreover, the set

$$\{t \in S(\mathbb{C}) : Z_t \text{ contains a positive dimensional coset in } \mathcal{A}_t\}$$

is finite.

Condition (v) implies that Z_s and X_s intersect transversally in \mathcal{A}_s . Condition (i) implies that Z_t is equidimensional of dimension n-1 for all $t \in S(F)$ by [31, Cor. III.9.6 and Prop. III.9.7].

We will prove this proposition in the next few subsections; see Sections 6.1– 6.2 for the construction of Z and Section 6.4 for the "Moreover" part. But first, let us relate its hypothesis (6.1) to our notion of generically special. A crucial point is to use Theorem 5.1.

LEMMA 6.2. Suppose that X is not generically special. Then there exists $P \in X^{sm}(F)$ with $\pi(P) \in \Delta$ and $P \in (X_{\pi(P)})^{sm}(F)$ that satisfies (6.1).

Proof. Let us consider the restriction

$$b|_{X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}}:X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}\to\mathbb{T}^{2g}.$$

Observe that domain and target are smooth manifolds of dimension $2 \dim X$ and 2g, respectively.

Let $r \in \{0, \ldots, 2g\}$ denote the largest possible rank of $T_P(b|_{X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}})$ as P ranges over the domain. Then there exists an open and non-empty subset \mathfrak{U} of $X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}$ on which the rank is r. It follows from [56, App. II, Cor. 7F] that any fiber of $b|_{\mathfrak{U}} \colon \mathfrak{U} \to b(\mathfrak{U})$ is a smooth manifold of dimension $2 \dim X - r$.

By hypothesis and Theorem 5.1 the variety X is not degenerate. In particular, there exists $P \in \mathfrak{U}$ that is not degenerate for X. So the fiber of $b|_{\mathfrak{U}}$ through P contains P as an isolated point. So we have $r = 2 \dim X$.

By continuity we may assume that (6.1) holds for all $P \in \mathfrak{U}$, after possibly shrinking \mathfrak{U} .

On the other hand, the set $U = \{P \in X^{sm}(F) : \pi|_X : X \to S \text{ is smooth at } P\}$ is Zariski open and dense in X. So $U(F) \cap \mathfrak{U} \neq \emptyset$ because F is algebraically closed and dense in \mathbb{C} . Now any point $P \in U(F) \cap \mathfrak{U}$ satisfies the desired properties as S is smooth. \Box

For the further construction of Z, we assume that P is as in this lemma.

6.1. The first four properties. We show how to construct Z satisfying the first four properties in the proposition. Indeed, our construction will show that a generic choice, in a suitable sense, of Z will suffice for (i)–(iv). Later on we will see how to obtain, in addition, (v) and deduce the final statement.

Let P be as in the hypothesis of Proposition 6.1. Recall that \mathcal{A} comes with an admissible immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ as in Section 2.2. Observe that $\mathcal{A}_s \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$ is Zariski closed, irreducible, and contains P as a smooth point as it is an abelian variety. By property (A3) a generic homogeneous linear form $f \in F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$ vanishing at P satisfies the following property. The intersection of the zero locus $\mathscr{Z}(f)$ of f with \mathcal{A}_s contains no positive dimensional cosets in \mathcal{A}_s . Here generic means that we may allow the coefficients of f to come from a Zariski open dense subset of all possible coefficient vectors.

According to Bertini's Theorem there are linearly independent homogeneous linear forms $f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n} \in F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$ such that their set of common zeros $\mathscr{Z}(f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n})$ in \mathbb{P}^M intersects \mathcal{A}_s in a Zariski closed set Z' that is smooth at P and of dimension dim $\mathcal{A}_s - (g+1-n) = g - (g+1-n) = n-1$. If $n \geq 2$, we may arrange that Z' is irreducible by applying a suitable variant of Bertini's Theorem. By the previous paragraph, we can arrange that Z' contains no positive dimensional cosets in \mathcal{A}_s . We will see that this establishes (ii), (iii), and (iv) with our choice of Z below.

Note that a generic choice of (f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n}) in $F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]^{\oplus (g+1-n)}$, where each entry has degree one, that vanishes at P will have the property described in the previous paragraph. Here generic means that we may allow the coefficient vector attached to (f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n}) to come from a Zariski open dense subset of all possible coefficient vectors that lead to linear forms with coefficients in F vanishing at P. We may arrange f_1 to be an f as in the last paragraph, so Z' contains no coset of positive dimension.

Each irreducible component of

(6.2)
$$(\mathscr{Z}(f_1,\ldots,f_{g+1-n})\times\mathbb{P}^m)\cap\mathcal{A}$$

has dimension at least n. Suppose Z is an irreducible component of (6.2) that contains P. By the Fiber Dimension Theorem we find dim $Z_s \ge \dim Z - \dim \pi(Z) \ge \dim Z - 1$. As dim Z' = n - 1 and $Z_s \subseteq Z'$, we conclude dim $Z \le n$. Thus dim Z = n, dim $\pi(Z) = 1$, and dim $Z_s = n - 1$. This implies both claims in (i).

If n = 1, then dim $Z_s = 0$ and hence P is smooth in Z_s . If $n \ge 2$, then $Z_s = Z'$ and hence P is smooth in Z_s by construction. Now as P is smooth in Z_s and s is smooth in S, P is also smooth in Z. This establishes (ii).

If n = 1, then dim $Z_s = 0$ and (iii) clearly holds. If $n \ge 2$, then by construction Z_s satisfies (iii). In both cases, Z_t is a union of irreducible components of $\mathscr{Z}(f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n}) \cap \mathcal{A}_t$ for all but at most finitely many $t \in S(\mathbb{C})$. For these t, we conclude deg $Z_t \le \deg \mathcal{A}_t$ from Bézout's Theorem. But $\mathcal{A} \to S$ is a flat family embedded in $\mathbb{P}^M \times S \to S$, so deg $\mathcal{A}_t \le D$ for some $D \ge 1$ depending only on \mathcal{A} and the immersion. We can take care of the remaining finitely many fibers by increasing D if necessary. Thus we have established (iv).

6.2. The fifth property.

6.2.1. Linear algebra. For a \mathbb{C} -vector space T, we write $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ for T with its natural structure as an \mathbb{R} -vector space. For example, if T is finite dimensional, then dim $T_{\mathbb{R}} = 2 \dim T$. A vector subspace V_0 of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ is naturally an \mathbb{R} -vector space. We denote by $\mathbb{C}V_0$ the smallest vector subspace of T containing V_0 . For example, if $V_0 = \mathbb{R}v_1 + \cdots + \mathbb{R}v_k$, then $\mathbb{C}V_0 = \mathbb{C}v_1 + \cdots + \mathbb{C}v_k$. Let J denote the multiplication by $\sqrt{-1}$ map $J: T \to T$. Then $(\mathbb{C}V_0)_{\mathbb{R}} = V_0 + JV_0$. A vector subspace of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a vector subspace of T if and only if it is J-invariant.

In this section $g \geq 1$ is an integer. We show that an even dimensional real subspace of \mathbb{C}^{g} intersects some complex subspace of complementary real dimension transversally.

LEMMA 6.3. Let T be a \mathbb{C} -vector space of dimension g, and suppose W is a vector subspace of T with dim W = m. Let V_0 be a vector subspace of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ of dimension 2m + 2k that contains W. Then there exists a vector subspace V of T of dimension g - (m + k) such that $V \cap V_0 = 0$.

Before proving this lemma, let us do the following preparation.

LEMMA 6.4. Let \mathbb{C}^{2k} be the standard complex vector space of dimension 2k, and let $\mathbb{R}^{2k} \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{2k}$ be the real part of \mathbb{C}^{2k} , i.e., $\mathbb{C}^{2k} = \mathbb{R}^{2k} \oplus \sqrt{-1}\mathbb{R}^{2k}$. Then there exists a vector subspace V of \mathbb{C}^{2k} of dimension k such that $V \cap \mathbb{R}^{2k} = 0$.

Proof. For any j = 1, ..., 2k, we let $e_j = (0, ..., 0, 1, 0, ..., 0) \in \mathbb{C}^{2k}$ be the vector with the *j*-th entry being 1 and the other entries being 0.

For any i = 1, ..., k, we let $v_i = e_{2i-1} + \sqrt{-1}e_{2i} \in \mathbb{C}^{2k}$. We show that the complex vector space $V = \mathbb{C}v_1 + \cdots + \mathbb{C}v_k$ satisfies the desired property.

Indeed, dim V = k as v_1, \ldots, v_k are \mathbb{C} -linearly independent. So it remains to show $V \cap \mathbb{R}^{2k} = 0$. Any vector in V is of the form $c_1v_1 + \cdots + c_kv_k$ for some $c_1, \ldots, c_k \in \mathbb{C}$. If $c_1v_1 + \cdots + c_kv_k \in \mathbb{R}^{2g}$, then we have

 $c_i \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sqrt{-1}c_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

Thus $c_1 = \cdots = c_k = 0$.

LEMMA 6.5. Let U be a \mathbb{C} -vector space of dimension 2k and let V_0 be a vector subspace of $U_{\mathbb{R}}$ of dimension 2k such that $\mathbb{C}V_0 = U$. Then there exists a vector subspace V of U of dimension k such that $V \cap V_0 = 0$.

Proof. We take a basis of V_0 , which is an \mathbb{R} -vector space, and call it e_1, \ldots, e_{2k} . Since $\mathbb{C}V_0 = U$, we have $U = \mathbb{C}e_1 + \cdots + \mathbb{C}e_{2k}$. But dim U = 2k, so e_1, \ldots, e_{2k} form a basis of U.

Now under the identification $U = \mathbb{C}^{2k}$ via the basis e_1, \ldots, e_{2k} , the vector subspace V_0 of U becomes the real part of \mathbb{C}^{2k} . We can apply the previous lemma to conclude.

Now we are ready to prove Lemma 6.3.

Proof of Lemma 6.3. We begin by showing that we can reduce to the case m = 0. If the lemma is known when m = 0, then we apply it to the \mathbb{C} -vector space T/W and the image of the \mathbb{R} -vector space V_0 in this quotient to get a vector subspace V' of T/W of dimension g - (m + k). Let W^{\perp} be a vector subspace of T with $W + W^{\perp} = T$ and $W \cap W^{\perp} = 0$. Then the natural linear map $W^{\perp} \to T/W$ is an isomorphism. The preimage of V' under this map is the vector subspace that we desire.

Now we treat the case m = 0; note that W = 0 in this case. As above we write J for multiplication by $\sqrt{-1}$ on T. Then $(\mathbb{C}V_0)_{\mathbb{R}} = V_0 + JV_0$.

Case (i): The \mathbb{R} -vector space V_0 contains no non-zero vector subspace of T. In this case $V_0 \cap JV_0$, being a J-invariant vector subspace of V_0 , must be trivial. So $\dim(\mathbb{C}V_0)_{\mathbb{R}} = \dim V_0 + \dim JV_0 = 2k + 2k = 4k$ and hence $\dim \mathbb{C}V_0 = 2k \leq g$. Thus we can apply the previous lemma to $U = \mathbb{C}V_0$ and V_0 to get a vector subspace V' of $\mathbb{C}V_0$ of dimension k such that $V' \cap V_0 = 0$. Then it suffices to take V = V' + V'' for any vector subspace $V'' \subseteq T$ with $\mathbb{C}V_0 + V'' = T$ and $\mathbb{C}V_0 \cap V'' = 0$.

Case (ii): General case. We write V_0^J for the largest *J*-invariant vector subspace of V_0 . As it is *J*-invariant by definition, we consider it as a \mathbb{C} -vector space. Then $T' = T/V_0^J$ is a \mathbb{C} -vector space of dimension $g - \dim V_0^J$, and $V_0' = V_0/V_0^J$ is a vector subspace of $T'_{\mathbb{R}}$ of dimension $2(k - \dim V_0^J)$.

We claim that V'_0 contains no non-zero vector subspace of the \mathbb{C} -vector space T'. If U' is a vector subspace of T' with $U' \subseteq V'_0$, then its preimage under the quotient $T \to T' = T/V_0^J$ is a vector subspace of T that is contained in V_0 and that contains V_0^J . The maximality of V_0^J yields U' = 0.

Now we can apply case (i) to T' and $V'_0 \subseteq T'_{\mathbb{R}}$ to get a vector subspace V' of T' of dimension $(g - \dim V_0^J) - (k - \dim V_0^J) = g - k$ such that $V' \cap V'_0 = 0$. Let V'' be the preimage of V' under the quotient $T \to T' = T/V_0^J$. Then V'' is a vector subspace of T with dimension $g - k + \dim V_0^J$ such that $V'' \cap V_0 = V_0^J$. Recall that V_0^J is a vector subspace of the \mathbb{C} -vector space T and hence a vector subspace of V''. Now it suffices to let V be any complement of V_0^J in V''. \Box

Let g and T be as in Lemma 6.3, and suppose $k \ge 0$ is an integer. Let $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k)$ denote the set of all 2k-dimensional vector subspaces of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$. On identifying $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ with \mathbb{R}^{2g} we may use Plücker coordinates to identify $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k)$ with a closed subset of $\mathbb{P}^{N}(\mathbb{R})$, where $N = \binom{2g}{2k} - 1$.

Note that $\mathbb{P}^{N}(\mathbb{R})$ is equipped with the archimedean topology that makes it a compact Hausdorff space. We will use this topology and its induced subspace topology on $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k)$.

Multiplication by $\sqrt{-1}$ induces an \mathbb{R} -linear automorphism $T_{\mathbb{R}} \to T_{\mathbb{R}}$ and hence a self-map $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k) \to \operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k)$. By the Cauchy-Binet Formula this self-map can be described on $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k) \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{N}(\mathbb{R})$ by linear forms. Its fixpoints are precisely the 2k-dimensional vector subspaces of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ that are k-dimensional vector subspaces of T. We write $\operatorname{Gr}(T, k)$ for the set of these fix points. It is a closed subset of $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2k)$. In this notation we can use Lemma 6.3 to prove the following.

LEMMA 6.6. Let T be a \mathbb{C} -vector space of dimension g, and suppose W is a vector subspace of T with dim $W = m \leq g-1$. Let V be a vector subspace of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ of dimension 2(m+1) that contains W. There exists a non-empty open (in the archimedean topology) subset $\mathfrak{U} \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}(T, g - m - 1)$ such that $V' \cap V = 0$ for all $V' \in \mathfrak{U}$.

Proof. By the Cauchy-Binet Formula the set

 $\{V' \in Gr(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2(g - m - 1)) : V' \cap V = 0\}$

is the complement in $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2(g - m - 1))$ of the zero set of a homogeneous linear polynomial defined on the projective coordinates of \mathbb{P}^N . So the set in question is open in $\operatorname{Gr}(T_{\mathbb{R}}, 2(g - m - 1))$. Its intersection \mathfrak{U} with $\operatorname{Gr}(T, g - m - 1)$ lies open in $\operatorname{Gr}(T, g - m - 1)$. But $\mathfrak{U} \neq \emptyset$ by Lemma 6.3 applied to the case k = 1.

6.2.2. Verification of (v) in Proposition 5.1. We retain the conventions made in Sections 6 and 6.1. So P is as in the hypothesis. We set up the various vector spaces needed in Lemma 6.6.

For T, we take the tangent space $T_P(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}})$, which is a \mathbb{C} -vector space of dimension g. Note that P and π are defined over F, so this complex space T also descends to F.

For W, we take the image of $T_P((X_s)^{sm,an})$ under the linear map

$$T_P((X_s)^{\mathrm{sm,an}}) \to T_P(\mathcal{A}_s^{\mathrm{an}})$$

induced by the inclusion $(X_s)^{\text{sm}} \to \mathcal{A}_s$. (Recall that P is a smooth point of X_s .) Its dimension equals dim $X_s = \dim X - 1 = g - n \leq g - 1$, which we define as m.

Finally, we take $V = \operatorname{im}(T_P(b|_{X^{\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{an}}\cap\mathcal{A}_{\Delta}}))$, which is a vector subspace of the \mathbb{R} -vector space $T_{b(P)}(\mathbb{T}^{2g})$. As $b|_{\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}} \colon \mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ is an isomorphism of real analytic spaces, we can identify $T_P(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}}) = T$ with $T_{b(P)}(\mathbb{T}^{2g})$ as \mathbb{R} -vector spaces. Therefore, $V \subseteq T_{\mathbb{R}}$ as in the setup of Lemma 6.6. Note that V does not carry a complex structure since we treat \mathbb{T}^{2g} as a real analytic space.

Our hypothesis (6.1) implies dim $V = 2 \dim X = 2(m+1)$. So the hypothesis of Lemma 6.6 is satisfied.

So there exists \mathfrak{U} open in $\operatorname{Gr}(T, g - m - 1)$; the latter is a compact Hausdorff space. Its points correspond to (g - m - 1)-dimensional vector subspaces of the \mathbb{C} -vector space T.

In Section 6.1 we saw that a generic choice of f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n} vanishing at P yields properties (i)–(iv) in the proposition. To obtain (v) we must make sure that $V \cap \operatorname{im}(T_P(b|_{(Z_s)^{\operatorname{sm,an}}})) = 0$. According to Lemma 6.6 this holds if $\operatorname{im}(T_P(b|_{(Z_s)^{\operatorname{sm,an}}}))$, a vector subspace of the \mathbb{C} -vector space $T_P(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}})$, under the identification of $T_{b(P)}(\mathbb{T}^{2g})$ with $T_P(\mathcal{A}_s^{\operatorname{an}})$ made above, lies in \mathfrak{U} . Ranging over all possible choices of f_1, \ldots, f_{g+1-n} as in Section 6.1 yields points in U(F) for some Zariski open dense subset $U \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}(T, g - m - 1)$. As \mathfrak{U} is open in the archimedean topology and since U(F) lies dense in $\operatorname{Gr}(T, g - m - 1)$, we have $\mathfrak{U} \cap U(F) \neq \emptyset$. Any element in $\mathfrak{U} \cap U(F)$ is sufficient, and this completes the proof.

6.3. A detour to Bézout's Theorem. In this subsection we prove the following degree bound on long intersections. It will be used to prove the "Moreover" part of Proposition 6.1 in the next subsection. In this subsection we temporarily allow F to be any algebraically closed field of characteristic 0.

PROPOSITION 6.7. Suppose V_1, \ldots, V_m are irreducible closed subvarieties of $\mathbb{P}_F^n = \mathbb{P}^n$ such that $\deg(V_i) \leq \delta$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. Let C_1, \ldots, C_r be all the irreducible components of $V_1 \cap \cdots \cap V_m$ of top dimension, which we denote by k. Then

(6.3)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \deg(C_i) \le \delta^{n-k}.$$

The crucial aspect of (6.3) is that the right-hand side is independent of m.

LEMMA 6.8. Let V be an irreducible closed subvariety of \mathbb{P}^n of degree δ . Then there exist finitely many irreducible hypersurfaces of \mathbb{P}^n of degree at most δ such that V is their intersection.

Proof. This is Faltings' [19, Prop. 2.1]. \Box

Proof of Proposition 6.7. By Lemma 6.8, we may assume that every V_i is an irreducible hypersurface for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. Then $V_i = \mathscr{Z}(f_i)$ is the zero

locus of an irreducible homogeneous polynomial $f_i \in F[X_0, \ldots, X_n]$ of degree at most δ .

We shall prove inductively on $s \in \{1, ..., n-k\}$ that there exist hypersurfaces $H_1, ..., H_{n-k}$ (possibly reducible) of degree at most δ such that for all $s \in \{1, ..., n-k\}$,

(i) each irreducible component of $\bigcap_{j=1}^{s} H_j$ has dimension at most n-s; (ii) and $C_i \subseteq \bigcap_{j=1}^{s} H_j$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.

Assume this for s = n-k. Then each C_i , being of dimension k, is an irreducible component of $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n-k} H_j$, and thus

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \deg C_i \le \prod_{j=1}^{n-k} \deg H_j \le \delta^{n-k}$$

by Bézout's Theorem (cf. [20, Exam. 8.4.6]), which holds here even though the hypersurfaces H_i may be reducible.

Let us take $H_1 = V_1$. Then deg $H_1 \leq \delta$. Now suppose we have constructed H_1, \ldots, H_{s-1} for some $2 \leq s \leq n-k$. Let W_1, \ldots, W_t be the irreducible components of $H_1 \cap \cdots \cap H_{s-1}$. Let $l \in \{1, \ldots, t\}$. Since $s \leq n-k$, we have dim $W_l > k$. By assumption each irreducible component of $\bigcap_{i=1}^m \mathscr{L}(f_i) = \bigcap_{i=1}^m V_i$ has dimension at most k, so there exists some $i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ such that $\tilde{f}_l = f_{i_0}$ does not vanish on W_l . Then $\tilde{f}_l \in F[X_0, \ldots, X_n]$ has degree at most δ and vanishes on $C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_r$. We may assume that deg $\tilde{f}_l = \delta$ after possibly multiplying \tilde{f}_l with a homogeneous polynomial of a suitable degree in general position.

Let $F[X_0, \ldots, X_n]_{\delta}$ be the union of 0 and the homogeneous polynomials in $F[X_0, \ldots, X_n]$ of degree δ . We can identify $F[X_0, \ldots, X_n]_{\delta}$ with $\mathbb{A}^{\binom{n+\delta}{n}}(F) = F^{\binom{n+\delta}{n}}$. Then

 $\{f \in \mathbb{A}^{\binom{n+\delta}{n}}(F) : f \text{ vanishes on } C_1 \cup \dots \cup C_r\}$

is the set of *F*-points of a linear subvariety $L \subseteq \mathbb{A}^{\binom{n+\delta}{n}}$, and $\{f \in L(F) : f|_{W_l} \neq 0\}$ defines a Zariski open U_l in *L* that is non-empty as $\tilde{f}_l \in U_l(F)$. Now *L* is irreducible, and so U_l is Zariski open and dense in *L*. In particular, the intersection

$$\Theta = \bigcap_{l=1}^{t} U_l(F)$$

is non-empty.

Now fix any $f_s \in \Theta$ and let $H_s = \mathscr{Z}(f_s)$. Then H_s has degree at most δ and no irreducible component of $H_1 \cap \cdots \cap H_{s-1} \cap H_s$ is an irreducible component of $H_1 \cap \cdots \cap H_{s-1}$. So the irreducible components of $H_1 \cap \cdots \cap H_s$ have dimension at most n - s using (i) in the case s - 1. Property (ii) clearly holds by the construction of the U_l .

6.4. *Control of bad fibers*. In this subsection we prove the "Moreover" part of Proposition 6.1.

Recall our setting: $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ is an abelian scheme of relative dimension $g \geq 1$ over a smooth irreducible curve, defined over $F \subseteq \mathbb{C}$. For simplicity, we assume $F = \mathbb{C}$. We have constructed an auxiliary subvariety Z of \mathcal{A} in Proposition 6.1. It remains to show that

 $\{t \in S(\mathbb{C}) : Z_t \text{ contains a positive dimensional coset in } \mathcal{A}_t\}$

is finite. It fact, we show that it follows from condition (iii) of Proposition 6.1. More precisely, we shall prove the following result.

PROPOSITION 6.9. Let Z be an irreducible closed subvariety of A dominating S. Suppose $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$ such that Z_s contains no positive dimensional cosets in \mathcal{A}_s . Then

 $\{t \in S(\mathbb{C}) : Z_t \text{ contains a positive dimensional coset in } \mathcal{A}_t\}$

is finite.

Proof. Let ℓ be a prime that we will choose in terms of \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{Z} , and s later on. We begin by introducing full level ℓ structure. We will take care to ensure that various quantities are uniform in ℓ .

Let S' be an irreducible, quasi-projective curve over \mathbb{C} that is also finite and étale over S such the base change $\mathcal{A}' = \mathcal{A} \times_S S'$ admits all ℓ^{2g} torsion sections

$$S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell].$$

We write $Z' = Z \times_S S'$, which comes with a closed immersion $Z' \to \mathcal{A}'$. Observe that Z may no longer be irreducible. But $Z' \to S'$ is flat as $Z \to S$ is; cf. [31, Prop. III.9.7]. So all irreducible components of Z' dominate S'. The morphism $Z' \to Z$ is finite and flat since $S' \to S$ is. Therefore Z' is equidimensional of dimension dim Z by [31, Cor. III.9.6]. Finally, Z' is reduced since $Z' \to Z$ is étale and Z is reduced. For any $t' \in S'(\mathbb{C})$ above $t \in S(\mathbb{C})$, we may identify the fiber Z_t with $Z'_{t'}$ and the fiber \mathcal{A}_t with $\mathcal{A}_{t'}$. Let Z'_1, \ldots, Z'_r be the irreducible components of Z'. Both $(Z'_i)_{t'}$ and Z_t are equidimensional of dimension dim $Z' - 1 = \dim Z - 1$ as $Z' \to S'$ and $Z \to S$ are flat; cf. [31, Cor. III.9.6]. Since $(Z'_i)_{t'} \subseteq Z_t$, an irreducible component of $(Z'_i)_{t'}$ is also an irreducible component of Z_t . Moreover, Z_t contains a positive dimensional coset in \mathcal{A}_t if and only if one among $(Z'_1)_{t'}, \ldots, (Z'_r)_{t'}$ contains a positive dimensional coset in $\mathcal{A}'_{t'}$.

To prove the proposition we may thus suppose that S = S', $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}'$, and Z is some Z'_i . In particular, ℓ^{2g} distinct torsion sections $S \to \mathcal{A}[\ell]$ exist.

For any non-zero torsion section $\sigma \colon S \to \mathcal{A}[\ell]$, we define

$$Z(\sigma) = Z \cap (Z - \sigma) \cap (Z - [2] \circ \sigma) \cap \dots \cap (Z - [\ell - 1] \circ \sigma)$$

by identifying a section $S \to \mathcal{A}$ with its image in \mathcal{A} . Then $Z(\sigma)$ is Zariski closed in \mathcal{A} .

Now suppose $t \in S(\mathbb{C})$ such that Z_t contains P + B, where $P \in \mathcal{A}_t(\mathbb{C})$ and $B \subseteq \mathcal{A}_t$ is an abelian subvariety of positive dimension. Therefore, $B[\ell]$ is a non-trivial group and there exists a section $\sigma : S \to \mathcal{A}[\ell]$ such that $\sigma(t) \in B[\ell] \setminus \{0\}$. Hence $\sigma(t) + B = B$, and we find

$$P + B = P + B - [k](\sigma(t)) \subseteq Z_t - [k](\sigma(t))$$
 for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

This implies $P + B \subseteq Z(\sigma)_t$. In particular, $t \in \pi(Z(\sigma))$.

Now π is a proper morphism, and so $\pi(Z(\sigma))$ is Zariski closed in S for all of the finitely many σ as above. In order to prove the proposition it suffices to show that s from Proposition 6.1 does not lie in any $\pi(Z(\sigma))$ if $\sigma \neq 0$, for then all $\pi(Z(\sigma))$ are finite. We will prove that $Z(\sigma)_s = \emptyset$ for all non-zero sections $\sigma \colon S \to \mathcal{A}[\ell]$.

Recall that the admissible immersion from the beginning of this section induces a polarization on \mathcal{A}_s and, as usual, we use deg(·) to denote the degree. This polarization and \mathcal{A}_s do not depend on the base changed defined using ℓ . Let us assume $Z(\sigma)_s \neq \emptyset$. This will lead to a contradiction for ℓ large in terms of Z_s, \mathcal{A}_s , and the polarization.

Note that

(6.4)
$$Z(\sigma)_s = Z_s \cap (Z_s - \sigma(s)) \cap \dots \cap (Z_s - [\ell - 1] \circ \sigma(s))$$

is Zariski closed in \mathcal{A}_s and stable under translation by the subgroup of $\mathcal{A}_s(\mathbb{C})$ of order ℓ that is generated by $\sigma(s)$. Observe that if W' is an irreducible component of $Z(\sigma)_s$ of maximal dimension, then $\sigma(s)+W'$ is also an irreducible component of $Z(\sigma)_s$. We define W to be the union of the top dimensional irreducible components of $Z(\sigma)_s$. The group generated by $\sigma(s)$ acts on the set of irreducible components of W.

Recall that Z_s and thus each $Z_s - [k](\sigma(s))$ with $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ is equidimensional of dimension dim Z - 1. All irreducible components that appear have degree bounded by a constant independent of the auxiliary prime ℓ . By (6.4) and Proposition 6.7 the degree deg(W) is bounded from above by a constant $c \geq 1$ that is independent of ℓ .

The number N of irreducible components of W is at most $\deg(W) \leq c$. If we assume $\ell > N$, then the symmetric group on N symbols contains no elements of order ℓ . So if we assume $\ell > c$, as we may, then $\sigma(s) + W' = W'$ for all irreducible components W' of W.

Now let us fix such an irreducible component W'. Then the subgroup generated by $\sigma(s)$ lies in the stabilizer $\operatorname{Stab}(W')$ of W'. By [15, Lemme 2.1(ii)], the degree of the stabilizer $\operatorname{Stab}(W')$ is bounded from above solely in terms $\operatorname{deg}(W')$ and $\operatorname{dim} W' \leq g$. Note also that $\operatorname{deg}(W') \leq \operatorname{deg}(W) \leq c$. Thus if ℓ is large in terms of c and g, then we can arrange $\ell > \operatorname{deg}\operatorname{Stab}(W')$. But $\operatorname{Stab}(W')$ contains $\sigma(s)$, which has order ℓ . Therefore B, the connected component of $\operatorname{Stab}(W')$ containing the neutral element, has positive dimension. Fix any $P \in W'(\mathbb{C})$. Then

$$P + B \subseteq W' \subseteq W \subseteq Z_s$$

contradicts the hypothesis that Z_s does not contain a positive dimensional coset.

7. Lattice points

For our abelian scheme $\mathcal{A} \to S$ and subvariety $X \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, we want to count the number of points in $[N]X \cap Z$ for each $N \gg 1$ where $Z \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is of complimentary dimension of X (as constructed in Proposition 6.1). It is equivalent to count the intersection points of [N]X - Z and the zero section of $\mathcal{A} \to S$. Via the Betti map and a local lift with respect to $\mathbb{R}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$, we obtain a subset $\tilde{U}_N \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2g}$ from [N]X - Z and we are led to counting lattice point in \tilde{U}_N . The goal of this section is to settle the lattice point counting problem.

Suppose $m, m' \in \mathbb{N}$, and let ψ be a function defined on a non-empty open subset U of $\mathbb{R}^{m'}$ with values in \mathbb{R}^m . We suppose that the coordinate functions of ψ lie in $C^1(U)$, the \mathbb{R} -vector space of real valued functions on U that are continuously differentiable. We write $D_z(\psi) \in \operatorname{Mat}_{mm'}(\mathbb{R})$ for the jacobian matrix of ψ evaluated at $z \in U$. We also set

$$|\psi|_{C^1} = \max\left\{\sup_{x\in U} |\psi(x)|, \sup_{x\in U} \left|\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x_1}(x)\right|, \dots, \sup_{x\in U} \left|\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x_{m'}}(x)\right|\right\} \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\};$$

here $|\cdot|$ is the maximum norm on \mathbb{R}^m . We write $vol(\cdot)$ for the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^m . Recall that all open subsets of \mathbb{R}^m are measurable.

For $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$, let $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose U_i is a non-empty open subset of \mathbb{R}^{m_i} . Let $\pi_1 \colon \mathbb{R}^{m_0+m_1+m_2} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_0+m_1}$ be defined by $\pi_1(w, x, y) = (w, x)$ and $\pi_2 \colon \mathbb{R}^{m_0+m_1+m_2} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_0+m_2}$ by $\pi_2(w, x, y) = (w, y)$.

We now suppose $m_0 = 2$ and $m = 2 + m_1 + m_2$. Let $\phi_1 : U_0 \times U_1 \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and $\phi_2 : U_0 \times U_2 \to \mathbb{R}^m$ have continuously differentiable coordinate functions and satisfy $|\phi_1|_{C^1} < \infty$ and $|\phi_2|_{C^1} < \infty$. Define

(7.1)
$$\psi_N(w, x, y) = N\phi_1(w, x) - \phi_2(w, y),$$

where $w \in U_0, x \in U_1$, and $y \in U_2$. Thus ψ_N has target \mathbb{R}^m and coordinate functions in $C^1(U)$ where $U = U_0 \times U_1 \times U_2$.

We write ϕ_{1j} and ϕ_{2j} for the coordinate functions of ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 , respectively. By abuse of notation we sometimes write $\phi_{1j}(z)$ for $\phi_{1j}(w, x)$ and $\phi_{2j}(z)$ for $\phi_{2j}(w, x)$ if z = (w, x, y) with $w \in U_0, x \in U_1, y \in U_2$.

The jacobian matrix $D_{(w,x,y)}(\psi_N) \in \operatorname{Mat}_m(\mathbb{R})$ equals

$$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} N \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial w_1} - \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial w_1} & N \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial w_2} - \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial w_2} & N \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial x_1} & \cdots & N \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial x_{m_1}} & - \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial y_1} & \cdots & - \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial y_{m_2}} \end{array}\right)$$

evaluated at $(w, x, y) \in U$. For fixed (w, x, y), the determinant det $D_{(w,x,y)}(\psi_N)$ is a polynomial in N of degree at most $2 + m_1$. More precisely, we have

 $\det D_{(w,x,y)}(\psi_N) = \delta_0(w,x,y)N^{2+m_1} + \delta_1(w,x,y)N^{1+m_1} + \delta_2(w,x,y)N^{m_1},$

where the crucial term is

(7.2)

 $\delta_0(w,x,y) = \det \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial w_1} & \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial w_2} & \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial x_1} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial x_{m_1}} & -\frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial y_1} & \cdots & -\frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial y_{m_2}} \end{array} \right) \Big|_{(w,x,y)}.$

If x is in any power of \mathbb{R} and r > 0, we let $B_r(x)$ denote the open ball of radius r around x with respect to $|\cdot|$.

LEMMA 7.1. In the notation above, let $z_0 \in U$ with $\delta_0(z_0) \neq 0$. There exist two bounded open neighborhoods $U'' \subseteq U'$ of z_0 in U and a constant $c \in (0, 1]$ with the following properties:

(i) the map ϕ_1 is injective when restricted to $\pi_1(U') \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2+m_1}$,

and for all real numbers $N \ge c^{-1}$,

- (ii) the map $\psi_N|_{U'} \colon U' \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is injective and open,
- (iii) we have $\operatorname{vol}(\psi_N(U'')) \ge cN^{2+m_1}$, and
- (iv) we have $B_c(\psi_N(U'')) \subseteq \psi_N(U')$.

Proof. As the first order partial derivatives of all ϕ_{ij} are continuous we can find an open neighborhood U' of $z_0 = (w, x, y)$ in U such that the determinant of (7.3)

has absolute value at least $\varepsilon = |\delta(z_0)|/2 > 0$ for all $\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m \in U'$.

Observe that $D_{\pi_1(z_0)}(\phi_1)$ is an $m \times (2 + m_1)$ -matrix consisting of the first $2 + m_1$ columns as in the determinant (7.2). Our hypothesis $\delta_0(z_0) \neq 0$ implies that $D_{\pi_1(z_0)}(\phi_1)$ has maximal rank $2 + m_1$. By the Inverse Function Theorem we may, after shrinking U', assume that ϕ_1 restricted to $\pi_1(U')$ is injective. This implies (i).

We may shrink U' further and assume that

(7.4)
$$U'' = B_{\delta}(z_0) \subseteq U' = B_{2\delta}(z_0) \subseteq U$$

for some $\delta > 0$, a property we will need later on. Our constant c will depend on δ but not on N.

To show injectivity in (ii), let $z, z' \in U'$ and $N \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $\psi_N(z) = \psi_N(z')$. Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$, then $N\phi_{1j}(z) - \phi_{2j}(z) = N\phi_{1j}(z') - \phi_{2j}(z')$. By

the Mean Value Theorem there exists $\tilde{z}_j \in U'$ on the line segment connecting z and z' such that the column vector z - z' lies in the kernel of

$$\left(N\frac{\partial\phi_{1j}}{\partial w_1} - \frac{\partial\phi_{2j}}{\partial w_1}, N\frac{\partial\phi_{1j}}{\partial w_2} - \frac{\partial\phi_{2j}}{\partial w_2}, N\frac{\partial\phi_{1j}}{\partial x_1}, \dots, N\frac{\partial\phi_{1j}}{\partial x_{m_1}}, -\frac{\partial\phi_{2j}}{\partial y_1}, \dots, -\frac{\partial\phi_{2j}}{\partial y_{m_2}}\right)\Big|_{\tilde{z}_j}$$

Thus z - z' lies in the kernel of $M(\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m) \in \operatorname{Mat}_m(\mathbb{R})$ whose rows are these expressions as $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$.

The determinant of this matrix can be expressed as

$$\tilde{\delta}_0(\tilde{z}_1,\ldots,\tilde{z}_m)N^{2+m_1}+\tilde{\delta}_1(\tilde{z}_1,\ldots,\tilde{z}_m)N^{1+m_1}+\tilde{\delta}_2(\tilde{z}_1,\ldots,\tilde{z}_m)N^{m_1},$$

where $\hat{\delta}_0(\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m)$ is the determinant of (7.3). In particular, $|\hat{\delta}_0(\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m)| \ge \varepsilon$.

We recall that $|\phi_{1,2}|_{C^1} < \infty$. So for i = 1, 2, we find $|\tilde{\delta}_i(\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m)| \leq C$, where C depends only on ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 . For all sufficiently large $N \geq 1$, we have (7.5)

$$|\tilde{\delta}_0(\tilde{z}_1,\ldots,\tilde{z}_m)N^{2+m_1}+\cdots+\tilde{\delta}_2(\tilde{z}_1,\ldots,\tilde{z}_m)N^{m_1}| \ge \varepsilon N^{2+m_1}-2CN^{1+m_1}$$
$$\ge \frac{\varepsilon}{2}N^{2+m_1}.$$

And so, in particular, det $M(\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m) \neq 0$. As z - z' lies in the kernel of the relevant matrix, we conclude z = z'. Therefore, $\psi_N|_{U'}$ is injective for all large N. We conclude injectivity (ii)

If N is sufficiently large, then (7.5) implies $|\det M(z,...,z)| \ge \varepsilon N^{2+m_1}/2$ for all $z \in U'$. In particular, $D_z(\psi_N) = M(z,...,z)$ is invertible for all $z \in U'$. Hence ψ_N is locally invertible on U' and $\psi_N|_{U'}$ is an open map. This completes the proof of (ii).

As $\psi_N|_{U''}$ is injective and for N large, Integration by Substitution implies

$$\operatorname{vol}(\psi_N(U'')) = \int_{\psi_N(U'')} du = \int_{U''} |\det D_z(\psi_N)| dz \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{2} N^{2+m_1} \operatorname{vol}(U'').$$

This yields our claim in (iii) for small enough c.

To prove (iv) it suffices to verify that if $z \in U''$, then the distance $\Delta(z)$ of $\psi_N(z)$ to $\mathbb{R}^m \setminus \psi_N(U') \neq \emptyset$ is at least c for c > 0 sufficiently small and independent of N.

As the set $\mathbb{R}^m \setminus \psi_N(U')$ is closed in \mathbb{R}^m , it contains v, which depends on z and N, such that $\Delta(z) = |\psi_N(z) - v|$. As v realizes the minimal distance, the ball $B_{1/n}(v)$ must meet $\psi_N(U')$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us fix $z_n \in U'$ with $|\psi_N(z_n) - v| < 1/n$. Now U' is bounded, so after passing to a convergent subsequence we may assume that z_n converges towards $z' \in \overline{U'} = \overline{B_{2\delta}(z_0)}$.

We claim that $z' \notin U'$. Indeed, otherwise $\psi_N(z_n)$ would converge towards $\psi_N(z') \in \psi_N(U')$. But then $\psi_N(z') = v \in \mathbb{R}^m \setminus \psi_N(U')$ is a contradiction. We conclude

$$(7.6) |z'-z_0| = 2\delta$$

By the Mean Value Theorem we find

(7.7)
$$\psi_N(z) - \psi_N(z_n) = M(\tilde{z}_1, \dots, \tilde{z}_m)(z - z_n),$$

where $M(\cdot)$ is the matrix above and $\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_n$ lie on the line segment between z and z_n and thus in U'. As above, the absolute determinant of this matrix is at least $\varepsilon N^{2+m_1}/2$ for N large enough. The entries of the adjoint matrix have absolute value bounded by a fixed multiple of N^{2+m_1} . We find $|M(\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m)^{-1}| \leq c_1$ for the maximum norm where $c_1 > 0$ is independent of N and $\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_m$. We find that (7.7) implies

$$|z - z_n| = |M(\tilde{z}_1, \dots, \tilde{z}_m)^{-1}(\psi_N(z) - \psi_N(z_n))| \le c_2 |\psi_N(z) - \psi_N(z_n)|,$$

where $c_2 > 0$ is independent of N. Hence

$$|z - z_n| \le c_2(|\psi_N(z) - v| + |v - \psi_N(z_n)|) = c_2(\Delta(z) + |\psi_N(z_n) - v|)$$

by our choice of v. Recall that $|\psi_N(z_n) - v| < 1/n$ and $z \in U''$, which was defined in (7.4), so

$$|z_n - z_0| - \delta \le |z_n - z_0| - |z_0 - z| \le |z - z_n| \le c_2(\Delta(z) + 1/n).$$

By taking the limit as $n \to \infty$ we can replace z_n by z' on the left. We recall (7.6) and conclude $\Delta(z) \ge \delta/c_2$. Part (iv) follows as we may assume $\delta/c_2 \ge c$.

Our aim is to find many integral points in $\psi_N(U)$. If $\psi_N(U)$ has volume v, one could hope that $\psi_N(U)$ contains at least v points in \mathbb{Z}^m . Of course, simple examples show that this does not need to be true in general. Blichfeldt's Theorem guarantees that we can find at least this number of lattice points after possibly translating by a point in \mathbb{R}^m . In our situation we will be able to translate by a rational point of controlled denominator. For the reader's convenience, we repeat the hypothesis in the next proposition.

PROPOSITION 7.2. Let $U_0 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2, U_1 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{m_1}$, and $U_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{m_2}$ be non-empty open subsets, and suppose $\phi_1 \colon U_0 \times U_1 \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and $\phi_2 \colon U_0 \times U_2 \to \mathbb{R}^m$ have coordinate functions in $C^1(U_0 \times U_1)$ and $C^1(U_0 \times U_2)$, respectively, where m = $2 + m_1 + m_2$. We suppose that $|\phi_{1,2}|_{C^1} < \infty$. Let $z_0 \in U = U_0 \times U_1 \times U_2$ with $\delta_0(z_0) \neq 0$. For $N \in \mathbb{R}$, we define ψ_N as in (7.1). There exists a bounded open neighborhood U' of z_0 in U and a constant $c \in (0, 1]$ with the following property. For all integers $N_0 \ge c^{-1}$ and all real numbers $N \ge c^{-1}$, we have $\# (\psi_N(U') \cap N_0^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^m) \ge cN^{2+m_1}$.

Moreover, $\phi_1|_{\pi_1(U')}$ is injective, and $\psi_N|_{U'}$ is injective for all $N \ge c^{-1}$.

Proof. Let $U'' \subseteq U'$ and $c_1 > 0$ be as in Lemma 7.1, and suppose $N \ge c_1^{-1}$. Below we will use $\operatorname{vol}(\psi_N(U'')) \ge c_1 N^{2+m_1}$ and $B_{c_1}(\psi_N(U'')) \subseteq \psi_N(U')$.

By Blichfeldt's Theorem [12, Ch. III.2, Th. I], there exists $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$, which may depend on N, such that $\#(-x+\psi_N(U'')) \cap \mathbb{Z}^m \ge \operatorname{vol}(\psi_N(U'')) \ge c_1 N^{2+m_1}$. So there exist an integer $M \ge c_1 N^{2+m_1}, a_1, \ldots, a_M \in \mathbb{Z}^m$, and $z_1, \ldots, z_M \in U''$ such that

 $-x + \psi_N(z_i) = a_i \in \mathbb{Z}^m$ for all $i \in \{1, \dots, M\}$

and the a_i are pairwise distinct.

There exists $c_2 > 0$ such that if N_0 is any integer with $N_0 \ge c_2^{-1}$, then $B_{c_1}(x') \cap N_0^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^m \neq \emptyset$ for all $x' \in \mathbb{R}^m$.

Let us fix $q \in B_{c_1}(x) \cap N_0^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^m$, where x comes from Blichfeldt's Theorem. Then

$$q + a_i = (q - x) + x + a_i = (q - x) + \psi_N(z_i) \in B_{c_1}(\psi_N(z_i)) \subseteq \psi_N(U').$$

Observe $q + a_i \in N_0^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^m$ for all $i \in \{1, \dots, M\}$.

We have proved $\#(\psi_N(U') \cap N_0^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^m) \ge M \ge c_1 N^{2+m_1}$ for all $N \ge c_1^{-1}$ and all $N_0 \ge c_2^{-1}$. The proposition follows by taking $c = \min\{c_1, c_2\}$ and by the injectivity statements in (i) and (ii) of Lemma 7.1.

8. Intersection numbers

Let F be an algebraically closed subfield of \mathbb{C} . Let S be a smooth irreducible curve over F, and let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ be an abelian scheme over F of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. In this section we abbreviate \mathbb{P}_F^m by \mathbb{P}^m for integers $m \geq 1$.

We will use the basic setup introduced in Section 2.2. In particular, $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ is an admissible immersion.

PROPOSITION 8.1. Suppose X is an irreducible, closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} defined over F that dominates S and is not generically special. Then there exist

- a constant c > 0,
- a finite and étale covering $S' \to S$ where S' is an irreducible curve over F,
- and finitely many closed (not necessarily irreducible) subvarieties Y₁,..., Y_R of A' = A ×_S S',

such that the following holds for $X' = X \times_S S'$. For each integer $N \ge c^{-1}$, there exists $Y \in \{Y_1, \ldots, Y_R\}$ such that $X' \cap [N]^{-1}(Y)$ contains at least $r \ge cN^{2 \dim X}$ irreducible components of dimension 0.

Note that X' from the proposition is a closed subvariety of the abelian \mathcal{A}' scheme. It may not be irreducible, but it is equidimensional of dimension dim X since $S' \to S$ is finite and étale. Note also that each irreducible component of $X' \cap [N]^{-1}(Y)$ consists of one F-rational point as X' and $[N]^{-1}(Y)$ are defined over F.

We will prove Proposition 8.1 in the next few subsections.

8.1. Constructing a covering $S' \to S$. Further down we will need to pass to a finite and étale covering S' of S. In this subsection we make some preparations and mention some facts.

We recall our convention $F \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ and fix $P \in X(F)$ as in Lemma 6.2. By assumption on X and P, we have an irreducible closed subvariety $Z \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ defined over F satisfying the conclusion of Proposition 6.1. In particular, dim $Z = \operatorname{codim}_{\mathcal{A}} X = n$.

We fix a prime number ℓ satisfying

(8.1)
$$\ell > D^{2^{g+1}(g+1)},$$

where D comes from (iv) of Proposition 6.1. Later on, we will impose a second lower bound on ℓ .

There is a finite étale covering $S' \to S$ such that \mathcal{A}'/S' admits all the ℓ^{2g} torsion sections $S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell]$, where \mathcal{A}' is the abelian scheme $\mathcal{A} \times_S S'$ over S'. We may assume that S' is irreducible. The prescribed closed immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}_S^M$ induces a closed immersion $\mathcal{A}' \to \mathbb{P}_S^M$.

Observe that the induced morphism $\rho: \mathcal{A}' \to \mathcal{A}$ is finite and étale. So the pre-image of any irreducible subvariety Y of \mathcal{A}' is equidimensional of dimension dim Y.

Let $Z' = Z \times_S S'$; this is a closed subvariety of \mathcal{A}' that may not be irreducible. It is equidimensional of dimension dim Z. A further and crucial observation for our argument is that the fibers Z_t and $Z'_{t'}$ are equal if $t' \in S'(F)$ maps to $t \in S(F)$. So by Proposition 6.1(iv),

(8.2) the degree of any $Z'_{t'} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$ is bounded by D for all $t' \in S'(F)$,

and by the "Moreover" part of Proposition 6.1,

(8.3) at most finitely many fibers of $Z' \to S'$ over $S'(\mathbb{C})$ contain a coset of positive dimension in the respective fiber of $\mathcal{A}' \to S'$.

8.2. Local parametrization and lattice points. We keep the notation introduced above and prove the following intermediate counting result.

LEMMA 8.2. Let X be as in Proposition 8.1. Then there exist

- a constant c > 0;
- a prime number ℓ satisfying (8.1);
- and a finite étale covering $S' \to S$, with S' irreducible, admitting all the ℓ^{2g} torsion sections $S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell]$, with $\pi' \colon \mathcal{A}' \to S'$ the canonical morphism, $X' = X \times_S S'$, and $Z' = Z \times_S S'$

such that for all integers $N \geq c^{-1}$, the following holds. There exist $r \geq cN^{2\dim X}$ pairs $(P'_1, Q'_1), \ldots, (P'_r, Q'_r) \in X'(\mathbb{C}) \times Z'(\mathbb{C})$ such that the P'_1, \ldots, P'_r are pairwise distinct with the following properties for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$:

- (i) we have $\pi'(P'_i) = \pi'(Q'_i)$ and $[\ell N](P'_i) = [\ell](Q'_i);$
- (ii) the Zariski closed subset $Z'_{\pi'(P'_i)}$ of $\mathcal{A}'_{\pi'(P'_i)}$ does not contain any coset of positive dimension;

ZIYANG GAO and PHILIPP HABEGGER

(iii) if Y' is an irreducible closed subvariety of \mathcal{A}' such that $Q'_i \in Y'(\mathbb{C})$ and P'_i is not isolated in $X' \cap [\ell N]^{-1}([\ell](Y'))$, then there exists an ℓ -torsion section $\sigma \colon S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell]$ with $\sigma \neq 0$ and $Q'_i \in Y'(\mathbb{C}) \cap (Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma)(\mathbb{C})$.

Proof. We make use of the lattice point counting technique from Section 7. By Lemma 6.2 we have that P is a smooth point of X^{an} and $X^{an}_{\pi(P)}$. We have dim X = g+1-n, so we can trivialize the family $X^{an} \to S^{an}$ in a neighborhood of P in X^{an} using a smooth map $\tilde{\phi}_1$ defined on $U_0 \times U_1$, where $U_0 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ and $U_1 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2(g-n)}$ are both open and non-empty. We may assume that $\tilde{\phi}_1(0) = P$. After possibly shrinking U_0 and U_1 , we compose $\tilde{\phi}_1$ with \tilde{b} , the Betti map $b: \mathcal{A}_\Delta \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$ composed by a local inverse of $\mathbb{R}^{2g} \to \mathbb{T}^{2g}$. This yields a smooth map $\phi_1: U_0 \times U_1 \to \mathbb{R}^{2g}$ that produces the Betti coordinates relative to the local parametrization of X^{an} .

Now P is also a smooth point of Z^{an} . Recall that $\dim Z = n$. The same construction yields a non-empty and open subset $U_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2(n-1)}$ and a smooth map $\tilde{\phi}_2 \colon U_0 \times U_2 \to Z^{\operatorname{an}}$ with $\tilde{\phi}_2(0) = P$. We restrict if necessary and write $\phi_2 = \tilde{b} \circ \tilde{\phi}_2 \colon U_0 \times U_2 \to \mathbb{R}^{2g}$. The subsets U_0, U_1 and U_2 can be chosen to be bounded.

In this setting ϕ_1 parametrizes b(U), where $U \subseteq X^{\mathrm{an}}$ is a neighborhood of P in X and \tilde{b} is a local lift of the Betti map to \mathbb{R}^{2g} . Similarly, ϕ_2 parametrizes $\tilde{b}(V)$, where V is a neighborhood of P in Z^{an} .

We may assume, after shrinking U_0, U_1 , and U_2 if necessary, that $|\phi_1|_{C^1} < \infty$ and $|\phi_2|_{C^1} < \infty$. By Proposition 6.1(iii), the fiber $Z_{\pi(P)}$ contains no positive dimensional cosets in $\mathcal{A}_{\pi(P)}$. By (8.3) and up to shrinking U_0 , we may assume that

(8.4)

 Z_t contains no positive dimensional cosets in \mathcal{A}_t for all $t \in \pi(\phi_1(U_0 \times U_1))$.

For any $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(w, x, y) \in U_0 \times U_1 \times U_2$, we define a map

 $\psi_N(w, x, y) = N\phi_1(w, x) - \phi_2(w, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{2g}.$

Let $\pi_i: U_0 \times U_1 \times U_2 \to U_0 \times U_i$ be the natural projection for i = 1, 2 and $\delta_0(w, x, y)$ as above Lemma 7.1.

Condition (v) of Proposition 6.1 implies that $\delta_0(0) \neq 0$. So we can apply Proposition 7.2. There exists a bounded open neighborhood U' of 0 in $U_0 \times U_1 \times U_2$ and a constant $c \in (0, 1]$ with the following property. For all integers $N_0 \geq c^{-1}$ and $N \geq c^{-1}$, we have that $\phi_1|_{\pi_1(U')}$ and $\psi_N|_{U'}$ are injective and (8.5) $\#(\psi_N(U') \cap N_0^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^{2g}) \geq cN^{2+2(g-n)} = cN^{2\dim X}$.

Proposition 7.2 allows us to increase N_0 . From now on we fix N_0 to be a prime number ℓ that satisfies (8.1) and $\ell \geq c^{-1}$. As in Section 8.1 we fix a finite étale covering $S' \to S$ with S' irreducible such that $\mathcal{A}' := \mathcal{A} \times_S S' \to S'$ admits all the ℓ^{2g} torsion sections $S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell]$.

Recall that $|\phi_2|_{C^1} < \infty$, so is $\phi_2(U_0 \times U_2)$ is bounded and

(8.6)

 $# (\phi_2(U_0 \times U_2) - \phi_2(U_0 \times U_2)) \cap \ell^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^{2g} \le C \text{ for some } C \text{ independent of } N.$

Suppose $(w, x, y) \in U'$ satisfies $\psi_N(w, x, y) \in \ell^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$. Then $\ell N \phi_1(w, x) - \ell \phi_2(w, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$. For the Betti coordinates, we find on \mathcal{A} that

$$[\ell N](\phi_1(w,x)) = [\ell](\phi_2(w,y)) \in [\ell](Z)(\mathbb{C}).$$

Thus we get a mapping

(8.7)
$$\psi_N(U') \cap \ell^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^{2g} \ni \psi_N(w, x, y) \mapsto (\tilde{\phi}_1(w, x), \tilde{\phi}_2(w, y)) \in X(\mathbb{C}) \times Z(\mathbb{C}).$$

The image points are of the form (P_i, Q_i) and lie in the same fiber above Sand with $[\ell N](P_i) = [\ell](Q_i)$. By (8.5) these points arise from at least $cN^{2 \dim X}$ elements of $\psi_N(U') \cap \ell^{-1} \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ for all large N. We claim that up to adjusting cthe number of different P_i is also at least $cN^{2 \dim X}$.

So let $(w, x, y) \in U'$ with $\psi_N(w, x, y) \in \ell^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ whose image under (8.7) is (P_i, Q_i) . Let (P_j, Q_j) be a further pair with $P_i = P_j$ that comes from $\psi_N(w', x', y') \in \ell^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$, where $(w', x', y') \in U'$. Hence (w', x') = (w, x) as $\phi_1|_{\pi_1(U')}$ is injective. Thus $\phi_2(w', y') - \phi_2(w, y) = \psi_N(w, x, y) - \psi_N(w', x', y') \in \ell^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$. By (8.6) there are at most C possibilities for $\psi_N(w', x', y')$, when (x, y, z) is fixed. So there are at most C possibilities for (w', x', y') as ψ_N is injective on U'; recall that C may depend on ℓ but not on N.

After omitting pairs with duplicate P_i and replacing c by c/C we have found (P_i, Q_i) with pairwise different P_i for $1 \le i \le r$ and $r \ge cN^{2 \dim X}$.

Let $\rho: \mathcal{A}' \to \mathcal{A}$ denote the canonical morphism. We fix lifts $P'_i, Q'_i \in \mathcal{A}'(\mathbb{C})$ of P_i, Q_i respectively in the same fiber of $\mathcal{A}' \to S'$. So

(8.8)
$$[\ell N](P'_i) = [\ell](Q'_i) \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, r\}.$$

This yields claim (i) of the lemma.

As our points P_i lie above points in $\pi(\tilde{\phi}_1(U_0 \times U_1))$, we deduce (ii) from (8.4).

It remains to prove part (iii). Let Y' be as in (iii); namely, $Q'_i \in Y'(\mathbb{C})$ and P'_i is not isolated in $X' \cap [\ell N]^{-1}([\ell](Y'))$ for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$. To simplify notation we write $P' = P'_i$ and $Q' = Q'_i$.

Then there is a sequence $(P^{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}}$ of pairwise distinct points of $X'(\mathbb{C})$ that converges in X'^{an} to P' with $[\ell N](P^{\alpha}) \in [\ell](Y')(\mathbb{C})$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$. We fix $Q^{\alpha} \in Y'(\mathbb{C})$ with $[\ell N](P^{\alpha}) = [\ell](Q^{\alpha})$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus $\pi'(P^{\alpha}) = \pi'(Q^{\alpha})$ and by continuity the sequence $[\ell](Q^{\alpha})$ converges. Since $[\ell]$ induces a proper map $(\mathcal{A}')^{\mathrm{an}} \to (\mathcal{A}')^{\mathrm{an}}$, we may assume, after passing to a subsequence, that the Q^{α} converge in $(Y')^{\mathrm{an}}$ to some $Q'' \in Y'(\mathbb{C})$. Taking the limit we see by continuity and (8.8) that $[\ell](Q'') = [\ell N](P') = [\ell](Q')$ and, in particular, $\pi'(Q'') = \pi'(Q')$. Hence

$$Q'' = Q' + T \in Y'(\mathbb{C})$$

for some T that is either trivial or of finite prime order ℓ in $\mathcal{A}'_{\pi'(Q')}(\mathbb{C})$.

All ℓ^{2g} torsion sections $S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell]$ exist, so there is one σ with $\sigma(\pi'(Q')) = T$. Hence $Q' \in Y'(\mathbb{C}) \cap (Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma)(\mathbb{C})$.

To complete the proof it remains to verify $\sigma \neq 0$, i.e., $T \neq 0$. For this we assume the converse and derive a contradiction. For α large enough, the sequence member $\rho(P^{\alpha})$ will be close enough to $\rho(P') = P_i$ as to lie in $\tilde{\phi}_1(U')$. As Q'' = Q', the analog statement holds for the sequence of $\rho(Q^{\alpha})$, i.e., $\rho(Q^{\alpha}) \in \tilde{\phi}_2(U')$ for all sufficiently large α . For α sufficiently large, we may write $\rho(P^{\alpha}) = \tilde{\phi}_1(w^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha})$ and $\rho(Q^{\alpha}) = \tilde{\phi}_2(w^{\alpha}, y^{\alpha})$ with $(w^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha}, y^{\alpha}) \in U'$. The condition $[\ell N](P^{\alpha}) = [\ell](Q^{\alpha})$ implies $[\ell N](\rho(P^{\alpha})) = [\ell](\rho(Q^{\alpha}))$, and hence

$$\psi_N(w^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha}, w^{\alpha}) = N\phi_1(w^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha}) - \phi_2(w^{\alpha}, y^{\alpha}) \in \ell^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^{2g}.$$

By continuity, the sequence $\psi_N(w^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha}, w^{\alpha})$ is eventually constant. But ψ_N is injective on U' by Proposition 7.2 and hence $(w^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha}, w^{\alpha})$ is eventually constant. So $\rho(P^{\alpha})$ is eventually constant and, as ρ is finite, P^{α} attains only finitely many values. But this contradicts the fact that the P^{α} are pairwise distinct and concludes the proof of (iii).

8.3. Induction and isolated intersection points. Let $X, \ell, \mathcal{A}' \to S', X'$, and Z' be as in Lemma 8.2. The conclusion of Lemma 8.2 is already close to what we are aiming at in Proposition 8.1. However, we must first deal with the possibility that most P'_i from the lemma are not isolated in $X' \cap [\ell N]^{-1}([\ell](Z'))$; otherwise we could just take $Y_1 = [\ell]^{-1}([\ell](Z'))$. We will handle this in the current subsection by introducing additional auxiliary subvarieties derived from Z'.

Recall that D was introduced in Section 8.1 and ultimately comes from Proposition 6.1(iv). For brevity, we write $\mathcal{A}'[\ell](S')$ for the group of torsion sections $S' \to \mathcal{A}'[\ell]$ of order dividing ℓ . Recall also that X' is equidimensional of dimension dim X = g + 1 - n.

We now describe a procedure to construct a finite set Σ of auxiliary subvarieties. To be more precise we will construct for each $k \in \{0, ..., n\}$ a finite set Σ_k with the following properties:

- (i) if $Y' \in \Sigma_k$, then Y' is an irreducible closed subvariety of Z' with dim $Y' \le n-k$;
- (ii) if $Y' \in \Sigma_k$ and $t \in S'(\mathbb{C})$ such that $Y'_t \neq \emptyset$, then deg $Y'_t \leq D^{2^k}$;
- (iii) if $k \leq n 1$, then for all $Y' \in \Sigma_k$ and all $\sigma \in \mathcal{A}'[\ell](S')$ such that $Y' \not\subseteq Y' \operatorname{im} \sigma$, all irreducible components of $Y' \cap (Y' \operatorname{im} \sigma)$ are elements of Σ_{k+1} .

We define Σ_0 to be the set of irreducible components of Z'. Clearly, (i) is satisfied as Z' is equidimensional of dimension dim Z = n. Moreover, (ii) is satisfied due to (8.2).

We construct the remaining $\Sigma_1, \ldots, \Sigma_n$ and verify the properties inductively. Suppose $k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ and that Σ_k has already been constructed.

Consider the set of all $Y' \in \Sigma_k$ and $\sigma \in \mathcal{A}'[\ell](S')$ with $Y' \not\subseteq Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma$. There are only finitely many such pairs (Y', σ) , and we take as Σ_{k+1} all irreducible components of all $Y' \cap (Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma)$ that arise this way. This choice makes (iii) automatically hold true for all $k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$. If $Y'' \in \Sigma_{k+1}$ is such an irreducible component, then $Y'' \subsetneq Y' \subseteq Z'$ and $\dim Y'' \leq \dim Y' - 1 \leq n - (k+1)$ by (i) applied to k. This implies (i) for k+1.

We now verify (ii). If Y'' does not dominate S', then the image of Y'' in S' is a point t, hence $Y'' = Y''_t$. In this case Y''_t is an irreducible component of $Y'_t \cap (Y'_t - \sigma(t))$. By Bézout's Theorem and since deg $Y'_t = \deg(Y'_t - \sigma(t))$, we find deg $Y''_t \leq (\deg Y'_t)^2$. By (ii) applied to Y'_t this implies deg $Y''_t \leq (D^{2^k})^2 = D^{2^{k+1}}$. So (ii) holds for all Y'' that do not dominate S'. If Y'' dominates S', then for all but at most finitely many $t \in S'(\mathbb{C})$, all irreducible components of Y''_t are also irreducible components of $Y'_t \cap (Y'_t - \sigma(t))$. For such a t, we have, again by Bézout's Theorem, deg $Y''_t \leq (\deg Y'_t)^2 \leq D^{2^{k+1}}$, which implies (ii). For any remaining $t \in S'(\mathbb{C})$, observe that Y'' is flat over S' by [31, Prop. III.9.7] since dim S' = 1 and Y'' is irreducible. As cycles of \mathbb{P}^M , the fibers of Y'' are pairwise algebraically equivalent. So deg $Y''_t \leq D^{2^{k+1}}$ for all $t \in S(\mathbb{C})$; see Fulton [20, Chs. 10.1 and 10.2] on the conservation of numbers. More precisely, let $H_1, \ldots, H_{\dim Y''-1}$ be generic hyperplane sections of $\mathbb{P}^M \times S \to S$ such that $Y'' \cap \bigcap_{i=1}^{\dim Y''-1} H_i$ is flat of relatively dimension 0 over S, and then, using the notation of loc. cit., apply [20, Cor. 10.2.2] to $Y = \mathbb{P}^M$, T = S, $\alpha_1 = [Y'']$ and $\alpha_i = [H_{i-1}]$ for $i = 2, \ldots$, dim Y''. So we conclude (ii) for all fibers of Y'' regardless whether it dominates S' or not.

We define

$$\Sigma = \Sigma_0 \cup \cdots \cup \Sigma_n.$$

It is crucial for us that the following bound involving $Y' \in \Sigma$ is independent of ℓ :

(8.9)
$$\deg Y'_t \le D^{2^n} \le D^{2^{g+1}} \text{ for all } t \in S'(\mathbb{C}) \text{ with } Y'_t \neq \emptyset.$$

We are now ready to prove the main result of this section.

Proof of Proposition 8.1. Let $X, c, \ell, \mathcal{A}' \to S', X'$, and Z' be as in Lemma 8.2. We will prove that $\{[\ell]^{-1}([\ell](Y')) : Y' \in \Sigma\}$ is the desired set of closed subvarieties of \mathcal{A}' .

For $N \ge c^{-1}$, Lemma 8.2 produces $r \ge cN^{2 \dim X}$ pairs $(P'_1, Q'_1), \ldots, (P'_r, Q'_r) \in X'(\mathbb{C}) \times Z'(\mathbb{C})$ with the stated properties. Note that each Q'_i is a point of some element of Σ . Indeed, it is a point of Z' whose irreducible components are

in Σ_0 . To each $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ we assign an auxiliary variety in Σ_k containing Q'_i and with maximal k.

By the Pigeonhole Principle there exist k and an auxiliary variety $Y' \in \Sigma_k$ that is hit at least $r/\#\Sigma$ times. As $\#\Sigma$ is independent of N, we may assume, after adjusting c, that $r \geq cN^{2 \dim X}$ and $Q'_i \in Y'(\mathbb{C})$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.

Let $Y = [\ell]^{-1}([\ell](Y'))$. We prove that Y is what we want; i.e., $X' \cap [N]^{-1}(Y)$ contains at least $r \ge cN^{2 \dim X}$ isolated points.

Observe that P'_1, \ldots, P'_r are points of $X' \cap [N]^{-1}(Y)$. If they are all isolated in this intersection, then the proposition follows as they are pairwise distinct.

We assume that some P'_i is not isolated in $X' \cap [N]^{-1}(Y)$ and will arrive at a contradiction. By Lemma 8.2(iii) there exists a non-trivial $\sigma \in \mathcal{A}'[\ell](S')$ such that $Y' \cap (Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma)$ contains Q'_i . In particular, Y' cannot be a point.

Let us assume $Y' \not\subseteq Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma$ for now. Thus properties (i) and (iii) of Σ_k listed above imply $1 \leq \dim Y' \leq n-k$ and that Q'_i lies in an element of Σ_{k+1} . This contradicts the maximality of k. Hence $Y' \subseteq Y' - \operatorname{im} \sigma$ and, in particular, $Y'_t \subseteq Y'_t - \sigma(t)$ where t is the image of Q'_i under $\mathcal{A}' \to S'$.

If Y' dominates S', then Y'_t is equidimensional of dimension dim Y' - 1. If Y' does not dominate S', then $Y' = Y'_t$ is irreducible and, in particular, equidimensional. In both cases we find $Y'_t = Y'_t - \sigma(t)$ and the group generated by $\sigma(t)$ acts on the set of irreducible components of Y'_t .

The number of irreducible components of Y'_t is at most deg $Y'_t \leq D^{2^{g+1}}$ by (8.9). Furthermore, $\sigma(t)$ has precise order ℓ since $\sigma \neq 0$ and ℓ is prime. By (8.1) we have $\ell > D^{2^{g+1}}$. As ℓ is a prime, there is no non-trivial group homomorphism from $\mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}$ to the symmetric group on deg Y'_t symbols. We conclude that $\sigma(t) + W = W$ for all irreducible components W of Y'_t .

The stabilizer $\operatorname{Stab}(W)$ in \mathcal{A}'_t of any irreducible component of Y'_t of Wsatisfies deg $\operatorname{Stab}(W) \leq \deg(W)^{\dim W+1} \leq \deg(W)^{g+1}$ by [15, Lemme 2.1(ii)]. We obtain deg $W \leq \deg Y'_t \leq D^{2^{g+1}}$ again from (8.9). Putting these bounds together gives deg $\operatorname{Stab}(W) \leq D^{2^{g+1}(g+1)}$. But $\operatorname{Stab}(W)$ contains $\sigma(t)$, a point of order $\ell > \deg \operatorname{Stab}(W)$ by (8.1). In particular, $\operatorname{Stab}(W)$ has positive dimension. But this implies that Y'_t contains a positive dimensional coset. By property (i) in the construction of Σ we have $Y'_t \subseteq Z'_t$, and therefore Z'_t contains a coset of positive dimension. This contradicts Lemma 8.2(ii).

9. Height inequality in the total space

In this section, and if not stated otherwise, we work with the category of schemes over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and abbreviate $\mathbb{P}^m_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ by \mathbb{P}^m for integers $m \geq 1$. Let S be a smooth irreducible curve defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ be an abelian scheme over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. We will use the basic setup introduced in Section 2.2. In particular, $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ is an admissible immersion.

Our principal result is the following proposition. It makes use of the naive height given by (2.2).

PROPOSITION 9.1. Suppose X is an irreducible closed subvariety of A that dominates S and is not generically special. Then there exists a constant c > 0depending on X and the data introduced above with the following property. For any integer $N \ge c^{-1}$, there exist a non-empty Zariski open subset $U_N \subseteq X$ and a constant c'(N), both of which depend on N, such that

$$h([2^N]Q) \ge c4^N h(Q) - c'(N) \text{ for all } Q \in U_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

9.1. Polynomials defining multiplication-by-2 on \mathcal{A} . Let $\underline{X} = [X_0 : \cdots : X_M]$ denote the projective coordinates on \mathbb{P}^M , and let $\underline{Y} = [Y_0 : \cdots : Y_m]$ denote the projective coordinates on \mathbb{P}^m . Recall condition (ii) of the admissible setting $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$: the morphism [2] is represented globally on $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ by M + 1 bi-homogeneous polynomials, homogeneous of degree 4 in \underline{X} and homogeneous of a certain degree, say c_0 , in \underline{Y} . In other words, there exist $G_0, \ldots, G_M \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}[\underline{X}; \underline{Y}]$, each G_i being homogeneous of degree 4 on the variables \underline{X} and homogeneous of degree c_0 on the variables \underline{Y} , such that $[2](a) = ([G_0(a_1; a_2) : \cdots : G_M(a_1; a_2)]; a_2)$ for any $a \in \mathcal{A}(\mathbb{C})$. Here we write $a = (a_1; a_2)$ under $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$. Note that c_0 depends only on the immersion $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$.

9.2. An auxiliary rational map.

LEMMA 9.2. Let X and Y be locally closed algebraic subsets of \mathbb{P}^M , and suppose that X is irreducible. There exists $\delta \in \mathbb{N}$ that depends only on Y with the following property. Suppose $r \geq 1$ and $Q_1, \ldots, Q_r \in X(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \cap Y(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$. There exist homogeneous polynomials $\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_{\dim X} \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$ of degree δ , whose set of common zeros is denoted by $Z \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$, such that the rational map $\varphi = [\varphi_0 : \cdots : \varphi_{\dim X}] : \mathbb{P}^M \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}$ satisfies the following:

- (i) we have $\varphi(Y \setminus Z) = [1:0:\cdots:0]$ and $Q_i \notin Z(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ for all $i \in \{1,\ldots,r\}$;
- (ii) if C is an irreducible subvariety of X and $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ with $Q_i \in C(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ such that $\varphi|_{C\setminus Z}$ is constant, then $C \subseteq \overline{Y}$, where \overline{Y} is the Zariski closure of Y in \mathbb{P}^M .

Proof. The Zariski closure \overline{Y} of Y in \mathbb{P}^M is the zero set of finitely many homogeneous polynomials $g_1, \ldots, g_m \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$. We may assume that g_1, \ldots, g_m all have the same degree δ . Note that δ depends only on Y.

We may further fix $g_0 \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$, also of degree δ , such that $g_0(Q_i) \neq 0$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$. For example, we can take g_0 to be the

 δ -th power of a linear polynomial whose zero set avoids the Q_i 's. The set of common zeros Z_G of all g_i does not contain any Q_i and thus not all of Y.

We obtain a rational map $G = [g_0 : \cdots : g_m] : \mathbb{P}^M \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^m$. Observe that $G(Y \setminus Z_G) = [1 : 0 : \cdots : 0]$. Observe also that $G(X \setminus Z_G)$ is constructible in \mathbb{P}^m and its Zariski closure is of dimension at most dim X. This image also contains $[1 : 0 : \cdots : 0]$, so there exist homogeneous linear forms $l_1, \ldots, l_{\dim X} \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}[X_0, \ldots, X_m]$ such that

(9.1)
$$[1:0:\cdots:0]$$
 is isolated in $\mathscr{Z}(l_1,\ldots,l_{\dim X})\cap G(X\setminus Z_G).$

We set $l_0 = X_0$ and consider $[l_0 : \cdots : l_{\dim X}]$ as a rational map $\mathbb{P}^m \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}$. It is well defined at $[1:0:\cdots:0] \in \mathbb{P}^m(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ and maps this point to $[1:0:\cdots:0] \in \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

We set $\varphi_0 = l_0(g_0, \ldots, g_m), \ldots, \varphi_{\dim X} = l_{\dim X}(g_0, \ldots, g_m)$. Then φ_i is homogeneous of degree δ for all $i \in \{0, 1, \ldots, \dim X\}$. Let Z be the set of common zeros of the φ_i . Then $Q_i \notin Z(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ for all i by construction. The rational map $\varphi = [\varphi_0 : \cdots : \varphi_{\dim X}] : \mathbb{P}^M \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}$ is defined on Q_i and maps $Y \setminus Z$ to $[1:0:\cdots:0]$. We conclude (i).

Let C be as in claim (ii). Then $C \setminus Z$ is non-empty and is mapped to $[1:0:\cdots:0] \in \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ under φ . So $l_1,\ldots,l_{\dim X}$ vanish on $G(C \setminus Z)$. As the image $G(C \setminus Z) \subseteq G(C \setminus Z_G)$ contains $G(Q_i) = [1:0:\cdots:0] \in \mathbb{P}^m(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, we infer from (9.1) that the g_1,\ldots,g_m vanish on $C \setminus Z$. Hence $C \setminus Z \subseteq \overline{Y}$ and so $C \subseteq \overline{Y}$ since $C \setminus Z$ is Zariski dense in the irreducible C.

The map φ depends on the collection of Q_i in the previous proposition, but the degree δ does not. Also note that the Q_i 's are not necessarily pairwise distinct.

9.3. *Height change under scalar multiplication*. The following lemmas are proven by the second-named author in [28]. Lemma 9.4 is our main tool to deduce the desired height inequality (Proposition 9.1) from the "division intersection points" counting (Proposition 8.1).

LEMMA 9.3. Let X be an irreducible variety over \mathbb{C} , and let $\varphi \colon X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}_{\mathbb{C}}$ be a rational map. Then for any $Q \in \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}(\mathbb{C})$, the number of zerodimensional irreducible components of $\varphi^{-1}(Q)$ is at most deg φ . By convention we say that deg $\varphi = 0$ if φ is not dominant.

Proof. This is [28, Lemma 4.2]. The crucial point is that $\mathbb{P}^{\dim X}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is a normal variety.

LEMMA 9.4. Let $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$ be an irreducible closed subvariety over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ of positive dimension. Let $\varphi: X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X}$ be the rational map given by $\varphi = [\varphi_0 : \cdots : \varphi_{\dim X}]$, where φ_i are homogeneous polynomials with coefficients in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ that are not all identically zero on X and have equal degree at most $D \ge 1$.

Then there exist a constant $c = c(X, \varphi)$ and a Zariski open dense subset U of X such that $\varphi_0, \ldots, \varphi_{\dim X}$ have no common zeros on U and

$$h(\varphi(P)) \ge \frac{1}{4^{\dim X} \deg(X)} \frac{\deg \varphi}{D^{\dim X - 1}} h(P) - c$$

for any $P \in U(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Proof. This is [28, Lemma 4.3].

Now we are ready to prove Proposition 9.1. To X, recall that we associated in Proposition 8.1 a finite étale covering $S' \to S$. Set $X' = X \times_S S'$. Then X' is a closed subvariety of $\mathcal{A}' = \mathcal{A} \times_S S'$ and equidimensional of dimension dim X. Let $\rho: \mathcal{A}' \to \mathcal{A}$ denote the natural projection; it is finite and étale. Let \overline{S} be the Zariski closure of S in \mathbb{P}^m . We fix a smooth projective curve $\overline{S'}$ that contains S' as a Zariski open subset. Then $S' \to S$ extends to a morphism $\overline{S'} \to \overline{S}$. Some positive power of the pullback of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ under $\overline{S'} \to \overline{S} \to \mathbb{P}^m$ yields a closed immersion $\overline{S'} \to \mathbb{P}^{m'}$ for some $m' \in \mathbb{N}$. The pullback of the closed immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}^M \times S$ yields a closed immersion $\mathcal{A}' \to \mathbb{P}^M \times S'$ and thus an immersion $\mathcal{A}' \to \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^{m'}$.

We recall that [2] on $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$ is presented globally by bihomogeneous polynomials G_0, \ldots, G_M on \mathcal{A} described in Section 9.1. The morphism $\overline{S'} \to \overline{S} \to \mathbb{P}^m$ is defined Zariski locally on $\overline{S'}$ by an (m + 1)-tuple of homogeneous polynomials in m' + 1 variables. In other words, there is a finite open cover $\{S'_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n_1}$ of S' such that $\overline{S'} \to \overline{S}$ is represented on each S'_{α} by a tuple F_{α} of homogeneous polynomials of equal degree and no common zero on S'_{α} . Above each S'_{α} the morphism [2] is defined by $[2](a_1, a_2) = ([G_0(a_1, F_{\alpha}(a_2)) :$ $\cdots : G_M(a_1, F_{\alpha}(a_2))], a_2)$; here $a = (a_1, a_2) \in \mathcal{A}'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \times \mathbb{P}^{m'}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ lies above S'_{α} . Iterating [2] we find that for all integers $N \ge 1$ and above each S'_{α} the morphism $[2^N]$ is defined by bihomogeneous polynomials with degree in a_1 equal to 4^N and degree in a_2 at most $c_1(4^N - 1)/3$; here $c_1 = c_0 \deg F_{\alpha}$ and c_0 is as in Section 9.1. As for several constants below, c_1 may depend on \mathcal{A}' and X', but not on N.

Let us embed \mathcal{A}' in $\mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$ by composing the immersion $\mathcal{A}' \to \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^{m'}$ with the Segre morphism $\mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^{m'} \to \mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$. After locally inverting the Segre morphism and increasing n_1 , we obtain to an open cover $\{V_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n_1}$ of \mathcal{A}' , a refinement of $\{\mathcal{A}'|_{S_{\alpha}'}\}_{\alpha}$, such that $[2^N]|_{V_{\alpha}} : V_{\alpha} \to \mathcal{A}'$ is represented by a tuple of homogeneous polynomials of degree at most $c_2 4^N$ on each V_{α} . Here n_1 and c_2 are independent of N.

For any irreducible component X'_0 of X', the restriction $\rho|_{X'_0} \colon X'_0 \to X$ is dominant and dim $X'_0 = \dim X$. So Silverman's height inequality [47] applies; here we could have also used the Height Machine and Lemma 9.4. To prove the proposition, it suffices to find a constant c > 0 that is independent

of N with the following property. For any integer $N \ge c^{-1}$, there exist an irreducible component X'_0 of X', a non-empty Zariski open subset $U'_N \subseteq X'_0$, and a constant $c'(N, X'_0)$ such that $h([2^N]Q) \ge c4^N h(Q) - c'(N, X'_0)$ for all $Q \in U'_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Then we can take U_N to be a non-empty Zariski open subset of X with $U_N \subseteq \rho(U'_N)$ and $c'(N) = c'(N, X'_0)$.

Let $c_3 > 0$ be the *c* in Proposition 8.1, and let Y_1, \ldots, Y_R be the subvarieties of \mathcal{A}' therein. The constant c_3 and the varieties Y_1, \ldots, Y_R will depend on *X* and \mathcal{A} , but not on *N*. We work with 2^N instead of *N* in Proposition 8.1. So for any sufficiently large (but fixed) *N*, we let $P_1, \ldots, P_r \in X'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ with $r \geq c_3 4^{N \dim X}$ be pairwise distinct points as in Proposition 8.1 and $Y \in$ $\{Y_1, \ldots, Y_R\}$ such that $[2^N](P_i) \in Y(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ and P_i is isolated in $X' \cap [2^N]^{-1}(Y)$ for all *i*.

Suppose X' has n_2 irreducible components. Then n_2 is independent on N. We apply the Pigeonhole Principle to find $\alpha \in \{1, \ldots, n_1\}$ and some irreducible component of X' such that at least $c_3 4^{N \dim X}/(n_1 n_2)$ points P_i lie on V_{α} and this component. Replace X' by the said component, and replace c_3 by $c_3/(n_1 n_2)$. Now we may assume that there is a tuple of homogeneous polynomials of equal degree at most $c_2 4^N$ that define $[2^N]$ on a Zariski open subset of $X' \subseteq \mathcal{A}' \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$ that contains all the P_i 's.

We apply Lemma 9.2 to $[2^N](X') \subseteq \mathcal{A}' \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$, Y, and the points $[2^N](P_1), \ldots, [2^N](P_r)$. Thus we obtain a rational map $\varphi \colon \mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$ $\dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X'}$ defined at all $[2^N](P_i)$ that arises from homogeneous polynomials of equal degree δ_Y . Observe that δ_Y depends only on $Y \in \{Y_1, \ldots, Y_R\}$. Let $\delta = \max_{Y \in \{Y_1, \ldots, Y_R\}} \delta_Y$. Now that $\{Y_1, \ldots, Y_R\}$ is fixed as N varies, this does not endanger our application. There exists a constant $c_4(\varphi) \ge 0$ such that

(9.2)
$$h(\varphi(Q)) \le \delta h(Q) + c_4(\varphi)$$

for any Q outside the set of common zeros of the polynomials involved in φ ; see [33, Th. B.2.5.(a)]. To emphasize that φ may depend on N, we write $c_4(N)$ for $c_4(\varphi)$.

For N as before, we define $\varphi^{(N)} = \varphi \circ [2^N] \colon X' \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{\dim X'}$. Then by Lemma 9.2(i), each P_i is mapped via $\varphi^{(N)}$ to $[1:0:\cdots:0]$.

We would like to invoke Lemma 9.3 to bound deg $\varphi^{(N)}$ from below by r. To do this we must verify that each P_i is isolated in the fiber of $\varphi^{(N)}$ above $[1:0:\cdots:0]$. Let us suppose $C \subseteq X'$ is irreducible, contains P_i , and is inside a fiber of $\varphi^{(N)}$. Apart from finitely many points, $[2^N](C)$ is in a fiber of φ . Now we apply Lemma 9.2(ii) to conclude that $[2^N](C)$ is contained in the Zariski closure of Y inside $\mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$. But $Y \subseteq \mathcal{A}'$, so $C \subseteq [2^N]^{-1}(Y)$. Now Proposition 8.1 implies $C = \{P_i\}$.

This settles our claim that P_i is isolated in the fiber of $\varphi^{(N)}$, and we conclude deg $\varphi^{(N)} \ge r \ge c_3 4^{N \dim X}$.

Recall that there is a tuple of homogeneous polynomials of equal degree at most $c_2 4^N$ that define $[2^N]$ on a Zariski open subset of $X' \subseteq \mathcal{A}' \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$ that contains all P_i . So we can describe $\varphi^{(N)}$ on this subset of X' using polynomials of degree at most $c_2 \delta 4^N$. We apply Lemma 9.4 to $\varphi^{(N)}$ and the Zariski closure of X' in $\mathbb{P}^{(M+1)(m'+1)-1}$ to conclude that there exist a constant $c_5 > 0$, independent of N, and a constant $c_6(N) \ge 0$, which may depend on N, such that

(9.3)
$$h(\varphi^{(N)}(P)) \ge c_5 4^N h(P) - c_6(N)$$

for all $P \in U'_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, where U'_N is non-empty Zariski open in X' and may depend on N.

Now by letting $Q = [2^N]P$ and dividing by δ in (9.2), we get by (9.3) that

$$h([2^N]P) \ge \frac{c_5}{\delta} 4^N h(P) - c_7(N)$$

for all $P \in U'_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ after possibly shrinking U'_N . The proof is complete as c_5/δ is independent of N.

10. Néron–Tate height and height on the base

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 1.4 and the slightly stronger Theorem 1.4'. We will use the basic setup introduced in Section 2.2. Thus S is a smooth, irreducible curve over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ is an abelian scheme of relative dimension ≥ 1 , and $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{M}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \times \mathbb{P}^{m}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ is an admissible immersion. All varieties in this sections are defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$.

10.1. Auxiliary proposition. We prove the following proposition; recall that both heights below are defined as in Section 2.2.

PROPOSITION 10.1. Assume X is an irreducible closed subvariety of \mathcal{A} that is not generically special. Then there exist a non-empty Zariski open subset $U \subseteq X$ defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and a constant c > 0 depending only on \mathcal{A}/S , X, and the admissible immersion such that

(10.1)
$$h(P) \le c \left(1 + h_{\mathcal{A}}(P)\right)$$

for all $P \in U(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Proof. By the theorem of Silverman-Tate [46, Th. A], there exists a constant $c_1 \geq 0$ such that

(10.2)
$$|\tilde{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(P) - h(P)| \le c_1 (1 + h(\pi(P)))$$

for all $P \in \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$; observe that this proof also holds without the smoothness assumption when working with line bundles instead of Weil divisors.

To prove the proposition we may thus assume that π is non-constant on X. Therefore, X dominates S. Since X is not generically special, we can apply Proposition 9.1 to X. There exists a constant $c_2 > 0$, depending on X, A, and its admissible immersion, such that the following holds. For any integer $N \ge c_2^{-1}$, there exist a Zariski open dense subset $U_N \subseteq X$ and a constant $c_3(N) \ge 0$ such that

(10.3)
$$h([2^N]P) \ge c_2 4^N h(P) - c_3(N)$$

for all $P \in U_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$; we stress that U_N and $c_3(N) \ge 0$ may depend on N in addition to X, \mathcal{A} , and the immersion.

Now for any integer $N \ge c_2^{-1}$ and any $P \in U_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, we have

$$\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}([2^{N}](P)) \ge h([2^{N}](P)) - c_{1} \left(1 + h(\pi([2^{N}](P)))\right) \quad \text{by (10.2)}$$
$$= h([2^{N}](P)) - c_{1} \left(1 + h(\pi(P))\right)$$
$$\ge c_{2} 4^{N} h(P) - c_{3}(N) - c_{1} \left(1 + h(P)\right) \text{by (10.3)}$$
$$\text{and } h(\pi(P)) \le h(P) \text{ (2.2).}$$

But $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}([2^N]P) = 4^N \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(P)$, and dividing by 4^N yields

$$\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(P) \ge \left(c_2 - \frac{c_1}{4^N}\right)h(P) - \frac{c_3(N) + c_1}{4^N}$$

for all $N \ge c_2^{-1}$ and all $P \in U_N(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Recall that c_2 and c_3 are independent of N. We fix N to be the least integer such that $4^N \ge 2c_1/c_2$ and $N \ge c_2^{-1}$. Then

$$\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(P) \ge \frac{c_2}{2}h(P) - \frac{c_3(N) + c_1}{4^N}$$

for all $P \in U_N(\mathbb{Q})$. Since N is fixed now, the Zariski open dense subset U_N of X is also fixed. For an appropriate c > 0, depending on N, c_1, c_2 , and $c_3(N)$ we conclude (10.1).

10.2. Proof of Theorem 1.4. The first inequality in (1.1) follows from the definition of $h_{\mathcal{A},\iota}(\cdot)$ and since the absolute logarithmic Weil height is non-negative. To prove the second inequality we may assume, by properties of the Height Machine, that the two height functions appearing in the conclusion arise from an admissible immersion. We do an induction on dim X. When dim X = 0, this result is trivial. So let us assume dim $X \ge 1$.

If X is generically special, then $X^* = \emptyset$, and there is nothing to show. Otherwise we may apply Proposition 10.1, and so the inequality (10.1) holds for any $x \in (X \setminus Z)(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ for some proper closed subvariety Z of X defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let $Z = Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_r$ be the decomposition into irreducible components. Since dim $Z_i \leq \dim X - 1$, we may do induction on the dimension. By the induction hypothesis, the inequality (10.1) holds for all points in $Z_1^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \cup \cdots \cup Z_r^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Therefore the inequality (10.1) holds for all points in $(X \setminus Z)(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \cup Z_1^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \cup \cdots \cup Z_r^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \cup \cdots \cup Z_r^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

To prove that the inequality (10.1) holds for all points in $X^*(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, it suffices to verify

$$X^* \subseteq (X \setminus Z) \cup Z_1^* \cup \dots \cup Z_r^*.$$

But this is equivalent to the inclusion

(10.4)
$$X \setminus X^* \supseteq Z \cap (X \setminus Z_1^*) \cap \dots \cap (X \setminus Z_r^*) = (Z \setminus Z_1^*) \cap \dots \cap (Z \setminus Z_r^*).$$

Finally, a generically special subvariety of \mathcal{A} contained in some Z_i will be contained in X, and therefore (10.4) holds true.

Now the inequalities in Theorem 1.4 and Theorem 1.4' hold since, by (2.2), $h(\pi(P)) \leq h(P)$ for any $P \in \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

11. Application to the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture

In this section we prove Theorem 1.1 over the base field $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and abbreviate $\mathbb{P}^m_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ by \mathbb{P}^m . More general base fields can be handled using the Moriwaki height version of Theorem 1.4. More details are presented in Appendix A.

There exists a smooth, irreducible, quasi-projective curve S over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ whose function field is K. We fix an algebraic closure $\overline{K} \supseteq K$ of K. As in Section 2.2, we can find, up to removing finitely many points of S, an abelian scheme $\mathcal{A} \to S$ whose generic fiber is A from Theorem 1.1. We equip \mathcal{A} with an admissible immersion $\mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{P}^M \times \mathbb{P}^m$; cf. Section 2.2. In particular, we have an immersion $\iota: S \to \mathbb{P}^m$. For $s \in S(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, we set

(11.1)
$$h_S(s) = \frac{1}{\deg S} h(\iota(s)),$$

where h on the right-hand side is the height on $\mathbb{P}^m(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ and deg S is the degree of the Zariski closure of $\iota(S)$ in \mathbb{P}^m . We use the same normalization as in Silverman's work [46, §4], which will play an important role momentarily. In addition, we have the fiberwise Néron–Tate height $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}: \mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to [0, \infty)$; cf. (2.3). On A we also have a Néron–Tate height $h_{K,A}: A(\overline{K}) \to [0, \infty)$; cf. the end of Section 2.1.

Before we get to the nuts and bolts we state Silverman's Height Limit Theorem.

Recall that we can represent a point $x \in A(\overline{K}) = (A \otimes_K \overline{K})(\overline{K})$ using a section $S' \to \mathcal{A} \times_S S'$, where S' is a smooth, irreducible curve and $\rho \colon S' \to S$ is generically finite morphism. We write σ_x for the composition $S' \to \mathcal{A} \times_S S' \to \mathcal{A}$. We may evaluate $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}$ at $\sigma_x(t) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho(t)}$ for all $t \in S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

THEOREM 11.1 (Silverman). In the notation above we have

(11.2)
$$\lim_{\substack{t \in S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \\ h_S(\rho(t)) \to \infty}} \frac{h_{\mathcal{A}}(\sigma_x(t))}{h_S(\rho(t))} = \hat{h}_{K,A}(x).$$

Proof. This follows from [46, Th. B] via a base change argument as follows. The smoothness condition in this reference can be dropped when using line bundles instead of Weil divisors. Observe that Silverman's Theorem deals with the rational case $x \in A(K)$, which comes from a section $S \to \mathcal{A}$.

We have a morphism $\sigma_x \colon S' \to \mathcal{A}$, which composed with $\mathcal{A} \to S$ equals $\rho \colon S' \to S$. We write $K' = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}(S')$ and $A_{K'} = A \otimes_K K'$. Then $h_{S'} \colon S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to [0, \infty)$ is defined analog to h_S via an immersion of S' into some projective space and then normalizing as in (11.1). Of course, $h_{S'}$ depends on the choice of this immersion. But we have $h_S(\rho(t))/h_{S'}(t) \to \deg \rho = [K' : K]$ for $t \in S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ as $h_{S'}(\rho(t)) \to \infty$ by quasi-equivalent of heights on curves; cf. [7, Cor. 9.3.10] and our choice of normalization. Silverman's Theorem applied to $x \in A(K')$ implies $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(\sigma_x(t))/h_{S'}(t) \to \hat{h}_{K',A_{K'}}(x)$ as $h_S(t) \to \infty$ for $t \in S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Thus $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(\sigma_x(t))/h_S(\rho(t)) \to [K' : K]^{-1}\hat{h}_{K',A_{K'}}(x)$ for $t \in S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ and $h_S(\rho(t)) \to \infty$.

Now $\hat{h}_{K,A}$ and $\hat{h}_{K',A'}$ are related by $\hat{h}_{K',A_{K'}} = [K':K]\hat{h}_{K,A}$. This follows from the related statement for naive heights (cf. [14, Rem. 9.2]) and passing to the limit. The factor [K':K] cancels out with the same factor coming from quasi-equivalence of heights, and this yields (11.2).

Now we complete the proof of Theorem 1.1. It is enough to prove the theorem for the symmetric line bundle L attached to the closed immersion $A \to \mathbb{P}_K^M$.

Let \mathcal{X} be the Zariski closure of X inside $\mathcal{A} \supseteq A \supseteq X$. Then \mathcal{X} is irreducible and flat over S and X is the generic fiber of $\mathcal{X} \to S$.

Therefore by the assumption on X, the variety \mathcal{X} is not generically special. We will apply Proposition 10.1, so let \mathcal{U} be the Zariski open and dense subset of \mathcal{X} from this proposition.

We define $U = \mathcal{U} \cap X$, where the intersection is inside \mathcal{A} . This is a Zariski open and dense subset of X.

It suffices to prove that there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $x \in U(\overline{K})$ implies $\hat{h}_{K,A}(x) \geq \varepsilon$. Indeed, let $x \in U(K')$, where K' is a finite field extension of K contained in \overline{K} . As above, there are an irreducible, quasi-projective curve S' over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ with function field K', a generically finite morphism $\rho \colon S' \to S$, and a section $S' \to \mathcal{A} \times_S S'$ determined by x. We write $\sigma_x \colon S' \to \mathcal{A}$ for this section composed with $\mathcal{A} \times_S S' \to \mathcal{A}$.

The Zariski closure \mathcal{Y} in \mathcal{A} of the image of σ_x is an irreducible closed curve in \mathcal{A} . We have $\mathcal{Y} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ as $x \in X(K')$. Moreover, $\mathcal{Y} \cap \mathcal{U} \neq \emptyset$ since $x \in U(\overline{K})$. So $\mathcal{Y} \cap \mathcal{U}$ is a curve that differs from \mathcal{Y} in only finitely many points.

We fix a sequence $t_1, t_2, \ldots \in S'(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} h_S(\rho(t_n)) = \infty$. Silverman's Theorem implies

(11.3)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{h_{\mathcal{A}}(\sigma_x(t_n))}{h_S(\rho(t_n))} = \hat{h}_{K,A}(x).$$

For *n* large enough, we have $\sigma_x(t_n) \in \mathcal{U}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. By Proposition 10.1 there exists a constant c > 0, independent of x, σ_x , and *n*, such that

(11.4)
$$h(\sigma_x(t_n)) \le c\left(1 + \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A}}(\sigma_x(t_n))\right)$$
 for all large integers n .

By (2.2) the naive height $h(\sigma_x(t_n))$ is at least the height of $\iota(\pi(\sigma_x(t_n))) = \iota(\rho(t_n)) \in \mathbb{P}^m(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. By our choice (11.1), we have $h(\iota(\rho(t_n))) = \deg(S)h_S(\rho(t_n))$. We insert into (11.4) and divide by $h_S(\rho(t_n))$ to obtain

$$\deg S \le c \frac{1 + h_{\mathcal{A}}(\sigma_x(t_n))}{h_S(\rho(t_n))}$$

Finally, we pass to the limit $n \to \infty$ and recall (11.3) to conclude $\hat{h}_{K,A}(x) \ge \deg(S)/c$. The theorem follows as c and $\deg(S)$ are independent of x. \Box

Appendix A. Passing from $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ to any field of characteristic 0

In this appendix, we sketch a proof of Theorem 1.1 for any k algebraically closed of characteristic 0. We do this by proving a Moriwaki height version of Theorem 1.4, allowing $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ to be replaced by any algebraically closed field of finite transcendence degree over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Then we repeat the proof of Theorem 1.1 for $k = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ (Section 11) with this new height function to get the result when trdeg₀ $k < \infty$. Finally we use essential minimum to reduce to this case.

A.1. Moriwaki height. Here we review Moriwaki's height theory [39]. Let k_0 be a finitely generated field over \mathbb{Q} with $\operatorname{trdeg}(k_0/\mathbb{Q}) = d$. Moriwaki [39] developed the following height theory, generalizing the classical height theory for $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Fix a polarization $\overline{\mathbf{B}} = (B; \overline{H}_1, \dots, \overline{H}_d; \tau)$ of the field k_0 , i.e., a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over \mathbb{Z} , a collection of nef smooth hermitian line bundles $\overline{H}_1, \dots, \overline{H}_d$ on B, and an isomorphism of fields $\tau : \mathbb{Q}(B) \to k_0$. In most of the literature, including Moriwaki's paper, the isomorphism τ is omitted as it is fixed.

Let X be an irreducible projective variety over k_0 , and let L be a line bundle on X that is defined over k_0 . Moriwaki [39] defines a height function

(A.1)
$$h_{k_0,X,L}^{\mathbf{B}} \colon X(\overline{k_0}) \to \mathbb{R},$$

which is well defined modulo the set of bounded functions on $X(\overline{k_0})$. We will not repeat the exact definition of the Moriwaki height here, but will mention some properties. If the field k_0 is clear from the context, then we abbreviate $h_{k_0,X,L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ to $h_{X,L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$. Furthermore, if X is clear, then we abbreviate it to $h_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$.

Before going on, let us make the following remark. If k'_0 is a field with an isomorphism $\iota: k_0 \to k'_0$, then we have a polarization $\overline{\mathbf{B}}' = (B; \overline{H}_1, \ldots, \overline{H}_d; \iota \circ \tau)$ of k'_0 . For any algebraic closure $\overline{k'_0}$ of k'_0 , ι extends (non-uniquely) to an

isomorphism $\overline{k_0} \to \overline{k_0}'$, which we still denote by ι by abuse of notation. Then $h_{k'_0}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}'} \circ \iota = h_{k_0}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$.

As is pointed out by Moriwaki, if k_0 is a number field, then we recover the classical height functions. Just as the classical height, the Moriwaki height (A.1) satisfies the several properties.

PROPOSITION A.1 (Height Machine for the Moriwaki height). We keep the notation from above.

- (1) (Additivity) If M is another line bundle on X, then $h_{L\otimes M}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}} = h_{L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}} + h_{M}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$.
- (2) (Functoriality) Let $q: X \to Y$ be a quasi-finite morphism of projective varieties over k_0 , and let M be a line bundle on Y. Then

$$h_{q^*M}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}} = h_M^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}} \circ q.$$

- (3) (Boundedness) The function $h_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ is bounded below away from the base locus of L. In particular, $h_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ is bounded on $X(\overline{k_0})$ if $L = \mathcal{O}_X$.
- (4) (Northcott) If L is ample, and if $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$ is big, i.e., the \overline{H}_i 's are nef and big, then for any real numbers B, D, the set

$$\{P \in X(\overline{k_0}) : h_L^{\mathbf{B}}(P) \le B, \ [k_0(P) : k_0] \le D\}$$

is finite.

(5) (Algebraic Equivalence) If L and M are algebraically equivalent and L is ample, then

$$\lim_{h_{L}^{\mathbf{B}}(P)\to\infty}\frac{h_{M}^{\mathbf{B}}(P)}{h_{L}^{\mathbf{B}}(P)} = 1.$$

Proof. Part (1), (3) and (4) are proven by Moriwaki [39, Prop. 3.3.7(2-4)]. See [54, Prop. 2(iv)] for a proof of part (2). Note that the smoothness assumption is unnecessary and that q must be generically finite in [39, Prop. 1.3(2)]. Part (5) can be proven by a verbalized copy of [36, Ch. 4, Prop. 3.3 and Cor. 3.4] with the usual height function replaced by the Moriwaki height.

Proposition A.1 enables us to transfer results involving only properties of the height listed in the Height Machine to the Moriwaki height.

Next we turn to abelian varieties. Let A be an abelian variety over k_0 , and let L be a symmetric ample line bundle on A that is defined over k_0 . The limit

(A.2)
$$\hat{h}_{L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P) = \lim_{n \to \infty} 2^{-2n} h_{L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}([2^{n}]P) \text{ for all } P \in A(\overline{k_{0}})$$

exists and is independent of the choice of a representative of the height function. Then $\hat{h}_{L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ is called the *canonical* or *Néron–Tate height* on $A(\overline{k_0})$ attached of L with respect to $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$. If $k_0 = \mathbb{Q}$, then $\hat{h}_{L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ coincides with the usual Néron–Tate height over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Moriwaki [39, §3.4] proved that the Néron–Tate height $\hat{h}_{L}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ is quadratic, i.e.,

$$\hat{h}_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}([N]P) = N^2 \hat{h}_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P) \text{ for all } P \in A(\overline{k_0}).$$

The following proposition is proven by Moriwaki [39, Prop. 3.4.1]. **PROPOSITION A.2.**

- (i) We have $\hat{h}_{\underline{L}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P) \ge 0$ for all $P \in A(\overline{k_0})$. (ii) We have $\hat{h}_{\underline{L}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P) = 0$ for all $P \in A(\overline{k_0})_{\text{tor}}$.
- (iii) Assume $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$ is big; i.e., \overline{H}_i 's are nef and big. Then $\hat{h}_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P) = 0$ if and only if P is a torsion point.

A.2. Height inequality. Let k_0 be a finitely generated field extension of \mathbb{Q} . Let $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$ be a polarization of k_0 . Let $\overline{k_0}$ be an algebraic closure of k_0 .

Let S be a smooth irreducible quasi-projective curve over k_0 , and let $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to S$ be an abelian scheme over k_0 of relative dimension $g \geq 1$. We fix a smooth, irreducible projective curve \overline{S} over k_0 that contains S as a Zariski open subset. Let \mathcal{M} be an ample line bundle on \overline{S} defined over k_0 . Let \mathcal{L} be a symmetric relatively ample line bundle on \mathcal{A}/S defined over k_0 . Then we have the following analogue of Theorem 1.4.

THEOREM A.3. Let X be a closed irreducible subvariety of A over k_0 , and let X^* be as above Proposition 1.3 with $k = \overline{k_0}$. Then there exists c > 0depending only on $\overline{\mathbf{B}}, \mathcal{A}/S, X, \mathcal{L}$, and \mathcal{M} such that

$$h_{S,\mathcal{M}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P) \le c\left(1 + \hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(P)\right) \quad for \ all \quad P \in X^*(\overline{k_0}),$$

where $h_{S,\mathcal{M}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$ is the Moriwaki height defined by (A.1), and $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{L}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(x)$ is the Néron– Tate height $\hat{h}_{\mathcal{L}_{\pi(x)}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(x)$ defined by (A.2) on the abelian variety $\mathcal{A}_{\pi(x)}$.

If k_0 is a subfield of \mathbb{C} , then we can take $\overline{k_0} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$. In this case we can proceed as in the proof of Theorem 1.4, with the usual height over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ replaced by the Moriwaki height over k_0 . In fact, we only used $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ in the arguments involving heights, i.e. Proposition 9.1 (in fact, only Lemma 9.4 and below) and Proposition 10.1. (For this we need the Moriwaki height version of Silverman-Tate, which is [54, Th. 2].) Now Proposition A.1 provides us with the Height Machine for $h_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$, and hence all the arguments are still valid.

For general k_0 finitely generated over \mathbb{Q} , we have that k_0 is isomorphic to a subfield k'_0 of \mathbb{C} via some ι . Let $\overline{k'_0}$ be the algebraic closure of k'_0 in \mathbb{C} , then ι extends to some $\iota: \overline{k_0} \to \overline{k_0}'$. As explained in the paragraph below (A.1), we can get a polarization $\overline{\mathbf{B}}'$ of k'_0 such that $h_{k'_0}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}'} \circ \iota = h_{k_0}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$. So we are reduced to the case where k_0 is a subfield of \mathbb{C} and hence we are done.

A.3. Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture. Suppose that we are in the situation of Theorem 1.1. There exists a smooth, irreducible, quasi-projective curve S over k whose function field is K. We can find, up to removing finitely many

points of S, an abelian scheme $\mathcal{A} \to S$ whose generic fiber is A. We write \mathcal{X} for the Zariski closure of X under $A \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. Then \mathcal{X} is a closed irreducible subvariety of \mathcal{A} . We fix an algebraic closure $\overline{K} \supseteq K$ of K and a smooth, irreducible, projective curve \overline{S} that contains S as a Zariski open subset.

The symmetric ample line bundle L extends, up to removing finitely many points of S, to a symmetric relatively ample line bundle \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{A}/S . There exists a field k_0 finitely generated over \mathbb{Q} such that S, \mathcal{A}/S , \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{X} are defined over k_0 . We treat these objects as being over k_0 .

Let us take an ample line bundle on \overline{S} defined over k_0 . By [24, EGA IV₂, Prop. 2.8.5], \mathcal{X} is flat over S and $i^{-1}(\mathcal{X}) = X$, so X is the generic fiber of $\mathcal{X} \to S$. Therefore \mathcal{X} is not generically special by the assumption on X. Hence \mathcal{X}^* is Zariski open dense in \mathcal{X} by Proposition 1.3.

Take algebraic closures $\overline{k_0}$ in k and $k_0(S)$ in \overline{K} . From now on we see X, A, and L as defined over $k_0(S)$. We claim that there exists a constant $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

(A.3)
$$\{P \in X(\overline{k_0(S)}) : \hat{h}_{\overline{k_0}(S),A,L}(P) \le \varepsilon\}$$

is not Zariski dense in X.

We indicate how to modify the proof in Section 11 to prove this claim. The only changes are

- The Zariksi open subset \mathcal{U} of \mathcal{X} is replaced by \mathcal{X}^* .
- Instead of Proposition 10.1, we use the generalized version of Theorem 1.4. More precisely, let $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$ be a big polarization of k_0 ; i.e., the \overline{H}_i 's are nef and big. Apply Theorem A.3 to the subvariety $\mathcal{X} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ and $(k_0, \overline{\mathbf{B}})$ to obtain a constant c > 0.
- The polarization $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$ is big, so there exists a sequence of points $t_1, t_2, \ldots \in S(\overline{k_0})$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} h_{S,\mathcal{M}}^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}(t_n) = \infty$. Also the Moriwaki height version of Silverman's Theorem (11.2) still holds; see [54, Th. 3]. In fact, Proposition A.1 provides us with the Height Machine for $h_L^{\overline{\mathbf{B}}}$, and hence Silverman's original proof still works with the usual height function replaced by the Moriwaki height.

We are not done yet because we want to replace $\overline{k_0(S)}$ by \overline{K} in (A.3). Indeed, $K = k_0(S) \otimes_{k_0} k$ contains k, which is an arbitrary field of characteristic 0 and therefore possibly not finitely generated over \mathbb{Q} . To proceed we prove the following statement on the essential minimum:

$$\mu_{\text{ess}}(X) = \inf \left\{ \varepsilon > 0 : \{ P \in X(\overline{k_0(S)}) : \hat{h}_{\overline{k_0}(S), A, L}(P) \le \varepsilon \} \text{ is Zariski dense in } X \right\}.$$

The analog $\mu_{\text{ess}}(X_K)$ where $X_K = X \otimes_{k_0(S)} K$ is defined similarly but involves K.

CLAIM. If $\mu_{\text{ess}}(X_K) = 0$, then $\mu_{\text{ess}}(X) = 0$.

S. Zhang proved two inequalities relating the essential minima and the height of a subvariety of an abelian variety in the number field case [66]. To prove our claim we require Gubler's [26, Cor. 4.4] version of Zhang's inequalities for function fields. See §3 of [26] for the definition of the height of a subvariety of A.

More precisely, $\mu_{\text{ess}}(X) = 0$ if and only if $\hat{h}_{\overline{k_0}(S),A,L}(X) = 0$. Moreover, $\mu_{\text{ess}}(X_K) = 0$ if and only if $\hat{h}_{K,A_K,L}(X_K) = 0$. Finally, we sketch how to prove the equality $\hat{h}_{\overline{k_0}(S),A,L}(X) = \hat{h}_{K,A_K,L_K}(X_K)$, which settles our claim. The base change involves only an extension of the field of constants $k/\overline{k_0}$ under which the naive height on projective height remains unchanged. The height of a subvariety of some projective space can be defined as the height of a Chow form and is thus invariant under base change as well. Finally, the canonical height of a subvariety of A is a limit as in Tate's argument and is thus invariant under base change.

Appendix B. Proposition 1.3 for Higher Dimensional Base

In this appendix, we explain how to generalize Proposition 3.1 to higher dimensional base. We work under the frame of Section 3 except that we do not make any assumption on dim S. In other words, our setting is as follows.

Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Let S be a smooth irreducible quasi-projective variety over k, and fix an algebraic closure \overline{K} of K = k(S). Let A be an abelian variety over \overline{K} .

We start with the following proposition.

PROPOSITION B.1. Assume $A^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$. The order of any point in

(B.1)
$$\{P \in A(\overline{K})_{tor} : [K(P) : K] \le D\}$$

is bounded in terms of A and D only.

Proof. Fix an irreducible projective variety \overline{S} over k whose function field is K. We may take S as a Zariski open dense subset of \overline{S} such that A extends to an abelian scheme $\mathcal{A} \to S$; namely, the generic fiber of $\mathcal{A} \to S$ is A. We may furthermore shrink S such that S is smooth and that $\overline{S} \setminus S$ is purely of codimension 1. We denote by $i: A \to \mathcal{A}$ the natural morphism.

Any $P \in A(\overline{K})_{\text{tor}}$ defines a morphism $\sigma_P \colon \operatorname{Spec} \overline{K} \to A$. Suppose the order of P is N. Then the Zariski closure of $\operatorname{Im}(i \circ \sigma_P)$, which we denote by \mathcal{T} , is irreducible, dominates S and satisfies $[N]\mathcal{T} = 0$. So \mathcal{T} is an irreducible component of the kernel of $[N] \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ by comparing dimensions. In particular, $\mathcal{T} \hookrightarrow \ker[N]$ is an open and closed immersion. But $\ker[N] \to S$ is finite étale, and so is $\mathcal{T} \to S$. Thus $\mathcal{T} \to S$ is an étale covering of degree [K(P) : K]. In other words, any torsion point $P \in A(\overline{K})_{tor}$ yields an étale covering of S of degree [K(P) : K].

By Lemma B.2 below, the compositum F in \overline{K} of all such extensions K(P) of K of degree at most D is a finite field extension of K. For S a curve, we cited [53, Cor. 7.11]. In particular, $P \in A(F)$ for all P in (B.1).

Now $A^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$. So the Lang–Néron Theorem (cf. [35, Th. 1] or [14, Th. 7.1]) implies that A(F) is a finitely generated group. Thus [M](P) = 0 for some $M \in \mathbb{N}$ that is independent of P. Our claim follows.

LEMMA B.2. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, and let S be a smooth irreducible quasi-projective variety over k. Then for any integer D > 0, there are at most finitely many étale coverings of S of degree $\leq D$.

Proof. It suffices to prove that the étale fundamental group $\pi_1(S)$ is topologically finitely generated.

Let k_0 be an algebraically closed subfield of k that is of finite transcendence degree over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that S is defined over k_0 . Then we can fix an embedding $k_0 \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$. We write S_0 for the descent of S to k_0 , namely, $S = S_0 \otimes_{k_0} k$. We also write $S_{\mathbb{C}} = S_0 \otimes_{k_0} \mathbb{C}$ for the base change of S_0 to \mathbb{C} .

Let $s_0: \operatorname{Spec} k_0 \to S_0$ be a geometric point. Denote by $s: \operatorname{Spec} k \to S$, resp. $s_{\mathbb{C}}: \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C} \to S_{\mathbb{C}}$, the corresponding geometric points.

It is a classical result that the topological fundamental group $\pi_1(S_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathrm{an}}, s_{\mathbb{C}})$ is finitely generated. Hence by Riemann's Existence Theorem [25, Exposé XII, Th. 5.1], the étale fundamental group $\pi_1(S_{\mathbb{C}}, s_{\mathbb{C}})$ is topologically finitely generated. But then $\pi_1(S_{\mathbb{C}}, s_{\mathbb{C}}) \cong \pi_1(S_0, s_0)$ by [10, Cor. 6.5 and Rem. 6.8]. So $\pi_1(S_0, s_0)$ is topologically finitely generated. Then again by [10, Cor. 6.5 and Rem. 6.8], we have $\pi_1(S, s) \cong \pi_1(S_0, s_0)$. So $\pi_1(S, s)$ is topologically finitely generated.

Now we are ready to prove

PROPOSITION B.3. Let V_0 be an irreducible variety defined over k and $V = V_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}$. By abuse of notation we consider $V_0(k)$ as a subset of $V(\overline{K})$. Define $\Sigma = V_0(k) \times A_{\text{tor}} \subseteq V(\overline{K}) \times A(\overline{K})$.

Let Y be an irreducible closed subvariety of $V \times A$ such that $Y(\overline{K}) \cap \Sigma$ lies Zariski dense in Y. If $A^{\overline{K}/k} = 0$, then $Y = (W_0 \otimes_k \overline{K}) \times (t+B)$, where $W_0 \subseteq V_0$ is an irreducible closed subvariety, $t \in A(\overline{K})_{tor}$, and B is an abelian subvariety of A.

The only difference of this proposition from Proposition 3.1 is that we do not make any assumption on dim S. As we have pointed out, in the proof of Proposition 3.1 the only place where we used the assumption dim S = 1 is to

prove the statement involving (3.2). But for S of arbitrary dimension, this follows from Proposition B.1.

Appendix C. Hyperbolic hypersurfaces of abelian varieties

Suppose F is an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero. For each integer $d \geq 0$, we let $F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]_d$ be the vector space of homogeneous polynomials of degree d in $F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$ together with 0. In this section we identify $F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]_d$ with $\mathbb{A}^{\binom{M+d}{M}}(F)$, where we abbreviate $\mathbb{A}^M = \mathbb{A}_F^M$ and $\mathbb{P}^M = \mathbb{P}_F^M$.

Brotbek's deep result [9] implies that a generic sufficiently ample hypersurface in a smooth projective variety over \mathbb{C} is hyperbolic. In the very particular case of an abelian variety we give an independent proof that involves an explicit bound on the degree. Recall that an irreducible subvariety of an abelian variety is hyperbolic if and only if it does not contain a coset of positive dimension by the Bloch–Ochiai Theorem. The main results of this paper do not depend on the Bloch–Ochiai Theorem.

PROPOSITION C.1. Let A be an abelian variety over F of dimension $g \ge 1$ with $A \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$, and suppose $d \ge g-1$. There exists a Zariski open and dense subset $U \subseteq \mathbb{A}^{\binom{M+d}{M}}$, whose complement in $\mathbb{A}^{\binom{M+d}{M}}$ has codimension at least d+2-g, such that if $f \in U(F)$, then $A \cap \mathscr{Z}(f)$ does not contain any positive dimensional coset.

A direct corollary of this proposition is the following statement. Let L be a very ample line bundle on A giving rise to a projectively normal, closed immersion $A \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^M$, and say $P \in A(F)$. Then the hypersurface defined by a generic choice of a section in $H^0(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}(d))$ vanishing at P is hyperbolic for $d \ge g$.

Suppose V is an irreducible, closed subvariety of \mathbb{P}^M with ideal $I \subseteq F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]$. We write $I_d = I \cap F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]_d$. Then $F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]_d/I_d$ is a finite dimensional F-vector space, and the Hilbert function of V is defined as

$$\mathscr{H}_V(d) = \dim(F[X_0, \dots, X_M]_d/I_d)$$

for all $d \geq 0$.

Lower bounds for $\mathscr{H}_V(d)$ were obtained by Nesterenko, Chardin, Sombra, and others. We only require a very basic inequality.

Let $r = \dim V \ge 0$. After permuting coordinates, which does not affect the problem, we suppose that $X_0 \notin I$ and that $X_1/X_0, \ldots, X_r/X_0$ are algebraically independent elements when taken as in the function field of V. It follows that the composition

$$F[X_0, \dots, X_r]_d \xrightarrow{\text{inclusion}} F[X_0, \dots, X_M]_d \to F[X_0, \dots, X_M]_d / I_d$$

is injective. Therefore,

$$\mathscr{H}_V(d) \ge \dim F[X_0, \dots, X_r]_d = \binom{r+d}{r}$$

for all $d \ge 0$.

We assume $r \ge 1$ is an integer. By basic properties of the binomial coefficients, we have $\binom{r+d}{r} \ge \binom{1+d}{1} = d+1$. So

(C.1)
$$\mathscr{H}_{V}(d) \ge \begin{pmatrix} \dim V + d \\ \dim V \end{pmatrix} \ge d+1$$

if dim $V \ge 1$.

We begin with a preliminary lemma that involves cosets in A with fixed stabilizer.

LEMMA C.2. Let M, A, and g be as in the proposition above with $g \ge 2$. Let B be an abelian subvariety of A of positive dimension such that $d \ge \max\{1, g - \dim B\}$. There exists a Zariski open and dense subset $U \subseteq \mathbb{A}^{\binom{M+d}{M}}$, whose complement in $\mathbb{A}^{\binom{M+d}{M}}$ has codimension at least $d + 1 + \dim B - g$, such that if $f \in U(F)$, then $A \cap \mathscr{Z}(f)$ does not contain any translate of B.

Proof. Say $N = \binom{M+d}{M} \ge M+d \ge g \ge 2$. For the proof, we abuse notation and consider elements in $\mathbb{P}^{N-1}(F)$ as classes of homogeneous polynomials in $F[X_0, \ldots, X_M] \setminus \{0\}$ of degree d up-to scalar multiplication. So f(P) = 0 is a well-defined statement for $f \in \mathbb{P}^{N-1}(F)$ and $P \in \mathbb{P}^M(F)$, and the incidence set

$$\{(f,P) \in \mathbb{P}^{N-1}(F) \times A(F) : f(P) = 0\}$$

determines a Zariski closed subset $Z \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \times A$.

We consider the two projections $\pi: \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \times A \to \mathbb{P}^{N-1}$ and $\rho: \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \times A \to A$. Then $\rho|_Z: Z \to A$ is surjective and each fiber of $\rho|_Z$ is linear variety of dimension N-2.

Say *B* is an abelian subvariety of *A* with dim $B \ge 1$. Let $\varphi \colon A \to A/B$ denote the quotient map. We write $\varphi = (\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{P}^{N-1}}, \varphi) \colon \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \times A \to \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \times (A/B)$; this morphism sends (f, P) to $(f, \varphi(P))$. The fibers of φ have dimension dim *B*, and so

(C.2)
$$\{ (f,P) \in Z(F) : \dim_{(f,P)} \varphi|_Z^{-1}(\varphi(f,P)) \ge \dim B \}$$
$$= \{ (f,P) \in Z(F) : P + B \subseteq \mathscr{Z}(f) \}$$

defines a Zariski closed subset Z_{φ} of Z. If Z_{φ} is empty, then the lemma follows with $U = \mathbb{A}^N \setminus \{0\}$. Otherwise, let W_1, \ldots, W_r be the irreducible components of Z_{φ} .

If $P \in A(F)$, then the fiber of $\rho|_{Z_{\varphi}}$ above P is empty or has dimension $\dim I(P+B)_d - 1 = \dim F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]_d - 1 - \mathscr{H}_{P+B}(d) \leq N - 1 - (d+1),$
where we used (C.1). So any non-empty fiber of $\rho|_{W_i}$ has dimension at most N - 1 - (d + 1), and by the Fiber Dimension Theorem we conclude

(C.3)
$$\dim W_i \le N - 1 - (d+1) + \dim \rho(W_i) \le N - d + g - 2$$

for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ as dim $\rho(W_i) \le \dim A \le g$.

If $(f, P) \in W_i(F)$, then $\{f\} \times (P+B) \subseteq Z_{\varphi}$. So if (f, P) is not contained in any W_j with $i \neq j$, then $\{f\} \times (P+B) \subseteq W_i$ by the irreducibility of P+B. We conclude that a general fiber of $\pi|_{W_i}$ has dimension at least dim B. By the Fiber Dimension Theorem we find that dim $W_i \geq \dim B + \dim \pi(W_i)$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$; note that $\pi(W_i)$ is Zariski closed in \mathbb{P}^{N-1} .

Together with (C.3) we conclude dim $\pi(Z_{\varphi}) = \max_{1 \le i \le r} \dim \pi(W_i) \le N - d + g - 2 - \dim B$ and thus

$$\operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{P}^{N-1}}\pi(Z_{\varphi}) \ge d+1-g+\dim B.$$

As $\pi(Z_{\varphi})$ is Zariski closed in \mathbb{P}^{N-1} , we conclude that $U' = \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \setminus \pi(Z_{\varphi})$ is Zariski open and dense in \mathbb{P}^{N-1} if $d \geq g - \dim B$. If $f \in U'(F)$, then there is no $P \in A(F)$ with $P + B \subseteq \mathscr{Z}(f)$. Otherwise we have, in particular, f(P) = 0and so $(f, P) \in Z(F)$, which entails the contradiction $(f, P) \in Z_{\varphi}(F)$ by (C.2). The lemma follows if we take U to be the preimage of U' under the cone map $\mathbb{A}^N \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{P}^{N-1}$.

Proof of Proposition C.1. If g = 1, then $A \cap \mathscr{Z}(f)$ is finite for a generic f that is homogeneous and of degree d. The proposition is clearly true in this case.

Now say $g \ge 2$. If $f \in F[X_0, \ldots, X_M]_d$, then a coset contained in $\mathscr{Z}(f) \cap A$ is already contained in some irreducible component X of $\mathscr{Z}(f) \cap A$. By Bézout's Theorem, deg X is bounded solely in terms of d and A; here deg(·) denotes the usual degree as a subvariety of \mathbb{P}^M .

By a theorem of Bogomolov, [6, Th. 1], the maximal cosets contained in X are translates of abelian subvarieties whose degree are bounded in terms of deg X, A, and the chosen polarization only. Observe that the proof of Bogomolov's Theorem works for algebraically closed fields in characteristic zero. As A contains only finitely many abelian subvarieties of given degree, Bogomolov produces a finite set of abelian subvarieties that depends only on deg X and $A \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$, thus only on d and $A \subseteq \mathbb{P}^M$.

For any abelian subvariety $B \subseteq A$ of positive dimension that arises in this set, we write U_B for the Zariski open and dense set produced by Lemma C.2. To rule out that X contains a coset of positive dimension, it suffices to take $f \in U(F)$ where $U = \bigcap_B U_B$ is the intersection over the finite set from Bogomolov's Theorem.

ZIYANG GAO and PHILIPP HABEGGER

References

- [1] P. ANDRÉ, Y. CORVAJA and U. ZANNIER, The Betti map associated to a section of an abelian scheme (with an appendix by Z. Gao), 2018. arXiv 1802.03204.
- J. Ax, On Schanuel's conjectures, Ann. of Math. (2) 93 (1971), 252–268.
 MR 0277482. Zbl 0232.10026. https://doi.org/10.2307/1970774.
- J. Ax, Some topics in differential algebraic geometry. I. Analytic subgroups of algebraic groups, Amer. J. Math. 94 (1972), 1195–1204. MR 0435088. Zbl 0258. 14014. https://doi.org/10.2307/2373569.
- [4] I. BEN-YAACOV and E. HRUSHOVSKI, A logic for global fields, 2016.
- C. BIRKENHAKE and H. LANGE, Complex Abelian Varieties, second ed., Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 302, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. MR 2062673.
 Zbl 1056.14063. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-06307-1.
- [6] F. A. BOGOMOLOV, Points of finite order on an Abelian variety, Izv. Math. 17 (1981), 55–72. Zbl 0466.14015. https://doi.org/10.1070/ IM1981v017n01ABEH001329.
- [7] E. BOMBIERI and W. GUBLER, *Heights in Diophantine Geometry, New Math.* Monogr. 4, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006. MR 2216774. Zbl 1115.11034. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511542879.
- [8] S. BOSCH, W. LÜTKEBOHMERT, and M. RAYNAUD, Néron Models, Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. 21, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990. MR 1045822. Zbl 0705.14001. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-51438-8.
- D. BROTBEK, On the hyperbolicity of general hypersurfaces, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 126 (2017), 1–34. MR 3735863. Zbl 06827883. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10240-017-0090-3.
- [10] A. CADORET, Galois categories, in Arithmetic and Geometry around Galois Theory, Progr. Math. 304, Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel, 2013, pp. 171–246. MR 3408165. Zbl 1273.14001.
- [11] S. CANTAT, Z. GAO, P. HABEGGER, and J. XIE, The geometric Bogomolov conjecture, 2018. arXiv 1809.00848.
- [12] J. W. S. CASSELS, An Introduction to the Geometry of Numbers, Classics in Math., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997, corrected reprint of the 1971 edition. MR 1434478. Zbl 0866.11041.
- [13] Z. CINKIR, Zhang's Conjecture and the Effective Bogomolov Conjecture over function fields, *Invent. Math.* 183 no. 3 (2011), 517–562. MR 2772087. Zbl 1285. 14029. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00222-010-0282-7.
- [14] B. CONRAD, Chow's K/k-image and K/k-trace, and the Lang-Néron theorem, Enseign. Math. (2) 52 no. 1-2 (2006), 37–108. MR 2255529. Zbl 1133.14028.
- [15] S. DAVID and M. HINDRY, Minoration de la hauteur de Néron-Tate sur les variétés abéliennes de type C. M, J. Reine Angew. Math. 529 (2000), 1–74. MR 1799933. Zbl 0993.11034. https://doi.org/10.1515/crll.2000.096.
- [16] P. DELIGNE, Théorie de Hodge. II, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. no. 40 (1971), 5–57. MR 0498551. Zbl 0219.14007. Available at http://www.numdam. org/item?id=PMIHES_1971_40_5_0.

- [17] L. VAN DEN DRIES, Tame Topology and o-Minimal Structures, London Math. Soc. Lect. Note Ser. 248, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. MR 1633348.
 Zbl 0953.03045. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511525919.
- [18] X. W. C. FABER, The geometric Bogomolov conjecture for curves of small genus, *Experiment. Math.* 18 no. 3 (2009), 347–367. MR 2555704. Zbl 1186.11035. https://doi.org/10.1080/10586458.2009.10129049.
- [19] G. FALTINGS, Diophantine approximation on abelian varieties, Ann. of Math.
 (2) 133 no. 3 (1991), 549–576. MR 1109353. Zbl 0734.14007. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/2944319.
- [20] W. FULTON, Intersection Theory, second ed., Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. 2, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998. MR 1644323. Zbl 0885.14002. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4612-1700-8.
- [21] H. GRAUERT and R. REMMERT, Coherent Analytic Sheaves, Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 265, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984. MR 0755331. Zbl 0537.32001. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-69582-7.
- [22] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes, *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.* no. 8 (1961), 222. MR 0217084. Zbl 0153.22301. Available at http: //www.numdam.org/item/PMIHES_1967_32_5_0/.
- [23] A. GROTHENDIECK, Un théorème sur les homomorphismes de schémas abéliens, Invent. Math. 2 (1966), 59–78. MR 0217089. Zbl 0147.20302. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01403390.
- [24] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas IV, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. no. 32 (1967), 361. MR 0238860. Zbl 0153.22301. Available at http: //www.numdam.org/item/PMIHES_1967_32_5_0.
- [25] A. GROTHENDIECK, Revêtements Étales et Groupe Fondamental. Fasc. II: Exposés 6, 8 à 11, Sém. Géom. Alg. 1960/61, Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques, Paris, 1963. MR 0217088.
- [26] W. GUBLER, The Bogomolov conjecture for totally degenerate abelian varieties, *Invent. Math.* 169 no. 2 (2007), 377–400. MR 2318560. Zbl 1153.14029. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00222-007-0049-y.
- [27] W. GUBLER, Tropical varieties for non-Archimedean analytic spaces, *Invent. Math.* 169 no. 2 (2007), 321–376. MR 2318559. Zbl 1153.14036. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00222-007-0048-z.
- [28] P. HABEGGER, Special points on fibered powers of elliptic surfaces, J. Reine Angew. Math. 685 (2013), 143–179. MR 3181568. Zbl 1318.14023.
- [29] P. HABEGGER, Torsion points on elliptic curves in Weierstrass form, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 12 no. 3 (2013), 687–715. MR 3137460. Zbl 1281. 14026.
- [30] P. HABEGGER and J. PILA, o-minimality and certain atypical intersections, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 49 no. 4 (2016), 813–858. MR 3552014. Zbl 1364.
 11110. https://doi.org/10.24033/asens.2296.

- [31] R. HARTSHORNE, Algebraic Geometry, 52, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977, Grad. Texts in Math. MR 0463157. Zbl 0367.14001.
- [32] M. HINDRY, Autour d'une conjecture de Serge Lang, Invent. Math. 94 no. 3 (1988), 575–603. MR 0969244. Zbl 0638.14026. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01394276.
- M. HINDRY and J. H. SILVERMAN, Diophantine Geometry. An Introduction, Grad. Texts in Math. 201, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000. MR 1745599.
 Zbl 0948.11023. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-1210-2.
- [34] E. HRUSHOVSKI, The Manin-Mumford conjecture and the model theory of difference fields, Ann. Pure Appl. Logic 112 no. 1 (2001), 43–115. MR 1854232.
 Zbl 0987.03036. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-0072(01)00096-3.
- [35] S. LANG and A. NÉRON, Rational points of abelian varieties over function fields, *Amer. J. Math.* 81 (1959), 95–118. MR 0102520. Zbl 0099.16103. https://doi. org/10.2307/2372851.
- [36] S. LANG, Fundamentals of Diophantine Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983. MR 0715605. Zbl 0528.14013. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-1810-2.
- [37] D. MASSER and U. ZANNIER, Torsion anomalous points and families of elliptic curves, Amer. J. Math. 132 no. 6 (2010), 1677–1691. MR 2766181. Zbl 1225. 11078. Available at https://muse.jhu.edu/article/404145/pdf.
- [38] A. MORIWAKI, Relative Bogomolov's inequality and the cone of positive divisors on the moduli space of stable curves, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 11 no. 3 (1998), 569–600. MR 1488349. Zbl 0893.14004. https://doi.org/10.1090/ S0894-0347-98-00261-6.
- [39] A. MORIWAKI, Arithmetic height functions over finitely generated fields, *Invent. Math.* 140 no. 1 (2000), 101–142. MR 1779799. Zbl 1007.11042. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002220050358.
- [40] J. PILA and A. J. WILKIE, The rational points of a definable set, *Duke Math. J.* **133** no. 3 (2006), 591–616. MR 2228464. Zbl 1217.11066. https://doi.org/10. 1215/S0012-7094-06-13336-7.
- [41] J. PILA and U. ZANNIER, Rational points in periodic analytic sets and the Manin-Mumford conjecture, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 19 no. 2 (2008), 149–162. MR 2411018. Zbl 1164.11029. https://doi.org/10.4171/RLM/ 514.
- [42] R. PINK, A common generalization of the conjectures of André-Oort, Manin-Mumford, and Mordell-Lang, 2005, preprint, 13pp.
- [43] M. RAYNAUD, Sous-variétés d'une variété abélienne et points de torsion, in Arithmetic and Geometry, Vol. I, Progr. Math. 35, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1983, pp. 327–352. MR 0717600. Zbl 0581.14031.
- [44] M. RAYNAUD, Faisceaux Amples sur les Schémas en Groupes et les Espaces Homogènes, Lecture Notes in Math. 119, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1970. MR 0260758. Zbl 0195.22701. https://doi.org/10.1007/BFb0059504.
- [45] T. SCANLON, Automatic uniformity, Int. Math. Res. Not. no. 62 (2004), 3317–3326. MR 2097105. Zbl 1069.03027. https://doi.org/10.1155/ S1073792804140816.

- [46] J. H. SILVERMAN, Heights and the specialization map for families of abelian varieties, J. Reine Angew. Math. 342 (1983), 197–211. MR 0703488. Zbl 0505. 14035. https://doi.org/10.1515/crll.1983.342.197.
- [47] J. H. SILVERMAN, Height estimates for equidimensional dominant rational maps, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 26 no. 2 (2011), 145–163. MR 2816785. Zbl 1311. 11057.
- [48] J. TITS, Free subgroups in linear groups, J. Algebra 20 (1972), 250-270.
 MR 0286898. Zbl 0236.20032. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-8693(72)90058-0.
- [49] E. ULLMO, Positivité et discrétion des points algébriques des courbes, Ann. of Math. (2) 147 no. 1 (1998), 167–179. MR 1609514. Zbl 0934.14013. https://doi. org/10.2307/120987.
- [50] E. ULLMO and A. YAFAEV, Hyperbolic Ax-Lindemann theorem in the cocompact case, *Duke Math. J.* **163** no. 2 (2014), 433–463. MR **3161318**. Zbl **1375.14096**. https://doi.org/10.1215/00127094-2410546.
- [51] C. VOISIN, Hodge Theory and Complex Algebraic Geometry. I, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 76, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002, translated from the French original by Leila Schneps. MR 1967689. Zbl 1005.14002. https://doi. org/10.1017/CBO9780511615344.
- [52] C. VOISIN, Hodge Theory and Complex Algebraic Geometry. II, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 77, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003, translated from the French by Leila Schneps. MR 1997577. Zbl 1032.14002. https://doi.org/10. 1017/CBO9780511615177.
- [53] H. VÖLKLEIN, Groups as Galois Groups. An Introduction, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 53, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996. MR 1405612. Zbl 0868.
 12003. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511471117.
- [54] R. WAZIR, On the specialization theorem for abelian varieties, Bull. London Math. Soc. 38 no. 4 (2006), 555–560. MR 2250746. Zbl 1138.14029. https://doi. org/10.1112/S0024609306018261.
- [55] A. WEIL, Sur les théorèmes de de Rham, Comment. Math. Helv. 26 (1952), 119–145. MR 0050280. Zbl 0047.16702. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02564296.
- [56] H. WHITNEY, Complex Analytic Varieties, Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, MA, 1972. MR 0387634. Zbl 0265.32008.
- [57] K. YAMAKI, Geometric Bogomolov's conjecture for curves of genus 3 over function fields, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 42 no. 1 (2002), 57–81. MR 1932737. Zbl 1045.
 11047. https://doi.org/10.1215/kjm/1250284711.
- [58] K. YAMAKI, Effective calculation of the geometric height and the Bogomolov conjecture for hyperelliptic curves over function fields, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 48 no. 2 (2008), 401–443. MR 2436745. Zbl 1248.11046. https://doi.org/10.1215/ kjm/1250271420.
- [59] K. YAMAKI, Geometric Bogomolov conjecture for abelian varieties and some results for those with some degeneration (with an appendix by Walter Gubler: the minimal dimension of a canonical measure), *Manuscripta Math.* 142 no. 3-4 (2013), 273–306. MR 3117164. Zbl 1281.14018. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00229-012-0599-1.

- [60] K. YAMAKI, Geometric Bogomolov conjecture for nowhere degenerate abelian varieties of dimension 5 with trivial trace, *Math. Res. Lett.* 24 no. 5 (2017), 1555–1563. MR 3747175. Zbl 1401.14137. https://doi.org/10.4310/MRL.2017. v24.n5.a10.
- [61] K. YAMAKI, Non-density of small points on divisors on abelian varieties and the Bogomolov conjecture, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 30 no. 4 (2017), 1133–1163. MR 3671938. Zbl 1387.14076. https://doi.org/10.1090/jams/874.
- [62] K. YAMAKI, Trace of abelian varieties over function fields and the geometric Bogomolov conjecture, J. Reine Angew. Math. 741 (2018), 133–159. MR 3836145.
 Zbl 06916484. https://doi.org/10.1515/crelle-2015-0086.
- [63] U. ZANNIER, Some Problems of Unlikely Intersections in Arithmetic and Geometry, Ann. of Math. Stud. 181, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2012, with appendixes by David Masser. MR 2918151. Zbl 1246.14003. https: //doi.org/10.1515/9781400842711.
- [64] Y. G. ZARHIN, Isogeny classes of abelian varieties over function fields, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 96 no. 2 (2008), 312–334. MR 2396122. Zbl 1145.14034. https://doi.org/10.1112/plms/pdm049.
- [65] S.-W. ZHANG, Equidistribution of small points on abelian varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) 147 no. 1 (1998), 159–165. MR 1609518. Zbl 0991.11034. https://doi. org/10.2307/120986.
- [66] S. ZHANG, Positive line bundles on arithmetic varieties, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 no. 1 (1995), 187–221. MR 1254133. Zbl 0861.14018. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 2152886.

(Received: January 19, 2018) (Revised: October 10, 2018)

CNRS, IMJ-PRG, 4 PLACE DE JUSSIEU, 75005 PARIS, FRANCE; DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, PRINCETON UNIVERSITY, PRINCETON, NJ 08544, USA *E-mail*: ziyang.gao@imj-prg.fr

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, UNIVERSITY OF BASEL, SPIEGELGASSE 1, 4051 BASEL, SWITZERLAND *E-mail*: philipp.habegger@unibas.ch